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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG
KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after
due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-
sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be
more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market
in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its
accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (‘Directors” and each a “Director’) of
CircuTech International Holdings Limited (the “Company’) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”). The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are
no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or
this report misleading.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Han Chun-Wei (Chief Financial Officer) (retired on 17 May 2024)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chang Chuan-Wang (Chairman)

Mr. Hsia Ke-Ping (appointed on 17 May 2024)
Mr. Lin Weiru (appointed on 11 December 2024)
Mr. Kao Chao Yang (retired on 17 May 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter
Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling
Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling (Chairman)
Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter
Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter (Chairman)
Mr. Chang Chuan-Wang

Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan

Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling

Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben (Chairman)
Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan

Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter

Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tam Hoi Kwong (appointed on 4 October 2024)
Ms. Fung Po Ting (resigned on 4 October 2024)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan
Mr. Tam Hoi Kwong
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of
CircuTech International Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”), along with its subsidiaries, | am pleased
to present the annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024, to our shareholders (the “Shareholder(s)”).

In 2024, the Group achieved impressive financial results, reporting revenue
of approximately HK$351.2 million, a significant increase from approximately
HK$152.1 million in 2023. Our operating profit rose to approximately HK$11.2
million, compared to HK$5.7 million in the prior year, reflecting a remarkable
increase of around 96.5%.

Throughout 2024, we dedicated additional resources to support our business
growth. This included increasing our working capital for sales and distribution
activities and expanding our repair and service support team to meet the rising
demands of our customers. These strategic initiatives significantly enhanced
our growth and overall financial performance while diversifying our business
segments to mitigate the risks associated with over-reliance on a single area.

Moreover, we have noticed a growing global trend towards sustainability, with
consumers increasingly opting for refurbished IT products and seeking repair
options to extend product lifecycles. This shift in consumer behavior aligns
perfectly with our commitment to sustainability and reducing electronic waste.
By providing refurbished IT products as a viable alternative, we are actively
contributing to the reduction of e-waste and promoting a circular economy.

The Group continues to actively explore business opportunities in providing
after-sales services for third-party IT products, including computers,
communications equipment, and consumer electronics, to manage electronic
waste in an environmentally responsible manner. This expansion not only
diversifies our revenue streams but also contributes to the sustainable
management of electronic waste. We believe that the trade of
Technology” will remain a significant topic in the near future, and we aim to
position the Group as a leader in this emerging market.

“Green

Looking ahead, we are optimistic about the opportunities and challenges
that await us. Our commitment to sustainability and the circular economy will
remain central to our operations as we strive to create long-term value for our
Shareholders.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my heartfelt gratitude
to our Shareholders and business partners for their trust and support. | would
also like to commend the managers at all levels and the dedicated staff of the
Company for their invaluable contributions and hard work over the years.

Mr. Chang Chuan-Wang
Chairman
Hong Kong, 12 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group operates in two business segments, namely, the sales and
distribution of IT products and the provision of repairs and other service
support of IT products.

Sales and distribution of IT products

The core business segment of the Group centers on the sales and distribution
of IT products, specifically renowned third-party brands. The Group’s business
operations primarily focus on distributing used and refurbished IT units,
facilitated through our extensive wholesale network covering North America,
Asia and Australia.

In 2024, the global market for secondary IT products experienced a notable
surge in both demand and supply. Increasingly, consumers are gravitating
towards refurbished IT products due to their affordability and environmental
benefits. The growing emphasis on the circular economy and sustainability has
raised awareness of refurbished products, allowing consumers to recognise the
advantages of pre-owned devices.

The Group is well-positioned to compete effectively against other global
distributors, attributed to several key advantages. These include the expertise
and proven experience of our management team, along with our association
with Foxconn Technology Group, a globally respected entity known for its
robust relationships with various international brands.

Throughout the past year, the Group has committed to the continuous
evaluation and reassessment of our business model to enhance efficiency and
boost the profit. We remain vigilant in monitoring market conditions, allowing us
to make timely adjustments to our strategies and operations as necessary.

6 MESEBZERAMRALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Provision of repairs and other service support of IT products

In 2024,
diversifying the business segments of the Group to enhance overall
performance and resilience. This initiative has led to significant growth in
our repair business with expansions in both repair capacity and the range of
product types we service. Our commitment to quality and efficiency in repairs
has positioned us as a preferred partner in the market. We have actively
pursued new business opportunities, engaging potential customers across
various industries. This proactive approach not only broadens our customer
base but also strengthens our market presence.

the Group continues to implement a strategic plan aimed at

In 20283, the Group entered into a service framework agreement (which
constitutes a continuing connected transaction) with the Company’s controlling
shareholder (the “Controlling Shareholder(s)”) for outsourcing its repair
business workflow, including but not limited to maintenance and value-added
services (including checking, maintenance, assembly, testing, packaging,
warehousing, logistic, related custom declaration services and sourcing of
required material) for electronic products (including but not limited to mobile
phone, mobile phone display, and Bluetooth earpieces). This arrangement
can broaden the range of the Group’s repair services business and increase
its revenue sources. Please refer to the section headed “CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS” included in the Directors’ Report set out on
pages 28 to 29 of this annual report for details.

On 4 October 2024, the Group signed a subscription agreement with a
business partner. This exercise is designed to expedite the expansion of our
repair business by leveraging the expertise and specialties of the Group and
the business partner. By working together, the Group aims to create synergies
that will enhance service offerings, accelerate repair processes, and ultimately
deliver greater value to our customers.

Annual Report 2024 7
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Segment information by business line
For the year ended 31 December 2024, revenue from the sales and
distribution of IT products segment remained the Group’s largest income
source, accounting for approximately 92.1% of the total revenue, up from
approximately 87.4% in 2023. This revenue primarily stemmed from the sales
and distribution of third-party IT products.

Additionally, revenue from the repairs and service support segment rose
significantly to approximately HK$27,825,000, up from approximately
HK$19,133,000 in 2023. This growth was primarily driven by an expanded
customer base and enhanced services support for IT products.

Segment information by geographical location

BE+-_A=+—HLEE
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, Hong Kong, Japan and Australia
emerged as the Group’s top three markets by revenue contribution. The Hong
Kong market was the largest, contributing approximately 89.9% of the total
revenue, up from approximately 73.5% in 2023. The Japan market accounted
for approximately 5.8% of the total revenue, down from approximately 17.3% in
2028, while the Australia market contributed around 2.3% of the total revenue,
representing a decrease from approximately 3.7% in 2023. The United States
market remained relatively stable, contributing approximately 1.8% of the
total revenue, compared to approximately 4.0% in 2023. The shifts in revenue
composition were influenced by changes in product mix, driven by demand and
supply variations across these geographical locations.

8 HMEEEEERAERAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited
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PRODUCT AND SERVICE DEVELOPMENT

Building upon the experience of the management team in international
distribution, the Group has further expanded its consumer electronics product
offerings, complementing its existing business. The 3C Products, primarily
comprising used and refurbished units, experience their useful life extended
through the Group’s international distribution channels, contributing to a
sustainable post-sales circular economy.

In the repairs and service support segment, the Group has collaborated with
an international insurance company to enhance its offerings by providing
comprehensive smart device repair services. This partnership not only
streamlines the repair process for customers but also ensures that their devices
receive timely and high-quality maintenance. In addition, the Group is dedicated
to implementing eco-friendly practices within its repair services, further
reinforcing its commitment to sustainability and the circular economy.

BUSINESS RISK RELATING TO THE GROUP

The Group faces rapid technological changes in the IT products
sector.

In the fast-evolving landscape of IT products trading, the technology sector
is characterized by swift innovation cycles, with new products, software, and
hardware constantly being developed and introduced to the market. This
fast pace of innovation can quickly render older models less appealing as
consumers gravitate toward the latest gadgets.

The Group has conducted thorough market research to anticipate shifts in
consumer preferences and adapt its inventories accordingly. Strategic pricing
models have been implemented to maintain profitability while ensuring business
volume. Additionally, the Group focuses on refurbishing and certifying used
products to enhance their appeal and assure buyers of their quality.

Annual Report 2024 9
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BUSINESS RISK RELATING TO THE GROUP

(continued)

The Group’s insurance may be insufficient to cover all losses
associated with its business operations.

The Group maintains insurance policies for loss or damage to its office,
business interruption, public liability, and employee compensation. However,
this coverage may fall short of addressing all the risks associated with the
Group’s future business operations. In the event of an uninsured loss or a loss
exceeding the insured limit, such as those resulting from natural disasters
or other uncontrollable events, the Group may have to cover damages and
liabilities from its own funds, which could materially and adversely impact its
financial condition and operational results. Even if the insurance is adequate for
direct losses, the Group may still be responsible for indirect losses. Additionally,
the Group’s claims history could influence the premiums charged by insurance
companies in the future.

Despite these concerns, the Group believes that its current insurance coverage
is sufficient for its existing operational scale. To address potential gaps, the
Group will periodically review its insurance policies to ensure they align with the
Group’s evolving business needs and risks.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

The Group’s operations encompass two distinct business segments, namely,
the sales and distribution of IT products and the provision of repairs and other
services to support IT products. With a strategic and methodical approach,
the Group executed a planned process to enhance and fortify its repairs and
service support segment, aiming to improve profitability and the return on
capital employed.

Looking ahead, the management of the Group intends to allocate additional
resources to further develop the repairs and service support segment of
the Group. Additionally, the Group will actively explore suitable investment
opportunities within the realm of the “Circular Economy”, aligning with our
commitment to sustainability and responsible business practices to foster
“Green Technology”.

10 MESEBZERAMRALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group mainly engages in two business segments, namely, (i) sales and
distribution of IT products; and (i) repairs and service support. The Group’s
total revenue amounted to approximately HK$351,188,000 for the year ended
31 December 2024, representing an increase of approximately 130.8% as
compared to that of approximately HK$152,137,000 for the year ended 31
December 2023. The business volume growth was attributable to the rapid
expansion of Asian markets fuelled by our expanded range of third-party
branded product offerings.

Cost of sales

A major component of the cost of sales was the cost of inventories. In line
with the increase in business volume, the cost of sales for the year ended 31
December 2024 increased to approximately HK$331,024,000, representing
an increase of approximately 139.3% as compared to that of approximately
HK$138,346,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023. There was a net
reversal of provision of inventories (included in the cost of sales) amounting
to approximately HK$319,000 as compared to a net inventory provision of
approximately HK$200,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023 to account
for the decrease in slow-moving inventories during the year.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Gross profit increased by approximately HK$6,373,000 to approximately
HK$20,164,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: approximately
HK$13,791,000), which was in line with the increase in business volume.
The overall gross profit margin decreased from approximately 9.1% for the
year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately 5.7% for the year ended 31
December 2024. The decrease in overall gross margin was mainly due to the
rapid growth in the sales and distribution segment, which generates a lower
gross profit margin than the repairs and service support segment.

Annual Report 2024 11



Eii a nm&ﬁ*ﬁ'

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B #5[Cl B8 )
S5 R 3 B R A

FR-AEBRDEHEEE KD HE AR R A

A5 1% BME_T_NE+_A=+—HILFE
ERDHARERI14,0008 T (:><::E A
1,665,000%7t) ~#HERDHAEANTIERLDRETL

A ZFRERWMRAUKRBRHER - H’\‘ZISEEF

AEEERRHHE RO WEHED LURBNEY
BEBETHE.
THEA

BE_T_ME+"_A=+—HLEE -THREHR
F14913,265,000% 70 B  £921.56% £ 4310,410,0007%
T BEEENERNES REBNMBER  x&E
EMRETRERFRITEGEREKF -

FRHER

BERKEM BAEERTEER T ANKAN
ML A T ER518498,883,00058 75 EI5H BB T
TEAKRE —BEGEMBRRMIFT 12 AL A&
B E2RAF|4272,00080 BREE_S =61+
B=1+—HIEFEH#EBM4FI496,615,0008 5T H L
6,343,0003% 7T ©

RIZEZME - SREABAE D EL0.1981l > m
TR =FHR25.1478

FEREWKIR®

RZE_ME+_B=+—H ' FEXKFREEY
67,0008t (T2 -=F+_"A=+—H : 562,000
BI) cHFEAEFHARBRBALIARSEEFEREXRUA
BUmMaFEEEE

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Selling and distribution costs

The Group managed to cut its selling and distribution costs by approximately
45.1% for the year. Selling and distribution costs decreased to approximately
HK$914,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: approximately
HK$1,665,000). A major component of the selling and distribution costs was
staff costs, take-back cost for used devices and warehousing charges. During
the year, the Group has re-designed its business model for the sales and
distribution business to improve efficiency and to save staff costs.

Administrative expenses

During the year ended 31 December 2024, administrative expenses decreased
by approximately 21.5% from approximately HK$13,265,000 to approximately
HK$10,410,000. With improvements in operating efficiencies and rigorous
financial policy, the Group has been able to keep its administrative expenses
reasonably low.

Net profit for the year

Despite an increase in the total revenue, the Group recognised a fair value
loss of approximately HK$8,883,000 due to the lapse of a derivative financial
instrument. For details, please refer to the paragraph headed “Significant
Investment” below and note 12 to the consolidated financial statements. As a
result, the Group reported a net profit of approximately HK$272,000, reflecting
a decrease of HK$6,343,000 compared to the net profit of approximately
HK$6,615,000 recorded for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Basic earnings per share decreased to approximately HK$0.19 cents in 2024,
compared with approximately HK$25.14 cents in 2023.

Inventories and trade receivables

As at 31 December 2024, the inventory level decreased to approximately
HK$67,000 (31 December 2023: approximately HK$562,000). The significant
reduction in inventory balance was attributable to strengthened inventory
management through reducing the inventory turnover days.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Inventories and trade receivables (continued)

Trade receivables increased significantly to approximately HK$79,674,000
as at 31 December 2024, compared to approximately HK$26,789,000 in
2023. This increase in trade receivables was attributable to the additional
credit limit granted to the Group’s loyal customers, who have demonstrated a
strong repayment track record. Throughout the year, the Group’s customers
maintained a good credit history, and no material impairment of trade
receivables was recognised.

Key financial performance

The above financial data were chosen to be presented in this annual report
as they constitute a material financial impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the current financial year and/or the previous
financial year, and that a change of which could affect the revenue and profit
conspicuously. It is believed that the Group can effectively explain the financial
performance of the Group for the year by presenting the changes of these
financial data.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company does not have a policy to distribute dividends in a fixed amount
or based on a fixed payment ratio. The Company’s dividend policy is to
consider the following factors before declaring or recommending dividends:

- the general financial condition of the Group;

- the Group’s actual and future operations and liquidity position;

- the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future expansion
plans;

- the Group’s debt to equity ratios and the debt level;

- the restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the
Group’s lenders (if any);

- the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the members of the Group;

- the general market conditions; and

- any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

Declaration of dividend by the Company is also subject to any restrictions

under the laws of the Cayman Islands, the memorandum and articles of
association of the Company and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.
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EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As of 31 December 2024, the Group employed 11 (31 December 2023: 18)
employees in Hong Kong and 21 (31 December 2023: 14) employees in
China and overseas offices. The staff costs of the Group, including Directors’
emoluments, employees’ salaries and commissions, retirement benefit scheme
contributions and other benefits amounted to approximately HK$9,121,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: approximately HK$11,373,000).

Employees are remunerated in accordance with individual’s responsibility and
performance, also taking into account the prevailing market rates to ensure
competitiveness. Other fringe benefits such as medical insurance, retirement
benefits and discretionary bonus are offered to all employees.

The Group provides training programmes for staff professional development
so that the employees are better equipped and can work efficiently, which are
favourable to the long-term development of the Group. Training programmes
are classified into two types based on target and purpose: internal training
and external training. For example, external training programmes organised by
professional party. Whereas for internal training, the Company organizes team
building activities and workshops regularly in the Hong Kong office in order to
enhance team spirit. The Group supports staff training programmes by offering
employees to attend continuing professional development and training courses
during working days and training sponsorship.

A share option scheme was approved and adopted at the annual general
meeting of the Company on 11 November 2016.
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
GEARING RATIO

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group financed its daily
operations with internally generated resources. As at 31 December 2024, the
Group had net current assets of approximately HK$149,511,000 (31 December
2023: approximately HK$136,060,000) and cash and cash equivalents
of approximately HK$39,678,000 (31 December 2023: approximately
HK$104,485,000). The Group had no borrowings outstanding as at 31
December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the gearing ratio, which is calculated on the basis
of total debts over total equity of the Group, was approximately 5.7% (2023:
approximately 4.2%).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

On 4 October 2024, the Company and Hong Kong Kintex Worldwide Limited
(the “Subscriber”) entered into a subscription agreement, pursuant to which
in aggregate, 7,811,261
ordinary shares of the Company (the “Share(s)”) at aggregate nominal value
of HK$1,562,252.2 in two tranches. Such subscription was to expedite the
expansion of our repair business by leveraging the expertise and specialties of
the Group and the Subscriber, as well as to improve the financial position of

the Subscriber conditionally agreed to subscribe,

the Company. The closing price of our Shares was HK$3.08 per Share on 4
October 2024. During the year, the Subscriber has completed the subscription
of the first tranche, of which the Company issued 2,605,000 Shares in the
subscription price of HK$3.0 for each Share. The net subscription price, after
deduction of relevant expenses, was approximately HK$2.76 per Share.

The second tranche of subscription of 5,206,261 Shares at HK$3.9 is to
be issued when the conditions are fulfilled. If the conditions are fulfilled, the
estimated net subscription price, after deduction of relevant expenses, is

approximately HK$3.88 per Share.

The gross proceeds from the aforesaid subscription are expected to be
approximately HK$28.1 million, and the net proceeds from the subscription,
after deduction of the relevant expenses, will amount to approximately HK$27.4
million.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE (continued)

The net proceeds received from the first tranche of the subscription were
approximately HK$7.1 million. The Company intends to use the net proceeds
from the first tranche of the subscription by the second quarter of 2025 as
to (i) approximately HK$4.0 million for the expansion of the existing sales
and distribution of IT products business by acquisition of relevant tools and
consumables, enhancement of information technology system, increase in
manpower and expansion in inventory level; (i) approximately HK$2.1 million to
enhance the capacity of a repair centre in China; and (iii) approximately HK$1.0
million will be invested in establishing an overseas repair center.

The net proceeds to be received from the second tranche of the subscription
are expected to be approximately HK$20.3 million. The Company intends to
use the net proceeds from the second tranche of the subscription within 12
months following the completion of the second tranche of the subscription
as to (i) approximately HK$12.0 million for the expansion of the existing sales
and distribution of IT products business by acquisition of relevant tools and
consumables, enhancement of information technology system, increase in
manpower and expansion in inventory level; (i) approximately HK$6.0 million to
enhance the capacity of a repair centre in China; and (i) approximately HK$2.3
million for further expansion of an oversea repair center established with the
funds from the net proceeds received from the first tranche of the subscription.

As at 31 December 2024, none of the net proceeds has been utilized. The
Company will gradually utilize the net proceeds from the subscription in
accordance with the intended purposes set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 4 October 2024.

Details of the subscription were disclosed in the announcements of the
Company dated 4 October 2024, 22 November 2024 and 29 November 2024
and the circular of the Company dated 1 November 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had an authorised share capital of
HK$80,000,000 divided into 400,000,000 Shares of a par value of HK$0.20
each, of which 26,038,783 Shares were in issue. No convertible securities,
options, warrants or similar rights by the Company or its subsidiaries were
outstanding during the year.

The Group did not have any borrowings during the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: Nil).
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group held 21% interest in
4Square Return GmbH (“4Square”), which was classified as the Group’s
interest in an associate in the consolidated statement of financial position.
As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 4 June 2018, the
Group acquired 2 shares in 4Square, which represents 21% of the entire issued
share capital of 4Square, at a consideration of EUR1,600,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$14,508,000). The carrying amount of the Group’s interest
in 4Square was approximately HK$9,774,000 as at 31 December 2024,
which represents approximately 5.7% of the total consolidated assets of the
Group as at 31 December 2024. 4Square is principally engaged in businesses
including compliance consulting and the provision of take back services,
etc. While no dividend was declared by 4Square during FY2024, a profit
of approximately HK$531,000 representing the Group’s share of results of
4Square was recorded in the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024. On 12 July 2024, the Group has notified
4Square’s existing shareholders in writing that the Group would not exercise
the call option granted by 4Square’s shareholders during the call option period.
4Square’s existing shareholders may buyback all of the shares of 4Square
held by the Group within the buy-back period for the buy-back consideration.
The 4Square’s shareholders have also notified the Group in writing that they
would not exercise the buy-back option. Please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 4 June 2018 for details on the terms of the above options
as defined in the shareholders’ agreement. Accordingly, both options were
lapsed during the year. The Group has recognised a fair value loss on derivative
financial instrument of approximately HK$8,883,000 upon derecognition and
derecognised the derivative financial instrument. For further details, please refer
to note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

The management of the Group will diligently monitor and conduct thorough
analyses of the return on investment by closely observing the performance and
outcomes of the investments. The management of the Group aims to ensure
optimal allocation of resources and make investment strategy that aligns with
the Group’s objectives and growth trajectory.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not hold any significant investments
during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

The Group did not make any material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: Nil).

CHARGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, no assets of Group were pledged as collaterals (31
December 2023: Nil).

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

To continue executing its investment plan of augmenting its international
distribution and fulfilment capabilities, the Group may, depending on
circumstances and market conditions, consider the need for fundraising and/
or financing from time to time in order to strengthen its human resources,
plant and equipment and working capital. This will enable the Group to not
only serve the distribution and fulfilment requirements of its own products, but
also acquire the capabilities to support strategic third-party business partners
with innovative revenue models with a view to delivering enhanced value to the
Shareholders.

In addition, to accelerate the Group’s capabilities to offer innovative revenue
models in relation to IT hardware distribution and fulfilment support, the Board
may contemplate selective strategic investments by means of stock and/or
cash when suitable opportunities arise.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, Japan, Australia and US with
most of the transactions settled in Hong Kong dollars and United States
dollars (“USD”). The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk from various
currencies, primarily with respect to USD. The management of the Group has
formulated a policy to manage the foreign exchange risk against the functional
currencies of the Group. It mainly includes managing the foreign exchange risk
by performing regular reviews of the Group’s net foreign exchange exposures
and would consider the use of foreign exchange contracts to manage foreign
exchange risks, where appropriate. The Group did not enter into any foreign
currency derivative financial instruments for the year ended 31 December 2024.
The Group did not use any financial instruments for hedging purposes during
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities (31 December 2023: Nil).
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan (“Ms. Chen”), aged 62, was appointed as an
executive Director on 10 June 2016 and the chief executive officer of the
Company (the “Chief Executive Officer”), the compliance officer of the
Company on 15 May 2020. She is a senior director of Hon Hai Precision
Industry Co., Ltd. (“Hon Hai”) and the head of its global service solutions
division. She was previously a manager in Foxconn Assembly LLC. during
2003 and 2007, where she was responsible for cost management for the
global service solutions division in Houston Site. Ms. Chen worked in Intoka
Software, Inc. as a software developer from 1997 to 2001, where she was
primarily responsible for developing software resources management systems.
Ms. Chen was previously a researcher in the department of meteorology at the
University of Utah between 1995 and 1996 and an associate researcher at the
Central Weather Bureau in Taiwan from 1987 to 1992. Ms. Chen obtained a
postgraduate degree in Atmospheric Sciences from National Taiwan University
in 1987.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chang Chuan-Wang (“Mr. Chang”), aged 55, has been appointed as
a non-executive Director, the chairman of the Board and a member of the
remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”)
on 14 April 2023. Mr. Chang has about 32 years’ experience in the information
and communication technology industry. From 1995 to 2001, he served as
the head of the global operations management division at Universal Scientific
Industrial Co., Ltd (2350-TW). From 2002 to 2008, he was the chairman’s
special advisor at Taiwan Green Point Enterprises Co., Ltd. Since May 2009,
Mr. Chang has been a member of the corporate management information
division in Hon Hai, focusing on group business strategy, operation control
and performance analysis management. He is currently an associate of the
headquarter controlling division in Hon Hai. He currently also serves as the
executive director of industrial computer manufacturer ENNOCONN Technology
Co., Ltd. (6414-TW) on behalf of Hon Hai. Mr. Chang is currently a non-
executive director of FIH Mobile Limited (stock code: 2038, the shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange). Mr. Chang obtained a
bachelor’s degree in Automatic Control Engineering from Feng Chia University
in 1992 and a master’s degree in Business Administration from the Graduate
Institute of Management at Feng Chia University in 2007. In 2007, he was
awarded the honorary membership of Phi Tau Phi Scholastic Honor Society for
his outstanding academic achievements.

Mr. Hsia Ke-Ping (“Mr. Hsia”), aged 53, has been appointed as a non-
executive Director on 17 May 2024. Mr. Hsia has served Hon Hai for more than
26 years. He once served as the head of the E Business Group Operations and
Management Office, responsible for corporate, investment, human resources,
information, environmental, social and governance and other business planning.
He has held various positions, including procurement and production planning,
factory director, etc. Mr. Hsia obtained a bachelor’s degree in information
management from Tamkang University and a master’'s degree in industrial
management from Cheng Kung University.
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Mr. Lin Weiru (“Mr. Lin”), aged 43, has been appointed as a non-executive
Director on 11 December 2024. Mr. Lin, from Shanwei, Guangdong Province,
is currently a deputy to the 14th Guangdong Provincial People’s Congress. He
was awarded the Guangdong May 1 Labor Medal in 2023. In 2008, he founded
Hong Kong Kintex Worldwide Limited, principally engaging in the multinational
trading and repair services for electronic products. In 2018, he expanded the
business into the domestic market to carry out electronic products agency and
bonded repair services. Currently, Hong Kong Kintex Worldwide Limited has a
global presence with factories and offices in North America, Europe, and Asia.
Mr. Lin obtained his bachelor’s degree in Economics from the London School of
Economics and Political Science in 2004.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter (“Mr. Yeung”), aged 67, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 10 June 2016. He was an independent
non-executive director of Chinese Food and Beverage Group Limited since
December 2013 until his resignation upon its cancellation of listing on GEM
of the Stock Exchange on 13 July 2021. Mr. Yeung holds a bachelor of laws
degree from the University of London and a postgraduate certificate in laws
from the University of Hong Kong. He is a solicitor of the High Court of Hong
Kong. Mr. Yeung is a partner of Hau, Lau, Li & Yeung Solicitors and has been
practicing as a solicitor for over 34 years.

Mr. Yeung is currently an independent non-executive director of CCIAM Future
Energy Limited (stock code: 0145), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.

Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling (“Mr. Li”), aged 66, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 1 December 2017. Mr. Li holds a degree of bachelor
of Commerce from the University of British Columbia, Canada and a degree
of master of Business Administration from the University of Strathclyde,
Scotland. Mr. Li is a member of the Chartered Professional Accountants of
British Columbia. Mr. Li has extensive experience in accounting and financial
management. He had held senior positions in accounting and finance in
some large corporations and multinationals, including Towona Media Holding
Company Limited, News Corporation Limited, Pepsi-Cola International, and
Apple Computer International Limited. Mr. Li also worked as a lecturer in
several accounting programmes of HKU School of Professional and Continuing
Education, and a part-time lecturer at FTMS Training Systems (Hong
Kong) Limited for the preparatory of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants examination courses.

Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben (“Mr. Miao”), aged 50, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 27 June 2016. He is currently an
executive vice president at Cathay United Bank Company Limited, Hong Kong
Branch, and is responsible for its international banking business. Mr. Miao was
formerly a senior portfolio manager with the Dutch pension asset manager APG
Asset Management Asia and was responsible for originating, structuring and
executing direct and fund investments in Asia-Pacific. Prior to that, Mr. Miao
was an investment director with the China-ASEAN Investment Cooperation
Fund, where he was involved in originating, structuring and executing direct
private equity investments in the ASEAN region. He also worked previously as
a vice president at Citigroup within its investment banking and fixed income
divisions in New York, Australia and Hong Kong. Mr. Miao has a bachelor
of Science degree in Finance from California State Polytechnic University —
Pomona, and a Master of Business Administration degree from Pennsylvania
State University. He is also a chartered financial analyst.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tam Hoi Kwong (“Mr. Tam”) has been appointed as the company
secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”), the authorised
representative of the Company and the process agent of the Company with
effect from 4 October 2024. Mr. Tam is currently the financial controller of
the Group. He is primarily responsible for financial reporting, financial control
matters, and corporate secretarial matters of the Group. Mr. Tam has more
than 14 years of experience in accounting and auditing fields in Hong Kong
since 2010. Prior to joining the Group, he worked in a managerial grade
position in the assurance department of an international accounting firm. Mr.
Tam obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce from University of New South
Wales, Australia, in August 2010. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since April 2014.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Kung, Wen-Lin (“Mr. Kung”), aged 49, has been appointed as the
chief financial officer of the Company with effect from 17 May 2024. Mr.
Kung, currently serves as the Senior Assistant Vice President of the finance
department within Hon Hai and its subsidiaries. He also held a directorship at
Asia Pacific Telecom (APT) and played a pivotal role in the merger between APT
and Far EasTone Telecommunications Co., Ltd., resulting in the formation of the
second-largest telecommunications company in Taiwan. With past experience
in the corporate finance division of CTBC Bank, not only has Mr. Kung provided
professional financial services to ICT clients, but he has also successfully
orchestrated the private equity acquisition of HomePlus (CNS), which marks the
first case in Taiwan’s cable television industry. Furthermore, he has contributed
significantly to the finance departments of ICT industry entities, exhibiting
proficiency in corporate finance, strategic investment, and operational
management. Mr. Kung earned his bachelor's degree in management from
National Chiao Tung University (now renamed as National Yang Ming Chiao
Tung University) in Taiwan and holds a master of business administration
degree from the University of Pittsburgh, USA.

Mr. Li Wan-Hsien, aged 45, serves as the Global Business Director of the
Group and is a senior manager at Hon Hai within the New PCEBG division.
From 2007 to 2010, he was employed at Pegatron Corporation, where he
focused on the design and development of battery packs. Prior to that, Mr. Li
Wan-Hsien worked as a Product Engineer at Gigabyte Technology Co., Ltd.
from 2005 to 2007. He holds a bachelor’'s degree in Electronic Engineering
from St. John’s University.
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The Directors submit their report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The activities of the
subsidiaries are set out in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31 December
2024 by operating segments is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages 92 to 93.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year ended
31 December 2024.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year ended 31
December 2024 amounted to HK$1,000 (2023: HK$NIl).

SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

On 4 October 2024, the Company and the Subscriber entered into a
subscription agreement, pursuant to which the Subscriber is conditionally
agreed to subscribe, in aggregate, 7,811,261 Shares in two tranches. During
the year, the Subscriber has completed the subscription of the first tranche,
of which the Company issued 2,605,000 Shares in the subscription price of
HK$3.0 for each Share.

The second tranche of subscription of 5,206,261 Shares at HK$3.9 is to be
issued when the conditions are fulfilled.

Please refer to the subscription agreement as disclosed under the section
headed “Capital Structure” and Note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements for details.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” and the
subscription agreement as disclosed under the section headed “Capital
Structure”, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company at
any time during the year ended 31 December 2024 or subsisted at the end of
the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 December 2024 comprise of share
premium, and accumulated loss in aggregate amounted to HK$105,748,000
(2023: HK$101,897,000) provided that, after distribution, the Company will be
able to pay its debts as they fall due in its ordinary course of business.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the
Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 176 of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities (including sale of treasury
shares) during the year. The Company did not hold any treasury shares as of 31
December 2024.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme at the annual general meeting
held on 11 November 2016. The purpose of the share option scheme is to
attract and retain the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive
to employees (full-time and part-time), directors and service providers of the
Group and to promote the success of the business of the Group.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms as it may think fit,
grant any employee (full-time or part-time), Director or service provider of the
Group, options to subscribe for such number of shares as it may determine in
accordance with the terms of the share option scheme and the Listing Rules.

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option granted
under the share option scheme shall be a price solely determined by the Board
and notified to a participant and shall be at least the highest of: (i) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the option(s), which must be a business day; (i) the
average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant of the option(s); or (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant of
the option(s).

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of
options granted to any participant (including both exercised and outstanding
options) under the share option scheme, in any 12-month period up to the date
of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue. Any further grant of options
in excess of such limit must be separately approved by the Shareholders in
general meeting with such grantee and his/her close associates (or his/her
associates if such grantee is a connected person) abstaining from voting.

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven days, inclusive
of the day on which such offer was made. The amount payable by the grantee
of an option to the Company on acceptance of an offer for the grant of
option(s) is HK$1.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The share option scheme does not specify a minimum period for which an
option must be held. An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the share option scheme at any time during a period as the Board may
determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant subject to
the provisions of early termination thereof. The share option scheme will remain
in force for a period of ten years commencing on the date of its adoption on
11 November 2016 and will expire at the close of business on 10 November
2026. Under the said scheme and following the share consolidation, the
maximum number of Shares that may be issued upon the exercise of options
that may be granted is 1,673,841 Shares, representing approximately 7.1% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this annual report.
Details of the share option scheme of the Company are set out in Note 26 to
the consolidated financial statements. No share options were granted under the
share option scheme since its adoption.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of
this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Han Chun-Wei (Chief Financial Officer) (retired on 17 May 2024)®

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chang Chuan-Wang (Chairman)

Mr. Hsia Ke-Ping (appointed on 17 May 2024)
Mr. Lin Weiru (appointed on 11 December 2024)
Mr. Kao Chao Yang (retired on 17 May 2024)?

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter
Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling
Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben

Notes:

(1) Mr. Han Chun-Wei retired as an executive Director with effect from 17 May 2024 due
to his responsibilities at Hon Hai, the holding company of Foxconn (Far East) Limited,
a Controlling Shareholder, have become heavier and he could not devote sufficient
time for his duties at the Company.

() Mr. Kao Chao Yang retired as a non-executive Director with effect from 17 May 2024
due to the requirement of his other work commitment assigned by Hon Hai.

In accordance with Article 83(3) of the articles of association of the Company,
Mr. Hsia Ke-Ping and Mr. Lin Weiru who were appointed by the Board shall hold
office until the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the meeting.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the articles of association of the Company,
Mr. Chang Chuan-Wang and Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter will retire from office by
rotation. They, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election pursuant to Article
84(2) of the articles of association of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

All the Directors have entered into letter of appointment with the Company
for an initial term of one year and should continue thereafter unless and until
terminated by either party by giving to the other not less than three months’
notice in writing.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE GROUP’S BUSINESS

Other than the related party transactions disclosed in Note 34(b) to the
consolidated financial statements and the subscription agreement as disclosed
under the section headed “Capital Structure”, no transactions, arrangements
and contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Group was a party and in which a Director or an entity connected with a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at anytime during the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time for the year ended 31 December 2024 was the Company, its
holding company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and save for
the subscription agreement as disclosed under the section headed “Capital
Structure”, none of the Directors, their spouses or children under the age of
eighteen, had any rights to subscribe for securities of the Company, or had
exercised any such rights during the year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set out on
pages 19 to 21 of this annual report.
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Name of Director Capacity

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY OF ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) which were required under Divisions 7 and 8
of the SFO to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required under Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

Long position in the Shares as at 31 December 2024:

"EBA
#xmZRITBE

HEATB#IT
AT 5 (BE49)
Percentage of the
issued share
capital of

the Company
(approximate)

Number of Shares
held/interested

mER ZEREE R

Lin Weiru Interest in a controlled corporation 2,605,000 10.00%
BC (B HE &
Interest of spouse 119,200 0.46%

RIZBZME+ZA=+—HRBEBEERD 27
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Long position in the shares of associated corporation as at 31 December 2024:

LR E AR

"EBA BRITRE

E5ns HEEEB TS 515 2z RHEE A5 EE (8 49)

Percentage of

the issued

share capital

Name of Number of of associated

associated shares held/ corporation

Name of Director corporation Capacity interested (approximate)
SRS HE BEEELERNBIRAS BmEAA

Chang Chuan-Wang Hon Hai Precision Industry Beneficial owner 17,000 0.00%

Co., Ltd.
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BMEBERAABDETETHRAEREAATREEM
HEEE (EERBHRIBEKRAISEXVED) 2 R% 18
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AN GARAD R EMERERA (BER
BELSRPERAEKEXHEWIDANREES
ZHEEDRRE) W BN A AT REESMBER
Bl FE352E BEEZELM2EMERIRA » TR
BGEM EHIREI55.46E5.6718 B S AT KA
FrzEMEmI KA -

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors
nor chief executives of the Company had any interests or short positions in
the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required under Divisions 7 and 8 of the SFO to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange (including interests and short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO, or which were required under Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM

Listing Rules to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the following
persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the Company) had interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

RRBZEE Long position in the Shares
HAEAE
BEHE#EE BEITRAE
BRAE g1 ZRHEE B (84
Percentage
of the issued
share capital
Number of of the
Shares held/ Company
Name of Shareholders Capacity interested (approximate)
Foxconn (Far East) Limited EmEBA
Beneficial owner 11,853,524 45.52%
BEREIXRNAERAR REEE D
Hon Hai Precision Industry Co., Ltd. Interest in a controlled corporation 11,853,524 45.52%
BEETERRERARAR BmERAA
Hong Kong Kintex Worldwide Limited Beneficial owner 2,605,000 10.00%
WER REEE D
Lin Weiru Interest in a controlled corporation 2,605,000 10.00%
Fic (B 1 &
Interest of spouse 119,200 0.46%
Wizt Note:

Foxconn (Far East) Limited 88 (—ER 8EaEMRiiza
SR AEESRZ LT (Hi‘fﬁﬁ%ﬁ“ 12317.TW)) 22 &
M EBAT - RIEE S MG KRG BEHR A Foxconn (Far
East) Limitedhﬁzﬂxﬁﬁpiﬁﬁﬁgm

ERTEERERARAD A —HRES B EMH
MRINAERRAE  AMBHILELEES UL
M1§%5‘E$E’\JEE{%%E119,200H§H§Tﬁ°$§%§%§%&
HER MEFELERRANEBETERRER
EFE@THEE’H 605,000 i 3 LUK HEC BB BY
119,200 ie P R ER e m o

BREXFIREESN R T _NE+-A=+—81"
BEEFEMAL EEREARBEHTHABRIN
MERRE) KR BZPAERAER R SNAER RS T &

BRFzZREE 1‘§WU%XV§B%27§ZS§}“KT| XIETEA
RN ARBRBES REAERAIEIB6KRBFEZ
Bz EmadRe o

Foxconn (Far East) Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hon Hai, a company incorporated
in Taiwan and listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange (stock code: 2317.TW). Hon Hai is
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Foxconn (Far East) Limited pursuant to the
SFO.

Hong Kong Kintex Worldwide Limited, a company incorporated under the
laws of Hong Kong with limited liability, is wholly owned by Mr. Lin Weiru.
Furthermore, the spouse of Mr. Lin Weiru held 119,200 Shares. Mr. Lin Weiru
is deemed to be interested in 2,605,000 Shares held by Hong Kong Kintex
Worldwide Limited and 119,200 Shares held by his spouse pursuant to the
SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company and the
Stock Exchange had not been notified by any other persons (other than
a Director or chief executive of the Company) who had interests or short
positions in any Shares or the underlying Shares under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers and customers are as follows:

Purchases
— the largest supplier 87.2%
— five largest suppliers in aggregate 95.2%
Sales
- the largest customer 83.2%
— five largest customers in aggregate 93.5%

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholder (which to
the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) had an interest in these major suppliers or customers.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The following transactions are the continuing connected transactions of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 that are subject to the
reporting and annual review requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules:

Service Agreement

On 28 April 2023, the Company entered into a service framework agreement
(the “Service Agreement”) with Hon Hai for outsourcing its repair business
workflow, including but not limited to maintenance and value-added services
(including checking, maintenance, assembly, testing, packaging, warehousing,
logistic, related custom declaration services and sourcing of required material)
for electronic products (including but not limited to mobile phone, mobile phone
display, and Bluetooth earpieces) (the “Transactions of Services”) for a term
from 28 April 2023 to 31 December 2025. The annual caps of the Service
Agreement (the “Caps”) for the financial years ended 31 December 2023, 2024
and 2025 are HK$8,500,000, HK$8,900,000 and HK$9,300,000, respectively.

Based on the applicable size tests performed with respect to the Caps under
the Service Agreement, as the highest applicable percentage ratio in respect
of the Caps are more than 5% but less than 25% and the Caps are less than
HK$10,000,000 on an annual basis, the Transactions of Services are only
subject to the reporting, annual review and announcement requirements but
is exempt from the independent Shareholders’ approval requirement under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
The Continuing Connected Transactions for the Reporting Year

The annual caps and actual transaction amount for the Group’s continuing
connected transactions with Hon Hai and its subsidiaries and associates
(collectively, the “Hon Hai Group”) during the reporting year are set out in
the table below. All the actual transaction amount of the Group’s continuing
connected transaction did not exceed the respective annual caps.

T ME —EIMmE
FELR ERRZEH
Actual

Transaction

Annual Caps Amount for

for 2024 2024
FET FAET
HK$000 HK$'000
BBEEH With Hon Hai Group
— R - Repair services 8,900 5,839
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ERFBEERZHORINAER-—REKHEXEHB
TEREST ()R — AR B ERRN B ERRETIL 5 (i)
REREFERERZZEBAHERATEEZRK
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and confirmed that all
the continuing connected transactions taken place during the reporting year
were (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (i) on normal
commercial terms or better; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing the same on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the Shareholders as a whole. Moreover, the Company’s auditor has provided
an unqualified letter to the Board containing their findings and conclusions
in respect of the continuing connected transactions taken place during the
reporting year in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, the other related party transactions as disclosed in
Note 34(c) to the consolidated financial statements also constituted connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction under the GEM Listing Rules
and such transactions are fully exempt from the requirements under Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Directors confirm that the Company has
complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

SIGNIFICANT CONTRACT

Save for the Service Agreement under the paragraph headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” above, there was no contract of significance between
the Company or one of its subsidiaries on one hand, and a Controlling
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries on the other, subsisting during or for
the year ended 31 December 2024, and there was also no other contract
of significance for the provision of services to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries by a Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during or at
the end of the same period.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of
the GEM Listing Rules, with reference to the confirmation which, the Company
considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

EMOLUMENT POLICY FOR DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Company are
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

COMPETING BUSINESS

Hong Kong Kintex Worldwide Limited (“Kintex”) is a Hong Kong company
principally engaged in trading and repairs of IT products. Mr. Lin Weiru is the
sole shareholder and director of Kintex. While Mr. Lin Weiru was appointed
as a non-executive Director, he is not involved in the day-to-day management
of the Group. The day-to-day management and operations of the Group
are performed by its chief executive officer, chief financial officer and global
business director based in Hong Kong and Taiwan, and are further monitored
by three independent non-executive Directors. As such, the Directors consider
that the Group is capable of carrying on its business independently of, and at
arms length from, Kintex.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, Controlling Shareholder or
their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) has
any interests in a business that competes or may compete either directly or
indirectly with the business of the Group as referred to in Rule 11.04 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, it is confirmed that there is sufficient public
float of at least 25% of the issued Shares at the date of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices as adopted by the Company are set
out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 33 to 52.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in Section 469 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)) for the benefit of the
existing Directors is currently in force and was in force throughout this year.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of the environment and
communities in which it operates. Green initiatives and measures, including
recycling of resources, energy saving and eco-friendly management practice,
have been adopted in the daily operation of the Group. As a responsible
corporation, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the Group has complied
with all relevant laws and regulations regarding environmental protection for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with related legal
and regulatory requirements and the risk of non-compliance with such
requirements. The Group conducts on-going reviews of newly enacted/revised
laws and regulations affecting its operations. The Company is not aware of any
non-compliance in any material respect with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS,
CUSTOMERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands that the success of its business depends on the
support from its key stakeholders, including employees, customers, suppliers,
banks, regulators and Shareholders. The Group will continue to ensure
effective communication and maintain good relationship with each of its key
stakeholders.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

The Group had no other significant event subsequent to the year ended 31
December 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 is
set out in the Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis
on page 5 and pages 6 to 8 respectively of this annual report. A description
of the principal risks and uncertainties facing by the Group can be found in
Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis using financial
key performance indicators can be found in the Management Discussion and
Analysis on pages 6 to 18 of this annual report.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
have been audited by BDO, who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment in the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

During the three financial years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024, the
Company did not change its auditor.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Chang Chuan-Wang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 12 March 2025
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The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

The Board and senior management of the Company commit to achieving a high
standard of corporate governance, maintaining good corporate governance
practice for the improvement of accountability and transparency in operations
and strengthening the internal control and risk management systems from
time to time so as to protect the rights of the Shareholders and enhance
Shareholders’ value. This Corporate Governance Report helps the Shareholders
to understand and evaluate the corporate governance practices of the
Company.

Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules sets out the principles of good
corporate governance. The Company has applied the principles and adopted
the code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as
set out in Part 2 of Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules as its own code
of corporate governance. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company has complied with the code provisions as set out in Part 2 of the CG
Code save for deviations from code provisions C.1.6 and F.2.2 as Ms. Chen
Ching-Hsuan (executive Director), Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling (independent non-
executive Director), and Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben (independent non-executive
Director) were not able to attend the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 17 May 2024 due to prior business commitment.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board and the Management

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, overseeing
the Group’s strategic decisions and monitoring the business and performance
of the Group. During the year, the Board has reviewed and approved the
annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the
interim results of the Group for six months ended 30 June 2024. It has also
reviewed and approved the changes in Directors, the chief financial officer of
the Company, the Company Secretary, the authorised representative of the
Company and the process agent of the Company. The Board has delegated the
authority and responsibility for day-to-day management and operation of the
Group to the Chief Executive Officer and senior management of the Group.

Composition of the Board

As of the date of this annual report, the Board comprises of 7 Directors,
consisting of 1 executive Director, 3 non-executive Directors and 3 independent
non-executive Directors, whose names, roles and functions are listed below:
Executive Director

Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan

(Chief Executive Officer, member of Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chang Chuan-Wang (Chairman of the Board and
member of Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Hsia Ke-Ping*

Mr. Lin Weiru*

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter
(Chairman of Remuneration Committee, member of Audit Committee and
Nomination Committee)

Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling
(Chairman of Audit Committee, member of Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben
(Chairman of Nomination Committee, member of Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Hsia was appointed on 17 May 2024 and Mr. Lin was appointed on 11 December
2024, and they obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 5.02D of the GEM Listing
Rule on the same date. Mr. Hsia and Mr. Lin has confirmed that they understood their
obligations as a director of a listed issuer.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

In compliance with code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, Mr. Chang Chuan-
Wang is the chairman of the Board and Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan is the Chief
Executive Officer. The chairman is primarily responsible for providing leadership
to the Board and the Chief Executive Officer is primarily responsible for
overseeing and leading the day-to-day operation with the assistance of senior
management. The roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be
separate and should be performed by different persons to ensure balance of
power and authority. During the year, the chairman of the Board held a meeting
with the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other
Directors on 13 August 2024. An updated list of Directors is published on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Representation of Independent Non-executive Directors

In compliance with Rule 5.05(1) and (2) of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company
has appointed three independent non-executive Directors and at least one
of them possesses the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise. The culture of openness at the
Board facilitates effective communication and contribution of the Directors.
Independent non-executive Directors represent not less than one-third of the
Board and provide independent views and opinions to the Board in decision
making. The independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve on
various committees of the Company as detailed above. The independent non-
executive Directors are expressly identified in all corporate communications
pursuant to code provision B.1.1 of the CG Code.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Representation of Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

The independent non-executive Directors play a significant role in the Board
as they bring an impartial view on the Group’s strategies, performance and
control, as well as ensure that the interests of all Shareholders are considered.
All independent non-executive Directors possess appropriate academic,
professional qualifications or related financial management experience. None of
the independent non-executive Directors held any other offices in the Company
or any of its subsidiaries or is interested in any Shares.

In order to ensure that independent views and input of the independent non-
executive Directors are made available to the Board, the nomination committee
of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) and the Board assess the
Directors’ independence of the independent non-executive Directors annually
with regards to all relevant factors related to the independent non-executive
Directors including the following:

o required character, integrity, expertise, experience and stability to fulfill
their roles;

o time commitment and attention to the Company’s affairs;

o firm commitment to their duties of independent Directors and to the
Board;

o declaration of conflict of interest in their roles as independent non-

executive Directors; and

o no involvement in the daily management of the Company nor in any
relationship or circumstances which would affect the exercise of their
independent judgement.

During the year, the Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the above mechanisms and was satisfied that they were adequate and
effective.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules. Having considered the above factors and the
independence confirmation, the Company considers all the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.

Nomination and the Board Diversity
The Nomination Committee is primarily responsible for identifying and

nominating, for approval by the Board, suitably qualified candidates to become
members of the Board as additional Directors or to fill casual vacancies.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Nomination and the Board Diversity (continued)

The Company has adopted a director nomination policy (the “Director
Nomination Policy”) in accordance with the CG Code. The Director
Nomination Policy sets out the selection criteria and process in relation to
nomination and appointment of the Directors and the considerations for the
Board succession planning and aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements
of the Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee identifies candidates for directorship from
various channels, including but not limited to internal promotion, referral by
management of the Group and external recruitment agents. The Nomination
Committee may also receive nomination of candidates for election as Director(s)
from the Shareholder(s).

After the candidates are identified, the Nomination Committee will consider the
biographical information of the candidates and evaluate the candidates based
on certain criteria and make recommendation to the Board accordingly.

A range of factors are taken into consideration to identify a suitably qualified
candidate. These include:-

- character and integrity of the candidate;

- educational background, qualifications (including professional
qualifications), knowledge and experience of the candidate which are
relevant to the business and operation of the Group;

- time commitment of the candidate to the Group, taking into consideration
the other duties of the candidates; and

- the board diversity policy of the Company (the “Board Diversity
Policy”).

The Nomination Committee shall also monitor and review the implementation of
the Director Nomination Policy, as appropriate from time to time, and will report
to the Board annually. During the year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed
the Director Nomination Policy and considered it effective.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board
to the quality of its performance. The Board Diversity Policy sets out some
guidelines for the composition of the Board in order to achieve diversity in the
Board. The Company aims to have a diverse Board composition measurable by
objective criteria, including but not limited to gender, age, length of service in
the Group, educational background and professional qualifications. Given the
nature of the business of the Group, the Company considers that it is beneficial
for the Board to have some members with experience and qualification in the
information technology industry, in addition to members with financial and legal
qualification.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Nomination and the Board Diversity (continued)

The Board recognises the benefits of gender diversity. It has at least one female
representation on the Board since 2016. While the Board considers that gender
diversity may bring more diversified views at Board level, gender is not the
only factor to be taken into account in considering appointment to the member
of the Board. The Director’'s appointment is made on merits after considering
a number of factors, including the educational background, professional
experience, skills and knowledge of the candidate. Hence, the Board does not
set any particular targets on the minimum number of female representation on
the Board. The Board and the Nomination Committee will closely monitor and
review from time to time the composition of the Board, identify suitable female
candidates from senior management and will take into account the Board
Diversity Policy, including gender diversity, in considering appointment to the
member of the Board with an aim to maintaining female representation on the
Board.

As at 31 December 2024, gender ratio is approximately 24 (male):8 (female) in
workforce and approximately 7 (male):1 (female) in senior management, which
is regarded by the Board as satisfactory and in line with the industry that the
Group operates its businesses in. The Company has not set any objectives for
gender ratio in workforce or in senior management. Appointment is primarily
made on merits after considering a number of factors, including the educational
background, professional experience, skills and knowledge of the candidate.
The Group shall further strengthen the gender diversity in the workforce in the
future where appropriate.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board’s composition under major
diversified perspectives was summarised as follows:

EEE3Zt
Board Diversity

FEBITES

Non-Executive Director

BIUSFHITES

Independent Non-Executive Director

BT BITES

Designation Eéﬁgé‘%'ovre
1451
Gender
FheAER
Age Group

BRFES IR (%)

Length of Service (Year) With 1 year

HEAR

Educational Background

BEITHE P
Professional Industry

g3

Female

1E:25

1-2 years
I N N
H3EE

Postgraduate

6ETH
6-7 years

B8
Bachelor’s
degree

Rl

Finance

ITHE(

IT Hardware
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Nomination and the Board Diversity (continued)

The Company will continue to use its best efforts to maintain a diverse Board
measurable by objectives which are appropriate to the needs of the Company’s
business. Appointment to the member of the Board will be based on merit and
contribution a candidate may bring to the Board, having due regards for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

During the year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the membership,
structure and composition of the Board according to the Board Diversity Policy,
and is of the opinion that the structure of the Board is reasonable; gender
diversity has been achieved in respect of the Board; and the experiences and
skills of the Directors in various aspects and fields can enable the Company to
maintain high standard of operation.

Term of Appointment and Rotation

The current Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) are
appointed for an initial term of one year and should continue thereafter unless
and until terminated by either party by giving to the other not less than three
months’ notice in writing. Please refer to the paragraph headed “Directors’
Letters of Appointment” of the Directors’ Report for details on the service
contracts/letters of appointment of Directors who served the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2024.

Article 84(1) of the articles of association of the Company provides that at each
annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall
be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three
years. Accordingly, Mr. Chang Chuan-Wang and Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter will
retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company. They, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election pursuant to
Article 84(2) of the articles of association of the Company.

Article 83(3) of the articles of association of the Company provides that any
Director appointed by the Board either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board
or as an addition to the existing Board from time to time shall hold office until
the next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election. Accordingly, Mr. Hsia Ke-Ping and Mr. Lin Weiru who
were appointed by the Board during 2024 shall be subject to re-election by the
Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

The Nomination Committee has also recommended to the Board that the
above-mentioned Directors are eligible for re-election, upon evaluating the
respective Director against the selection criteria mentioned above and the
independence of Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Meetings, Committee Meetings and General Meetings

During the year, the Board held regular meetings at approximately bimonthly
intervals with participation by a majority of Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, 5 Board meetings, 4 Audit
Committee meetings, 3 Remuneration Committee meetings and 3 Nomination
Committee meetings were held. The attendance record of each Director at
meetings of the Board and the Board committees and at general meeting(s)
during the year are set out below:

HEBR GERY
Attendance/Number of meeting
RRBE Exg BKRZEYT §HHZEe RAZEEE
V- g g& & g&
Annual Audit Remuneration  Nomination
general Board Committee Committee Committee
meeting meeting meeting meeting meeting
HTES Executive Directors
BEAL T (FTEAEE) Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan 0N 5/5  N/AREM 3/3 3/3
(Chief Executive Officer)
BEREYE BEHYHE) Mr. Han Chun-Wei 0N 2/2 N/A FEH N/A T H N/A R H
(R-FE_ELH++HERE)  (Chief Financial Officer) (retired on
17 May 2024)
ERTES Non-executive Directors
REELE (FE) Mr. Chang Chuan-Wang (Chairman) 11 5/5 N/A FEH 3/3 N/A R H
BERTELE RZE-AF Mr. Hsia Ke-Ping (appointed on 17 May 2024)  N/A FEH 4/4 N/A FEH N/A T H N/A R H
BA+tHEZE)
WEELE (W ZF_[E+ZH M. Lin Weiru (appointed on N/A T EH 01 N/A R N/A T EH N/A R H
+—HEZHF) 11 December 2024)
BRELE (RZFZME Mr. Kao Chao Yang (retired on 17 May 2024) 0 0/2 N/A T EH N/A T N/A T H
A+ tHER)
BILEHTES Independent Non-executive Directors
BRIELE FHZEE2RE) Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter 11 5/5 4/4 3/3 3/3
(Chairman of Remuneration Committee)
BRh BRZEEELIE) Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling 0N 5/5 4/4 3/3 3/3
(Chairman of Audit Committee)
BENEE EHZE21E) Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben 0/1 5/5 4/4 3/3 3/3

(Chairman of Nomination Committee)

AEMEEEREEFTTECH S HfHE
EHEHEHSESR %D@EATEHSEEE%FE@%?C’

KRR ZHEBERMRHERREE ERESNH
EAHESURSEABRBARERERNZZRS
RIMERR R A AEEEE AR

The Company Secretary is responsible for keeping the minutes of Board
meetings, and those minutes are available for inspection at any reasonable time
on reasonable notice by the Directors.

The Company’s articles of association contain provisions requiring Directors to
abstain from voting and not to be counted towards the quorum at meetings for
the purposes of approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their
associates have a material interest.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Induction, Continuous Training and Professional
Development

The Company will organise an induction for newly appointed Directors in order
to ensure that they have a proper understanding of the Company’s operations
and business, basic knowledge on insider dealings and responsibilities of
directors pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable laws in Hong
Kong.

The Directors have participated in continuous professional development
by attending training courses or reading relevant materials on the topics
related to corporate governance and regulations, roles, functions, duties and
responsibilities of directors as well as the latest amendments to the GEM
Listing Rules.

FEFEERIEY

Type of continuous professional

- Directors development programmes
A AL Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan A, B
BERKEE Mr. Han Chun-Wei

(R = mEFH++ HEE) (retired on 17 May 2024) B
SREEAE Mr. Chang Chuan-Wang A, B
BR¥EhLE Mr. Hsia Ke-Ping A B
ME/BEE Mr. Lin Weiru A B
= RFESLE Mr. Kao Chao Yang

(R = mEFH++ HEE) (retired on 17 May 2024) B
W EE L Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter A B
EREEE Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling A B
WERSE Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben A, B
Myt Notes:
A: HEARESRESRENASE HETEH, A attending seminars/forums/workshops/conferences relevant to the business or

g% directors’ duties

B: RESETEARTER

&

B: reading regulatory updates
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BOARD COMMITTEES

To assist the Board in discharging its duties, the Board is supported by three
Board committees, namely the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”), the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.
The terms of reference for the above-mentioned committees are published on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has adopted written terms of reference in compliance
with code provisions D.3.3 and D.3.7 of the CG Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, members of the Audit Committee
were Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling (chairman), Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter and Mr.
Miao Benny Hua-ben, all of whom are independent non-executive Directors.
At the discretion of the Audit Committee, executive Directors and/or senior
management personnel overseeing the Group’s finance may be invited to
attend meetings of the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee normally meets
two times a year and also meets the external auditors twice without the
presence of the executive Directors. The Audit Committee held four meetings
during the year.

The duties of the Audit Committee include, among other things, reviewing
and monitoring the financial and internal control systems, risk management
system, audit plan and relationship with external auditors, arrangements to
enable employees of the Company to raise, in confidence, concerns about
possible improprieties in financial reporting and internal control or other matters
of the Company. The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the truth
and fairness of the Company’s financial statements, annual report, interim
report and quarterly reports, discusses with the external auditors the nature
and scope of audit before the audit commences as well as the findings and
recommendations raised by the auditors during and after completion of the
audit. The Audit Committee conducts an assessment, at least annually, of the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and financial controls system, risk
management system, scope of work and appointment of external auditors and
arrangements for employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties.
This allows the Board to monitor the Group’s overall financial position and to
protect its assets. The chairman of the Audit Committee summarises activities
of the Audit Committee, highlights issues arising therefrom, and prepares
recommendations for reporting to the Board after each meeting.

The external auditors perform independent statutory audit on the Group’s
financial statements and as part of the audit engagement, report to the Audit
Committee any significant deficiencies (if any) in the Group’s internal control
system which might come to their attention during the course of audit.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

The Audit Committee (continued)

During the year, the Audit Committee has reviewed the annual results of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and interim results of the Group
for six months ended 30 June 2024, including the consolidated statement
of financial position, consolidated statement of comprehensive income and
consolidated statement of changes in equity and related notes thereto. The
Audit Committee has also reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems. Please refer to the paragraph headed “RISK MANAGEMENT AND
INTERNAL CONTROL” below for details.

The Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has adopted written terms of reference in
compliance with code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, members of the Remuneration
Committee were Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter (chairman), Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling,
Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben (each an independent non-executive Director), Mr.
Chang Chuan-Wang (a non-executive Director) and Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan (an
executive Director). The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the
year.

The duties of the Remuneration Committee include, among other things,
formulating remuneration policy for the approval of the Board, making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy and
structure for all Directors and senior management of the Company, making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of the executive
Directors and senior management and reviewing and/or approving matters
relating to share schemes under Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee assessed the performance
of the executive Directors, approved the terms of the service contracts of
the executive Directors, and made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of the executive Directors and senior management.

Director are remunerated in accordance with individual’s responsibility and
performance. The prevailing market rates were also taken into account to
ensure competitiveness of the remuneration package. Other benefits such as
discretionary bonus were offered to the Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

The Remuneration Committee (continued)

Remuneration by band of the senior management (including two Directors) of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out below:

SREEEAK

Number of senior management
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The Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has adopted written terms of reference in
compliance with code provision B.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, members of the Nomination
Committee were Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben (chairman), Mr. Yeung Wai Hung
Peter, Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling (each an independent non-executive Director) and
Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan (an executive Director). The Nomination Committee
held two meetings during the year.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to implement the Board
Diversity Policy by reviewing the composition of the Board, identifying suitable
candidates for the appointment and re-election of Directors, assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors and monitoring the
succession planning of Directors.

During the year, the Nomination Committee evaluated the appointment of Mr.
Hsia Ke-Ping as a non-executive Director on 17 May 2024 and Mr. Lin Weiru as
a non-executive Director on 11 December 2024 and the Directors standing for
re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 17 May 2024
against the selection criteria mentioned in the paragraph headed “Nomination
and Board Diversity” above and made recommendations to the Board on the
same, and assessed the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors.
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DEALINGS IN SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required standard of dealings
set out in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Upon the Company’s
specific enquiry, each of the Directors has confirmed that during his/her
tenure as Director for the year ended 31 December 2024, he/she had fully
complied with the required standard of dealings and there was no event of non-
compliance.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in code provision
A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, continuous professional development of the Directors, the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, the Company’s compliance of the GEM Listing Rules, and the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for the design, implementation, monitoring
and review of the Group’s risk management, and internal control systems to
ensure their effectiveness and efficiency. The objective of internal control is
to safeguard the Company’s assets and ensure its accounting records are
properly maintained, so that all the financial information is accurate and reliable.
The Group has adopted a series of internal control policies and procedures
designed to provide reasonable assurance for achieving the objectives,
including effective and efficient operations, reliable financial reporting and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. All employees are committed
to continually enhancing the risk management measures to ensure that these
measures work in line with the growth of the Group’s business strategies and
are integrated into day-to-day operation of the business. The Board together
with the Audit Committee annually review its risk management and internal
control systems.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)

The objectives of the risk management and internal control of the Group
include:

establishing and constantly improving the risk management and internal
control systems;

o ensuring the Group’s risk management and internal control in compliance
with the GEM Listing Rules requirements;

o implementing the top-down approach and bottom-up approach that
covers every aspect of the business; and

o managing rather than eliminating the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and providing reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

In order to continually improve the Group’s internal control and risk
management system, the Group has established an ongoing process for
identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the Group.
The key procedures that the Group has established and implemented are
summarised as follows:

o segregating duties and functions of the respective operational
departments of the Group;

o reviewing systems and procedures to identify, measure, manage and
control risks; and

o updating the staff handbook, internal control manual and compliance
manual where there are changes to business environment or regulatory
guidelines.

The Board, by the top-down approach, has a particular focus on determining
the nature and extent of significant risks it is willing to take in achieving the
business strategies of the Group.

Each department of the Group is responsible for identifying its own risks
and designing, implementing and monitoring the relevant risk management
and internal control systems. The process involves the maintenance of staff
handbook, internal control manual and compliance manual setting out the
particulars of material risks together with the control measures as reported by
significant departments of the Group. This bottom-up approach is integrated
into day-to-day operation and complements the top-down strategic view by
identifying the principal risks and ensuring the significant risks to be considered
by the Board in determining the risk appetite and the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function. Such risks would
include, amongst others, material risks relating to the environment, society and
governance.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)
The diagram below summarises the complementary top-down and bottom-

up aspects of the integrated approach of the Group to risk management and
internal control.
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The Board conducted a review of the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems during the year under review, based on the
advice received from Premier Advisory Services Limited, an independent
internal control consultant, and the Audit Committee. The review covered the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
including financial, operational and compliance controls for the financial year.

The Board discussed with the Audit Committee on major findings and control
issues. The Board considered that the Group has implemented appropriate
procedures in safeguarding the Group’s assets and ensuring its accounting
records are properly maintained and in compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations. In addition, the Board also considered the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group’s accounting and financial reporting function.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)
Internal Audit

Code provision D.2.5 of the CG Code provides that the issuer should have an
internal audit function.

The Group does not have an internal audit department for performing internal
audit. During the year, the Board reviewed the situation of the Group and
considered that setting up an internal audit department within the Group is
not cost-effective given the relative small size of the Group. An internal audit
function generally carries out the analysis and independent appraisal of the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems. Despite the absence of such a department within the Group,
the internal audit function is performed by the Board with the advice from
Premier Advisory Services Limited, an independent internal control consultant,
and the Audit Committee. Please refer to the paragraphs above on the Board’s
review of the risk management and internal control systems for details.

The Board would review the implementation and effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems over the past year on an annual
basis. Having reviewed the risk management and internal control systems
during the year, the Board considers they are effective and adequate for the
Group.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY AND WHISTLEBLOWING
POLICY

The Group believes in fairness and honesty in business dealing and does not
tolerate corruption, bribery, money laundering and other fraudulent activities
in connection with any of its business operations. The Group strictly adheres
to relevant regulations and laws, such as the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
(Cap. 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Anti-money Laundering and
Counter-terrorist Financing Ordinance (Cap. 615 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

The Group requires employees to strictly conform to the code of business
ethics as stipulated in the employment contracts. Cases of conflict of interest
must be reported to the Group’s management. Employees who engage in
business operations and represent the Company’s professional image are
strictly prohibited from using business opportunities for personal interest or
benefit. Service contracts in different amounts are required to be examined and
approved by different levels of management.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group was not aware of any cases
of non-compliance with laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Group in relation to bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering.

The Group has adopted a whistleblowing policy to encourage and enable
employees and those who deal with the Group to raise serious concerns within
the Group. The policy allows employees to raise genuine concerns about
possible improprieties in financial reporting, compliance, and other malpractice,
at the earliest opportunity and in an appropriate way with Audit Committee,
without fear of reprisal.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF
INFORMATION

INSIDE

The Company has formulated and established the procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination of inside information. The Company
has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in securities of the Company by
the Directors in accordance with Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
Other employees of the Group who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Company are also subject to similar dealing restrictions.
The Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of confidential or inside
information or any use of such information for the advantage of himself/herself
or others. Any inside information and any information which may potentially
constitute inside information is promptly identified, assessed and escalated
to the Board and for the Board to decide on the need for disclosure. Inside
information and other information which is required to be disclosed pursuant
to the GEM Listing Rules will be announced on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company in due course.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS INSURANCE

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has arranged
insurance cover in respect of legal action against its Directors and officers.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
IN RESPECT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of the annual, half-yearly and quarterly reports, other inside
information announcements and other financial disclosures required under the
GEM Listing Rules and other statutory requirements.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities in preparing the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024. The
Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial statements
of the Company with a view to ensure that such financial statements reflect
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group. The Directors are
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern. Therefore, the Directors continue to adopt the going concern
approach in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

The auditors of the Company acknowledge their reporting responsibilities in the
independent auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements for the
reporting period.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2024, BDO was engaged as the Group’s
independent auditors. Apart from the provision of annual audit services, BDO
also provided non-audit services, including interim review services, to the
Company.

The remuneration paid/payable to BDO, the auditors, is set out below:

o
HKS$
BIZRT Audit services 780,000
JEBIZARTS Non-audit services
—BRTPEHTBEER - carrying out review on interim financial information 100,000
NEWE COMPANY SECRETARY
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Ms. Fung Po Ting was the Company Secretary and resigned on 4 October
2024. Ms. Fung Po Ting was a manager of the listing services department of
TMF Hong Kong Limited, responsible for providing corporate secretarial and
compliance services to listed companies. Ms. Fung Po Ting’s major contact
person was Mr. Tam Hoi Kwong, the financial controller of the Group, during the
period from 1 January 2024 to 3 October 2024. Mr. Tam Hoi Kwong has been
appointed as the Company Secretary with effect from 4 October 2024. He was
an employee of the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s
affairs.

Please refer to the section headed “PROFILE OF DIRECTORS, COMPANY
SECRETARY AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT” for Mr. Tam Hoi Kwong’s
biographic details.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Both Mr. Tam Hoi Kwong and Ms.
Fung Po Ting undertook not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
in compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is
proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings, including
the re-election of individual Directors. Save as provided under the GEM Listing
Rules, resolutions put to vote at the general meetings of the Company (other
than purely administrative and procedural matters) are taken by poll and poll
results are posted on the respective websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange after the general meetings. Notice of the general meetings, annual/
interim/quarterly reports and circulars have been sent to the Shareholders in
compliance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Convening an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the articles of association of the Company,
extraordinary general meetings of the Company shall be called on the
requisition of any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company, and such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting enquiries to the Board

To ensure effective communication between the Board and the Shareholders,
the Company has adopted a Shareholders’ communication policy (the “Policy”)
whereby communications are mainly conducted through general meetings,
including annual general meetings, the Company’s financial reports (annual,
interim and quarterly reports), and its corporate communications and other
corporate publications on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company’s
information to the extent that such information is publicly available. Any such
questions shall be first directed to the Company Secretary at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong at 31/F, Tower Two, Times Square,
1 Matheson Street, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. The Company Secretary shall
forward enquiries and concerns received to the Board and/or its committee to,
where appropriate, answer the same.

Putting forward proposals at general meetings

The number of Shareholders necessary for putting forward a proposal at a
general meeting shall be any number of Shareholders representing not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings on the date of the request. The proposal shall be directed to
the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong at 31/F, Tower Two, Times Square, 1 Matheson Street, Causeway Bay,
Hong Kong.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency is a key
to enhancing investor relations. It is committed to a policy of open and timely
disclosure of corporate information to its Shareholders and investing public.
The Company updates its Shareholders on its latest business developments
and financial performance through its annual and interim reports. The corporate
website of the Company has provided an effective communication platform to
the public and the Shareholders.

In addition, the annual general meeting of the Company is an important
channel for regular face-to-face communications between the Board and the
Shareholders. It provides a platform where Shareholders may communicate
their views on various matters affecting the Company and the Board may
solicit and understand the views of Shareholders and stakeholders. Directors
are encouraged to attend the annual general meetings. Mr. Chang Chuan-
Wang (chairman of the Board and non-executive Director) and Mr. Yeung Wai
Hung Peter (independent non-executive Director, chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, member of the Audit Committee and member of the Nomination
Committee) attended the annual general meeting of the Company held on 17
May 2024. BDO Limited, the external auditor, also attended the said annual
general meeting.

Based on above, the Company considers the above Policy by way of regular
updates on the business and financial information of the Group through the
publication of annual and interim reports and face-to-face communications at
annual general meetings are effective and adequate.

Constitutional Documents

During the year, there is no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents.
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SHAREHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

Shareholding

Company as at 31 December 2024 was as follows:—

Based on the information available to the Board, the shareholding of the

HE

R R &8 =R e

Approximate

Number of Percentage of

Shares Held Shareholding

HEBEMZER Parties associated with Hon Hai 11,853,524 45.52%

EMERAERMZES Parties associated with Mr. Lin Weiru 2,724,200 10.46%

Hith Others 11,461,059 44.02%

et Total 26,038,783 100.00%
NREBFRE Public Float

RBARBDARAIBZEMNRBESMAA  REER
BE RRBEFTERGEM E AR RIS 11.231%F

MEZ26BNRTFRE ©

—EChEBERFAN

HEA
Date

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report, the Company

maintained its public float of not less than 25% as required under Rule 11.23 of

the GEM Listing Rules.
Important Shareholders’ Dates for 2025

B

Event

KREBEAEHHAALR218
Not less than 21 days of the
date of annual general meeting
KRERBFAEHRAMEZEXHE
KREBEFASHH (BEFEEEMA)
3 business days before the date of
annual general meeting to the
date of annual general meeting
(both days inclusive)
NZZE_HEB=1+HHZH
On or before 30 June 2025
RIZ2ZAFNB=+HZZA
On or before 30 August 2025

HEERREEFRERS
Issue of notice convening the annual general meeting

KRRBFEAGEEMHERNBRELFER

Book closure days for annual general meeting

KRRBERS

Annual general meeting
BEHBEE_S_ASANA=THIEANEAZHBEES

Release of interim results for the six months ending 30 June 2025
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PREAMBLE

CircuTech International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”, “we” or “us”) (Stock code: 8051) are
pleased to present its effort on environmental, social and governance (“ESG”)
to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”). Pursuant to the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Code” (the “ESG Reporting
Code”) set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“SEHK”), this report describes
the Company’s policies that were designed to fulfil the Company’s obligations
with respect to sustainable development and social responsibilities areas in
2024. The board (the “Board”) of directors (“Directors”) of the Company, who
are ultimately responsible for leading the Group’s ESG works by overseeing
the management in the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems to cope with environmental
challenges.

Reporting Period

This report outlines the ESG performance and approach of the Group, as
well as the Group’s significant environmental and social impact during the
period spanning from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (the “Reporting
Period”).

Reporting Scope and Boundary

This ESG report (the “Report”) presents an annual update of the Group’s
business activities in the sales and distribution of IT products, and the provision
of repairs and other service support of IT products. Unless otherwise specified,
the key performance index calculation of the environmental aspect covers
the Group’s operations in Hong Kong and Australia. Quantitative disclosures
in relation to our offices in Taiwan, the People’s Republic of China, the
Netherlands, and the United States of America (the “USA”) are excluded from
this report due to either a relatively small environmental footprint or under-
establishment. While this report only covers significant partial operations of the
Group, and the Group aims to upgrade its internal data collection procedures
and gradually expand the scope of the disclosure in future reports when
appropriate.
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PREAMBLE (continued)

Reporting Basis and Principles

This Report is prepared in accordance with the “comply or explain” requirement
and the four reporting principles of the ESG Reporting Code:

“Materiality” Principle:

The Group determines material ESG issues by stakeholder engagement and
materiality assessment.

“Quantitative” Principle:

Information is presented with quantitative measures, whenever feasible,
including information on the standards, methodologies, assumptions used and
provision of comparative data.

“Balance” Principle:

The Report provides comprehensive disclosure of the Group’s ESG
performance based on objective facts. Both achievements and challenges of
the Group are identified in the Report.

“Consistency” Principle:

The Report uses consistent methodologies for meaningful comparisons unless
improvements in methodology are identified.

Review and Approval

The information in this Report is derived from the Group’s official documents
and statistical data, as well as the integration and summary of monitoring,
management and operational information provided by major subsidiaries of the
Group. The Board acknowledges its responsibility to ensure the accuracy and
completeness of the Report. To the best of their knowledge, the Report has
addressed all material issues and provides a fair representation of the Group’s
ESG performance in 2024.
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PREAMBLE (continued)
Feedback

The Report is available in the “Financial Statements/Environmental, Social and
Governance Information” category of the SEHK website. We welcome readers
to provide feedback on this Report for any sustainability initiatives. Please
share your views with us by email to ir@circutech.com. Your comments will be
conducive for us to further refine this Report and enhance the Group’s ESG
performance.

Board Statement

In the face of increasing risks brought by climate change, we have been actively
taking on this challenge. Throughout the year, we have been strictly abiding
by the latest ESG requirements of the SEHK and have been strengthening
our dedication to integrate ESG principles into our corporate culture and
operational strategies.

Since July 2020, SEHK's ESG Reporting Guide has incorporated elements
of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (“TCFD”)
recommendations. In light of the direction towards mandatory TCFD-aligned
climate-related disclosures by 2025, we have established a comprehensive
governance framework. The Board is tasked with overseeing climate-related
risks and opportunities and regular reviews and adjusts our ESG strategy. We
have integrated internal and external resources within the Group to enhance
our resilience in addressing climate change, which clearly demonstrates our
unwavering determination to mitigate climate-related risks.

In terms of our business operations, we are committed to aligning with
sustainable and responsible practices. We have taken a significant step
forward in the circular economy. We distribute renowned third-party IT products
which are mainly used or refurbished. Additionally, we develop the repairs
and service support segment to extend the lifespan of products. This not only
helps us contribute to a more sustainable planet but also provides additional
value to our customers. By investing in these recycling initiatives, we are not
only strengthening our position in “Green Technology” but also enhancing
our corporate reputation. This focus on the circular economy reflects our
commitment to both sustainability and innovation, which is in line with the
requirements of the ESG Reporting Code.

Board’s Oversight of ESG Issues

The Board endorses the Group’s commitments to ESG responsibility and
assumes full responsibility for ESG strategies and reporting. The Board reviews
the ESG performance of the Group annually, identifies, evaluates, and manages
important matters related to environmental protection, social responsibility, and
governance.
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PREAMBLE (continued)
ESG Working Group

In charge of assessing and determining the ESG risk exposure, the
management also ensures the Group establishes appropriate and effective ESG
risk management and internal control systems and reports to the Board the
risks and opportunities related to ESG.

ESG Management Approach

Through various communication channels, the Group engages with key
stakeholders, enabling the Group to manage business implications and make
sensible decisions. Through industry benchmarking, material ESG criteria are
identified, critical areas are prioritized through stakeholder engagement, and
the issues are verified through active communications with management and
stakeholders. With a better understanding of stakeholder attention to each
ESG issue, the Group develops more comprehensive sustainable development
planning. The identified material ESG areas are covered in the “Materiality
Assessment” section of this Report.

Review of ESG-related Goals and Targets

The Board is responsible for the Group’s ESG strategies and reporting, as
well as assessing and determining the Group’s associated ESG matters. The
Board sets strategic environmental goals and targets to motivate the Group for
better performance. ESG performance is measured, reviewed, and reported
regularly to management for continuous improvement. Throughout this process,
the Board closely follows the four core pillars of governance, strategy, risk
management, and metrics and targets recommended by the TCFD to carry out
its work.

Meanwhile, it fully considers factors such as the company culture and the
capabilities of existing committees to determine the appropriate governance
structure. It adheres to strict norms regarding disclosure. Facing increasingly
strict regulatory requirements, particularly climate-related disclosures in line
with the TCFD, the Board actively responds and guides the Company in
preparing adequately for climate information disclosure.
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PREAMBLE (continued)

Engagement with Stakeholders

The Group believes that understanding the views of its stakeholders lays a solid
foundation for the long-term growth and success of the Group. Therefore, we
have committed ourselves to in-depth communication with internal and external
stakeholders and proactively present our updated operational condition to them
through various channels. We integrate their opinions with our daily operational

ERERMAHMZRET  FTRIRAEBEFMHESL  decisions, striving to balance the interests of the parties and embed valuable
Bo stakeholder input into our strategy. The table below shows a list of the Group’s
stakeholders.
i EHER BEFME BEERE
Stakeholder Groups Specific Stakeholder Communication Channel
BEE o G2 o NEIHIL
Investors e Shareholders e Corporate website
s BUKRES e FEKRFHUBRSE
e Potential investors e Annual and interim financial report
e REBFARE
e Annual general meetings
o WE LTHEN
e Disclosure of listed information
BE s BIREEE o HIREB
Employees e Senior management e Direct communication
e BT o W EE/NEREH
e Staff * Independent focus groups and interviews
e BEFiT e PEHEFEMEH
e Electronics craftsmen e Corporate social responsibility activities
s BEEREE o EHARIRFTM(L
e Potential recruits e Regular performance assessment
o BEIlKHNE
e Training and seminars
=R e BX o BREFHE
Customers e Buyers e Customers assessment
s AR s XRHELE
e Ultimate users e Designated customer hotline
o tHATUERS
e Social media
HEER, AEE o HAER o HEERT(L
Suppliers/Contractors e Suppliers e Suppliers’ assessment
o BUER e HEED
® Manufacturers e Quality review

& o DEIKEMtE M o HERB
Community e National and local community organizations e Charitable donations
o EREH
e \/olunteering activities
BT o [ Bt BT o ZEEXR
Government e National and local governments e Written correspondence
o BREWE e EERER—MIRE
e Regulators e Statutory reports and general disclosures
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PREAMBLE (continued)

Materiality Assessment

To comprehend stakeholders’ expectations and viewpoints on ESG issues, the
Group carried out an annual materiality assessment within the Group and its
stakeholders. The Group uses the following process to evaluate, prioritize, and
manage material ESG-related issues:

Step 1: Identification

In accordance with disclosure requirements set out in the ESG Reporting Code
and based on its business characteristics and peer benchmarking, the Group
identified the following issues.

Step 2: Prioritization

The management of the Group collects feedback from stakeholders on daily
operations.

The management of the Group considers the materiality to stakeholders and
materiality to business in prioritizing the issues.

Step 3: Validation

The materiality assessment result was reviewed and confirmed by the Board;
the issues with higher priority were identified as material issues.

Below is a materiality matrix plotted to portray the perception of each
ESG issue towards the sustainable development of the Group against the
perspectives of other stakeholder groups. With the identified material ESG
aspects, we strive to ensure proper measures on significant issues are
addressed adequately throughout our business activities.
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Dedicated Workforce
BERREREZE
Occupational Health and Safety
E1EIEA

Employment Practices

EBEFIKRER

Employee Training and Development

LB ANITIESM

Diverse and Inclusive Workplace

BE#H M@

Employee Remuneration and Benefits
REANE (BT K5&H%T)

Protecting Human Rights (Child and Forced Labour)

fREEHIK
Protecting the Planet

8% U B HE A £

Air and Emissions Control
BREE BER KEEEY

Resource Management (Energy, Water and Waste)
HEE®E

Project Management

RIZTTE)

Climate Action

M e B AR

Logistics and Packaging Efficiency

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

22

23

24

BEEZEEE

Responsible Value Chain

BERRATZREER

Transparent and Fair Procurement Practices
R&E5

Anti-Corruption

RERBIBELRE

Confidentiality and Data Privacy
EmKkRBEREIE

Product and Service Quality Management
ERREE

Customer Satisfaction

EEIRT

Business Ethics

HEBRRIEEE

Supplier Chain Environmental Impact
HEBRSEH2HR

Supplier and Subcontractor Engagement
TrEEARER

Corporate Governance and Compliance
HEBESEEmZIRERTEET

Supplier and Subcontractor’s Environmental and Social

Responsibility

TEAR
Corporate Citizen

HEREKRSH

Community Investment and Engagement
CEHEMMEZZE

Operational Impact on Local Communities
RAESS SRR

Caring the Vulnerable
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ENVIRONMENT

The Group is committed to conducting its business operations sustainably and
responsibly, attaching more significance to ESG considerations to guarantee its
long-term prosperity and stability.

Emissions

The Group is acutely aware of its responsibilities as a corporate citizen.
Recognizing that environmental stewardship and social responsibility are
integral to sustainable business success, we are committed to minimizing the
environmental footprint of our operations while fostering financial growth.

Although our day-to-day operations do not cause substantial environmental
impacts, we recognize the potential hazards associated with certain processes.
For instance, any activities that generate hazardous waste, like manufacturing
IT products, are outsourced to authorized and reliable partners. These partners
have the expertise and facilities to handle such waste in an environmentally
friendly and compliant manner.

The Group’s greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions primarily stem from using
electricity for lighting, air conditioning, and office equipment. We are acutely
aware of this and are continuously taking proactive steps. We actively monitor
and manage the environmental implications of all our operations. We aim
to minimize emissions to the greatest extent feasible by improving energy
efficiency, adopting more sustainable technologies, and exploring renewable
energy sources.

The Group has long incorporated environmental sustainability into business
operations. The management regularly monitors ecological performance
to ensure alignment with our green goals. Before procuring materials and
equipment, the Group conducts a comprehensive assessment. We carefully
evaluate the potential environmental harm and the energy-saving capabilities
of the items under consideration. This practice allows us to make decisions
prioritizing sustainability without sacrificing operational efficiency. Within the
Group’s offices, we have implemented several energy-conservation measures.
For instance, the indoor temperature settings and the running time of the air-
conditioning systems are pre-determined and optimized. These adjustments
are made to reduce energy consumption and minimize carbon emissions.
Additionally, we encourage our employees to embrace virtual meetings and
conferences whenever possible. By doing so, we significantly reduce business
travel, reduce our carbon footprint, and enhance overall work efficiency.

Since our business operations do not involve industrial-scale activities
or significant vehicle usage, we have no record of stationary or mobile
combustion emissions. The primary source of the Group’s GHG emissions is
electricity consumption for office use. This consumption leads to indirect GHG
emissions, which are a by-product of the electricity generation process from
the power sources we purchase. Despite the relatively low-impact nature of
our operations, we remain committed to continuous improvement. We will keep
exploring and implementing new strategies to further reduce our environmental
footprint and contribute to a more sustainable future.
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B (& Emissions (continued)
R EREHK Indirect GHG Emissions
==X v
—atkEE ZEIME =
Unit (CO2ze) 2024 2023
AR B e (8852) Energy indirect emissions (Scope 2)
E R Electricity consumed F 5 kg 17,156.90 16,749.33
BE Intensity T/ EE 612.75 761.33
kg/employee
HahRgiEHEg (85853) Other indirect emissions (Scope 3)
BEENHIEE ZER Paper waste disposed at landfills T 5 kg 559.95 911.61
B EREE ZHERY Emissions from business travel F 5 kg 1,914.00 2,132.50
BE Intensity TR/ EE 88.36 138.37
kg/employee
BEYEE Waste Management

EEBMAEET AEREELEEZTERERY)
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During daily office operations, the Group generates only non-hazardous solid
waste, primarily composed of domestic waste and paper. Given the relatively
small volume of non-hazardous waste it produces, the property management
undertakes responsibility for its management and processing. As a result,
relevant Key Performance Indicators (‘KPIs”) are not applicable.

The Group has taken several proactive steps to minimize the further generation
of non-hazardous waste. Firstly, a professional cleaning contractor has been
engaged in recycling sensitive paper documents. This ensures the proper
disposal of confidential information and promotes paper recycling. Additionally,
in-office recycling has been enhanced. Designated recycled boxes are
strategically placed throughout the offices for the separate collection of paper
waste, plastic bottles, and aluminum cans. This separation at the source
simplifies the recycling process and increases the likelihood of successful
recycling.

Recognizing the environmental impact of office paper usage on forestry
resources, the Group has vigorously promoted a “Reduce, Reuse, and Recycle”
policy to conserve paper.

Reduce: The Group encourages its staff to embrace a digital-first approach.
Employees are urged to read electronic files instead of printing documents
whenever possible. When printing is inevitable, double-sided printing is
mandatory. To support this, the Group has also invested in upgrading its
office software to make viewing and annotating electronic documents more
convenient. Meanwhile, when purchasing printers, the Group considers the
integration of device functions and reduces the purchase of unnecessary
equipment. The printer combines printing, scanning, copying, and faxing
functions. This approach reduces the floor space occupied by the equipment
and cuts down on energy consumption.

Annual Report 2024 61



RIB-HERERERS

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

IRIE @
BENEE (4)

SRER A EMARER  RPIET I R
EREMTREEABNERR RMBBERMER
RNER ZBETHERZFMRITENER LI
FEBRTRMFE BT RFRABIFEREDAE M
FFEENHNEYAS-

B HMERERBNEE KRN EOW R -
BAEMAEARBEFEERER BUBFENRER
RoAERTTHEERBHLCRSIEBHSE BEZ
2R RimRLIRFRN A E K-

PRz LA RARERN > REBE TR KHAN-NA A5
MAZE - ZBR VI FEEER A BANIRIE
WEE UAENAEREECTEELERM:.

ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Waste Management (continued)

Reuse: To facilitate paper use, boxes are placed beside printers and
photocopies to collect single-sided used papers. Employees are incentivized to
use these papers for draft printing through internal communication and small
rewards. Moreover, the Group has started a program where employees can
request paper boxes for storage purposes rather than purchasing new storage
containers.

Recycle: The recycling of used ink and toner cartridges from printers has been
systematized. A straightforward collection process has been established with
specific collection points within the office. The Group also collaborates with
certified recycling partners to ensure that these cartridges are recycled in an
environmentally friendly manner.

Beyond these paper-saving initiatives, the Group has incorporated KHAN-NA
paper into its operations. This unique type of sustainable fiber helps reduce
the environmental impact of paper use and contributes to the global effort to
mitigate climate change.

FFELEZEEY Wastes Generated
B —EFEmE —E=HF
Unit 2024 2023
HoRFEMA Paper usage MA tonnes 0.12 0.19
HRIFEARE Paper usage intensity == 0.004 0.0086

tonnes/employee
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ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Use of Resources

The Group’s business operations are structured in a way that the energy,
power, and water usage within its offices is inherently low impact. Our office
activities do not place a heavy burden on energy resources or water suppliers.
This aligns with our commitment to environmental sustainability under the ESG
framework as we strive to minimize our ecological footprint. In our Hong Kong
and Australia office, water consumption is negligible; the building management
system is responsible for water management in the building where our office
is located. Due to the complex nature of the building-wide water management
infrastructure and our office’s minimal individual usage, it is impossible to
segregate and retrieve the specific water consumption data for our office.
As a result, we are unable to disclose the relevant KPIs related to water
consumption at this time.

Given the consistently low water usage, we have not yet set a specific water-
efficiency target. However, this does not mean we are complacent. We
continuously explore opportunities to enhance our water conservation efforts
and will establish appropriate targets when the situation allows. During the
Reporting Period, we did not encounter any difficulties in accessing water that
meets our office’s requirements. This indicates the reliability of our local water
supply systems and reflects our relatively stable water-related ESG situation.
We remain committed to monitoring and improving our water-related practices
in line with broader ESG goals.

The Group is deeply committed to environmental stewardship, actively
cultivating an eco-friendly work environment to safeguard natural resources.
Regarding energy conservation, we maintain the air-conditioning at 25 degrees
Celsius and programmed timer is set to turn it off outside office hours. We also
maximize the use of natural light and encourage employees to switch off lights
and electrical devices when not in use. Regarding office supplies, we promote
electronic document handling. Double-sided printing is recommended when
paper use is inevitable, except for formal and confidential documents.

To further reduce our carbon footprint, we’ve installed video-conference
systems in offices. This not only cuts down on business travel emissions
but also boosts communication efficiency. Through these efforts, we aim
to minimize our environmental impact and lead by example in sustainable
business operations.
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ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Use of Resources (continued)

BETRFEHE Energy Consumption
=R} T WmE B F
Unit 2024 2023
fiERERFER Indirect energy consumption
FrEg s Purchased electricity JEFLEF MWh 27.19 42.95
BnE Intensity KEF S 0.97 1.95
MWh/employee

AERBTUZZZ-MEHREE (ME) NENEA
KEPBEE FELFARERERUERIESI0%H
BER-SBEREAMNEREAMXER ~EEEK
M EBEREHENBR D BERAKRERERSE KM
WEEASRETHTEE ZSHEHNNIBHINF
NWEREMER  BARUFPENTES HEMBE
1R WA B FEARRIEHER

The Group also established a five-year target energy-use efficiency target of
reducing energy use by 10% based on financial year (‘FY”) 2021 levels for
electricity. To achieve our energy-use efficiency target, the Group has adopted
the Reduce, Replace and Reuse approach, in line with national initiatives. Our
management personnel will carry out routine inspections. These checks are
essential for tracking our progress, ensuring that we stay on course to achieve
our energy-saving goal and contribute to a more sustainable future.

R Bz
Issue Target
AERBETEN RIBIRFA BERBHN (BB2K3) BE RELEEZACRESEN) B2 —HER

B4R 10% ©
GHG Emissions

By 2026, the intensity of GHG emissions (Scope 2 & 3) by COz2e per employee will be reduced by

10% compared to a FY2021 baseline.

BEEY)
Waste
baseline.

RERSHAB 2EENEZEREFTHRIOEREM
o AT » HMAIRAEEVSHEN EEHIE - KB B
EEBBEHTHRECENESZMN TR NRERK
BENERBRERRF  LLBUER RRMAEHEE
EtERREEGEMEER ARMEEANIERE
EEAR -
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RIEZARF BEVMEARER S —UFAERAN10%-
By 2026, the waste generation intensity will be reduced by 10% compared to the FY2021

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s trading products required only
a negligible quantity of packaging materials. However, we were unable to
obtain the corresponding quantitative data. Recognizing the importance of
accurate data in assessing our environmental impact, we are committed to
enhancing our data collection process in this area in the upcoming years.
This improvement will enable us to monitor and manage our use of packaging
materials better, aligning with our broader environmental stewardship goals.
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ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Environment and Natural Resources

The Group places a high premium on environmentally friendly operations and
is committed to reducing its impact on the environment and natural resources
to the greatest extent possible. Given the nature of our business operations,
the Group does not directly produce industrial pollutants. Moreover, we have
not detected any significant generation of either hazardous or non-hazardous
waste. As of 31 December 2024, the Group has not been aware of any
material non-compliance cases about the applicable laws and regulations on
environmental protection concerning air quality, greenhouse gas emissions,
water and land discharges, as well as the generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.

Climate Change

The Group highly emphasizes the urgency of climate risk management. The
Group has adopted the TCFD framework to safeguard a sustainable homeland.
The four major elements of governance, strategy, risk management, and
metrics & targets transparently disclose the management of the status of the
Group’s key climate risks and opportunities.

Governance

The Board holds regular meetings to discuss ESG-related topics, oversees
the formulation of goals related to climate-related risks and opportunities, and
monitors the progress in achieving these goals. The management is responsible
for coordinating and communicating with internal and external stakeholders
regarding climate issues, determining countermeasures for climate problems,
formulating implementation strategies, and classifying and evaluating the
importance of climate-related risks and problems.

Strategy
The Group continuously reviews our climate strategy and identifies climate-

related risks and opportunities over short-term, medium-term, and long-term
horizons through scenario analysis
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ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Climate Change (continued)

BB B 1 & BB B (Rl R
Risk and Opportunity Drivers

BEMBRER

Potential Financial Impacts

=MRIEMERR R
Acute and Chronic Physical Risks

RIESLERME - KKEMHERRSE
HELE XL EBEEEMe
Increased frequency and severity of
extreme weather events, such as
typhoons and floods, due to climate
change.

FIRR LT
Rising mean temperatures.

FEBPEKER KRR
Varying precipitation and weather
patterns.

CRAREBCERREM ML ERE -
Ecosystem changes leading to raw
material supply problems.
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HEEEEZTEMEW AR -
Reduced revenue due to the impact on
employees’ production capacity.

BERBIGRREMHEM M EREEBIRNIE
K2 EBREEMAIEN-

Increased operating and production costs to
repair damage or loss of properties and assets
due to extreme weather events.

REMNEEAGSHFE THRREMESERER
0 o

Increased operating costs to create a
comfortable working environment for our
employees.

Hfast A EBEERERE ZEMEUWAR
o

Reduced revenue due to the anticipated effect
on the Group’s production capacity and supply
chain.

BRI R EBEEK RN -
Increased procurement costs affect production
and profits.
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ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Climate Change (continued)

R ARREEREEER BEMBEE
Type Risk and Opportunity Drivers Potential Financial Impacts
B R ER 1. HTEEMBSIARER- BB A o

Policy and Legal

Introduction of carbon pricing in
operating markets.

2. WEREFEEERWEER-
Tightened energy efficiency requirement
for electronic appliances.

3. BEEREZAFBREREZERIEM-
Increased demand for stricter public
disclosure requirements.

4. RBEEAHEEMEIZGM-
Increased uncertainty in climate
policies.

5. HEREMMIERIEFRI-
The need for investment in carbon
capture and storage technologies.

Increased costs for procurement practices.

BREZEMe

Increased expenditures for compliance.

HARBAEERBIRS E Qe R EU A Y
fibe

Increased revenue by leveraging the Group’s
service to enhance the energy efficiency of
products.

BMEAEEmEZEER-
Increased capital investment to meet these
requirements.

WEREZEMERZENMBZERBE
file

More resources are needed to collect the
required information to meet these new
requirements.

ZHtMERERSIGEREZENIRA-
Higher potential to attract green investments to
diverse financing sources.

BRMEAIEM HWREB N K -THEARR
B R &S E B BRIE M -

Increased compliance costs, high pressure
for technological transformation, restricted
market access, and increased operational and
investment risks.

AR R ARR BRI EE R E R EIE
e

High-cost, immature technology with uncertain
effects, increasing investment risks.

Annual Report 2024 67



RIB-HERERERS

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

IRIE @

RIZREE (&

ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Climate Change (continued)

byl AR ERSER BEMBEE
Type Risk and Opportunity Drivers Potential Financial Impacts
mEREE BEEAMEREERAZECZRFTAER ARMEFmEEEMERZEM.

Market and Reputation

HpESE
Supply Chain

1 1l e BE TR R =
Technology and Energy Efficiency

& ISR FEEAEEM]
Uncertainty in market signals with
increasing awareness of climate-related
issues.

KAELRBREERD -
Growing adoption of circular economy
principles.

BERAMAERRBMOEHR2EL
el

Potential reputational risk due to
customer dissatisfaction with the
Group’s services.

i

REHEREBREZ T
Diversified operations and sourcing
regions.

AIREBERBR B L5k
Limited resource availability and higher
pricing.

BB M S 58 R SR B R I o
The growing demand for green supply
chains.

DUERR B R mEN IR B RTS o
Substitution of existing services with
low-carbon alternatives.

RAE S BRI o
Increased adoption of green and low-
carbon technologies.

EAERMTESE ©
The progress of energy storage
technologies.
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Increased expenditures to stay updated with the
current market trend.

HAEFHRNEREDRRRE 2 mREMmERAE
e

Increased revenue due to customer satisfaction
of the Group’s products and services.

RS R EEmMEUR AL
Increased revenue due to the shift in market
preference.

RSB REEEMERA R
Reduced revenue due to the shift in market
preference.

BEZWAREREHEEREZ ZTIERIERE.
Stabilised revenue stream with diversified climate
impacts on the supply chain.

ER] 42 % 5 2 85 T G0 0 A LA 0 1
Increased costs for procurement practices due to
high energy costs.

etk B HERARE RIGMBA °
Meeting the requirements of green supply chains
and increasing revenue.

HARBESIEMOEEREEAENEER 2B
EmMER WA R e

Reduced revenue as increased service costs may
urge customers to switch to cheaper options.

ZBRESERMEREEERAE -
Reduced operating costs with higher energy
efficiency.

BIEEREE R EEAMAE -
Optimizing energy management and reducing
costs.
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ENVIRONMENT (continued)
Climate Change (continued)
Risk Management

The designated management personnel are responsible for organizing and
coordinating relevant units and departments to conduct risk identification
and assessment. They integrate a list of the Group’s climate-related risk and
opportunity topics and hold training and identification meetings. Based on
the levels of various risk issues and the function of different units, the Group
constructs a hierarchical risk-management process. The Group improves
the overall climate-related risk-management process according to different
management levels and the impact of risk issues.

Meanwhile, the Group communicates with stakeholders further and conducts
comprehensive analyses to summarize the Group’s major climate-related risks
and opportunities, existing achievements, and corresponding countermeasures.
After the final identification results are reviewed by senior management, the
major climate-related risks and opportunities are incorporated into the Group’s
risk control and contingency procedures.

Metrics and Targets
In pursuing environmental sustainability and responding to the global call for
climate action, we are meticulously developing a robust set of goals and targets

with the overarching aim of significantly reducing energy consumption and GHG
emissions, ultimately striving to achieve net-zero emissions.
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SOCIETY

Employment

Employees are the Group’s most valuable assets, and the business’s success
depends on the Group’s workers. We firmly believe that employees serve as the
primary propellers of corporate growth. Their creativity and dedication fuel the
Group’s continuous innovation, enabling us to adapt more effectively to new
challenges, such as climate-related risks. Their insights and efforts are crucial
in implementing our strategies to enhance risk resilience and ensure sustainable
business development.

The Group places high regard on the compliance of relevant employment
laws and regulations relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare in the jurisdictions in which it
operates, including but not limited to laws of Hong Kong including the Race
Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 602), the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57),
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485), the Minimum
Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608); the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China;
the Fair Work Act 2009 of Australia; and the Labour Standards Act of Japan,
and the relevant administrative rules and measures are strictly enforced. The
Employee Handbook clearly states the guidelines relating to employment,
labour relations, employees’ remuneration and welfare to protect the rights of
employees.

For the FY2024, the Group has not identified any non-compliance with
laws, regulations, and policies governing employment and labour practices.
These regulations are of utmost importance, and any non-compliance could
substantially impact the Group. We are confident that our employment and
labor-related operations are in full alignment with all relevant requirements,
ensuring a fair and legal working environment for all our employees.
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& (& Employment (continued)
HE_Z_WE+_"_B=+—H xEEEEHE14 As of 31 December 2024, the Group had a total workforce consisting of 14 full-

Z22RRISEREBET MBEE_Z _=F+_"_H time and 18 part-time employees. In comparison, as of 31 December 2023, the
—t+—B > AEEBBE2TLERKMSHREBMETET  Group has 27 full-time and 5 part-time employees. The breakdown of the staff

BEAREN T - is as follows:
ET#H% Total Workforce
—E-mE —E-=
2024 2023
A& A&
No. of People’ No. of People
¥R & 5 By Gender
B4 Male 22 22
pegcs Female 10 10
ERERNB S By Age Group
185% £2305% 18-30 years old 7 -
315 E405% 31-40 years old 6 13
4155 E505% 41-50 years old 13 13
5158 E£605% 51-60 years old 2 3
60T A £ Over 60 years old 4 3
IR &3 o By Geographical Region
58 Hong Kong 11 18
FEE N RHME The People’s Republic of China 3 =
=0 Taiwan - 5
BN Australia 17 8
H7 Japan 1 1
BESHENE S By Employee Category
BHREEAE Senior management 7 8
ZEET General 25 24
L THEEENGEAEEARES - PEAREME R The employee data shown above includes the Group’s staff in Hong Kong, The
RLY4=P:N=1]= W People’s Republic of China, Australia and Japan.
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BiE (& Employment (continued)
ESTEE Employee Turnover Rate

—E-mE —E-=x

2024 2023

gkl E b By Gender
B Male 32% 6%
peg s Female 30% 0%
BERERNS D By Age Group
185% £2305% 18-30 years old 43% 0%
31 E405% 31-40 years old 83% 0%
4155 E505% 41-50 years old 8% 0%
5158 E£605% 51-60 years old 50% 0%
60 LA £ Over 60 years old - 6%
IR E i 2 By Geographical Region
58 Hong Kong 36% 6%
B3 Overseas 29% 0%
¥ T#R| Labour Standards

FERSEERAERBR - HRMARYRAETIESPR
EREIRRBRBFINUSBEESRE SRR
RABERRETEEEDE7E(RE R R (A
BIRAR(EAEFE (T RE) 1o HAmE
STEMBCCEZAERAFIMHEE) (REARHAM
BES8E) REEN(EBEEZL)

REBEBNHEMERREZR AEEEBEHERES

WESUETFXHEIEERGFE BESNBHERE

TRE TRMERTERESEZMEEG - A E

REETEANRED  TRREMESKBENEE
AR EFEENR AL -

TEREMNEHAEN  AEBEEEREENBER
F-BALEARERZERYE K BREELAD
TEMHNENERAXMF  FBRFREFHN -8B H
HREIRSFEELZELFERRAEREERE
RIFM=EMEZE I BRBEN TEERIES
BRNERERTEERER AEERNRBE TR
e BERTFENIFRE FITHRE  SEH
M~ BE T ERBERSER -

The Group places great emphasis on human rights and freedom. We are
unwavering in our stance against the use of children and forced labour within
our workplace. To ensure compliance, we strictly abide by regulations such as
the Employment of Children Regulations and Employment of Young Persons
(Industry) Regulations, which are part of the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57)
in the Laws of Hong Kong. Additionally, we adhere to the Fair Work Act 2009
of Australia, the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Labour
Standards Act of Japan.

In line with the relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong, the Group
formalizes the employment relationship with each of its employees through
written employment contracts. The employment contract clearly outlines
important details such as job duties, work locations, and working hours. This
not only safeguards the rights and interests of our employees but also reflects
our commitment to ethical and legal employment practices on a global scale.

Before hiring any applicant, the Group enforces comprehensive recruitment
procedures. First and foremost, checking and verifying the applicant’s age is
essential. The applicant must present valid proof of identity as part of these
procedures. This is crucial to confirm that they have reached legal working
age and are eligible for employment in the relevant countries. Additionally,
applicants suspected of having false academic qualifications or work
experience will not be considered for employment. The Group is committed to
providing its staff with a safe, healthy, and comfortable working environment,
labour protection, reasonable remuneration, appropriate working hours, and
various welfare benefits.
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SOCIETY (continued)

Labour Standards (continued)

During the Reporting period. The Group was unaware of any non-compliance
with laws and regulations related to the prevention of children and forced labour
that would have a material impact on the Group. This indicates that the Group’s
operations are aligned with these crucial legal requirements, which safeguard
fundamental human rights and ensure ethical business practices.

Health and Safety

The Group’s business operations do not involve high-risk activities. We
emphasize the occupational safety, hygiene, and health of our employees
and strive to the best of our ability to create a safe and comfortable working
environment for them. We have purchased air purifiers to improve air quality
and enhance the working environment. To ensure a healthier and more pleasant
workplace, we strictly prohibit all employees and visitors from smoking in the
office. This measure not only safeguards the health of non-smokers from the
risks associated with passive smoking but also helps prevent an increase in
fire hazards within the office premises. All employees are provided with the
necessary protective equipment.

In addition, the Group has formulated safety procedures for potentially
hazardous work. Internal guidelines have been incorporated into the employee
handbook to heighten employees’ awareness of workplace safety. Employees
with health and safety concerns or identifying potential hazards must contact
their department heads or senior human resources personnel. Furthermore,
they are entitled to medical insurance coverage, which reflects our commitment
to their well-being.

In setting up the Group’s occupational health and safety measures, we
adhere to the guidelines provided by the labour departments of our regional
subsidiaries. Our operations are in full compliance with relevant laws and
regulations. In Hong Kong, this includes the Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance (Cap. 509) and the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Cap.282).
In Japan, we comply with the Industrial Safety and Health Act (Act No.57 of
1972). In Australia, we adhere to the Work Health and Safety Act 2011. In the
People’s Republic of China, we adhere to the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases.

The Group has maintained a healthy and safe working environment over
the past three years, including the Reporting Period. There have been no
reported lost days due to work-related injuries, and no work-related fatalities
have occurred. As of 31 December 2024, the Group is unaware of any non-
compliance with relevant health and safety laws and regulations. This indicates
the Group’s commitment to ensuring the well-being of its employees and
compliance with legal requirements.
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SOCIETY (continued)

Development and Training

The Group firmly believes that employee training is a crucial means to
enhance employees’ capabilities, work skills, professional expertise, and job
performance. Employees who have received professional training can provide
more reliable protection to the public. Meanwhile, they can better meet
clients’ expectations and professional requirements, thereby delivering high-
quality services. Therefore, the Group has been committed to comprehensively
supporting its employees’ personal growth and career development.

The Group’s training programs fall into two main categories: internal and
external. For instance, employees handling sensitive information or precision
instruments attend external training on relevant regulations and operation
specs to reduce risks. Regarding internal training, the Group regularly holds
leadership and management courses in the Hong Kong office. Team-building
activities and seminars are also organized to strengthen teamwork. The
Group offers work-hour training access and a subsidy mechanism to support
employees’ training. Employees are encouraged to plan their own training
based on career needs and choose resources like online courses, seminars,
or certification training, all with the Group’s support. These efforts aim to fuel
employees’ learning drive and career development.

FINESEFTHL Percentage of Employees Trained

2024 2023
gkl E b By Gender
B Male 80% 73%
peg s Female 20% 27%
BESBAS 2 By Employment Level
SHREEBAE Senior management 53% 30%
ZEET General 47% 70%
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SOCIETY (continued)

Development and Training (continued)

STRE T 15 55 3 B 21 Average Training Hours Completed
—EmE —E-=F
2024 2023
g PFEL
No. of Hours No. of Hours
¥R & 5 By Gender
B4 Male 10.59 11.50
ZM Female 13.00 19.78
BESW&E 2 By Employment Level
BHREEAE Senior management 18.43 13.80
ZEET General 9.36 13.74
SEED OPERATION PRACTICES
HEESE Supply Chain Management
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M EERRME  RRAERTEKTIHOEZM
B e

AEBNHEFEERBER —EREESEE 2
B EEZMEE

AERAE  AEETHESCHPRERE -1E
REBRE -HMBHEHEER MO EERR
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The Group is actively exploring innovative procurement strategies to reduce its
environmental footprint and enhance resource efficiency. It aims to progress
together with its supply chain partners. The Group’s procurement strategies
are designed to incorporate ESG consideration. This ensures that supply
chain activities not only meet the Group’s business objectives in terms of
efficiency, cost-effectiveness, product quality, and innovation capabilities but
also precisely respond to the needs of social responsibilities and environmental
protection. The Group’s suppliers are spread across multiple countries and
regions, reflecting the Group’s extensive presence in the global market.

The Group’s supplier management process operates as a cyclic mechanism,
which consists of four main stages:

Evaluations and Certification: The Group defines ESG standards in supplier
contracts. This strengthens suppliers’ sense of responsibility, reduces
operational risks, and heightens the supply chain’s focus on environmental
protection and social responsibility.

Performance Monitoring: The Group initiates ESG performance evaluations for
major suppliers. The first batch of evaluation items includes net-zero carbon
emissions and zero-green products. Suppliers with low-ranking scores will be
urged to improve their performance.
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OPERATION PRACTICES (continued)

Supply Chain Management (continued)

Auditing and Guidance: The Group will conduct further audits and guidance for
“high-risk suppliers” and those with poor ESG performance. Key management
is implemented for major suppliers. Depending on the severity of the
deficiencies, it will be determined whether a supplier loses its qualification or
needs to submit an improvement plan and implement corrective measures
within a specified time limit. Those that fail to improve on time will be included
in the list of suppliers with poor performance.

The Principle of Survival of the Fittest: Based on the annual performance
rankings of suppliers, those with excellent and poor ESG performance are
identified. Suppliers with excellent performance will be rewarded. For suppliers
with poor performance, their annual procurement amounts, quantities, or
shares will be reduced. Those who do not cooperate with the improvement
efforts will be reported and included in the Group’s list of suppliers with poor
performance, and their use will be restricted.

Under the same conditions, the Group gives preference to procuring from
local suppliers in each business area. This approach serves multiple purposes.
Firstly, it shortens the delivery cycle of suppliers, thereby enhancing the supply
chain’s resilience. Secondly, it reduces energy consumption in transportation
products, which in turn lowers carbon emissions. Additionally, this practice
promotes local economic development and creates more job opportunities for
the residents of local communities.

The Group places great importance on communicating with suppliers. This
involves ongoing interaction during routine operations and forging strategic
partnerships. By offering technical support and leveraging its unique
competitive edge, the Group aims to achieve a win-win scenario, strengthening
the bond with suppliers. In total, the Group maintained close relationships
with 213 suppliers (in 2023, this number was 180). These suppliers can be
categorized according to their geographical regions as follows:

fHRET ZEWmE —EC=F
Suppliers 2024 2023
IR & i5 2H L g=]
Geographical Region Number Number
58 Hong Kong 56 49
EE AR EAE The People’s Republic of China 26 22
R Asia 63 58
BUM Europe 16 15
BN Australia 31 19
EFRER The United States of America 21 17
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OPERATION PRACTICES (continued)

Product Responsibility

The Group is fully committed to environmental responsibility in all product-
related operations. The Group fully considers environmental factors when
designing, selling, and distributing products. These include using renewable
and non-hazardous raw materials and adopting energy-efficient production
processes to minimize the carbon footprint. Packaging is simplified to reduce
waste, and low-carbon transportation methods are prioritized for distribution;
the products are designed to be both eco-friendly and durable, aiming to
cut down on customers’ natural resources and energy consumption during
use. At the end-of-life stage, maximizing recyclability and reusability is a key
consideration to ensure a sustainable product life cycle.

Before selling and distributing new products, the Group conducts in-depth
market research and benchmarks against competitors. It also assesses
environmental and social risks throughout the product life cycle by analyzing
external factors like technological trends, environmental regulations, and
customer preferences, as well as internal factors such as corporate culture
and production capacity. Stakeholder concerns and expectations are
carefully considered to identify emerging risks and opportunities, allowing for
timely reviews and adjustments of goals and strategies. Risks are evaluated
from multiple aspects, including compliance, product sustainability, safety,
and changing customer demands. In this way, the Group can maintain its
competitiveness while fulfilling its environmental and social responsibilities.

The Group places top priority on safeguarding privacy. All technical specialists
are required sign confidentiality agreements to ensure the security of clients’
information and data. All employees are duty-bound to keep client data
confidential, regardless of how they obtain it. Our commitment to privacy
protection also encompasses employees and subcontractors. We adhere to
the guidelines in our Employee Handbook and relevant laws like the Personal
Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486) of Hong Kong Laws, handling all
personal data with great care and full legal compliance to build trust among
stakeholders.
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OPERATION PRACTICES (continued)

Product Responsibility (continued)

The Group is firmly committed to upholding fair advertising practices. To this
end, all employees from sales department are strictly required to present
customers with precise and truthful details about the Group’s products and
services. To further enhance customer experience, we offer a hotline and an
email address dedicated to answering customer inquiries regarding service
particulars, ensuring high-quality pre-sale and post-sale support. During the
Reporting Period, the Group didn’t involve in any labeling issues relating to the
products and services provided.

As of 31 December 2024, after a thorough review and to the best of the
Group’s knowledge, there were no instances of non-compliance with laws and
regulations in areas such as health and safety, advertising, labeling, and privacy
matters associated with the products and services. This compliance record
underscores the Group’s dedication to operating within the bounds of legality
and maintaining the highest standards in all business operations.

Anti-corruption

The Group adheres to an enterprise culture of integrity-based operations and
adopts a zero-tolerance policy towards any illegal and non-compliant behaviors
and activities. It fully complies with anti-corruption and anti-bribery regulatory
requirements, such as the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201), the
Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance (Chapter
615) of the Laws of Hong Kong. By strictly abiding by these regulations, the
Group aims to ensure the fairness and transparency of its business operations
and safeguard all stakeholders’ legitimate rights and interests.

The Group’s internal anti-corruption policies define strict behavioral norms
for employees. The Group commits to publicly disclosing its integrity-based
business management policies. The board of directors and management pledge
to actively implement them in internal management and external business
activities.
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OPERATION PRACTICES (continued)

Anti-corruption (continued)

The Group subscribes to the Hong Kong Business Ethics Development Center’s
newsletter to boost employees’ awareness of corruption risks and keep them
from being corrupted. This center provides free anti-corruption and ethics
training to companies. Meanwhile, the Group invites major business partners
with whom it has dealings to participate in the training to ensure the effective
implementation of the Group’s policies. We commit to conducting business
activities fairly and transparently. Before engaging in business dealings, the
Group will consider the legitimacy of agents, suppliers, customers, or other
business counterparts, as well as whether they have a record of dishonest
behavior, to avoid transactions with them.

Employees and external third parties are encouraged to actively monitor
and report any major behaviors that may violate honest trading. They can
directly report to directors or supervisors. For the employees or external third
parties reporting clues or evidence, appropriate rewards will be provided
once verified to be true. The development trends and cases of integrity-based
business norms will be closely followed. Directors, supervisors, managers,
and all employees are urged to make suggestions for improvement. Timely
revisions will be made to enhance the effectiveness of integrity-based business
operations.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group was unaware of any non-compliance with
laws and regulations regarding bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering
that significantly impacted the Group.

Community Investment and Involvement

In 2024, the Group remained committed to fostering strong community bonds
and addressing the needs of vulnerable groups within our local area. One of
the significant initiatives we undertook was organizing a heartwarming event-
treading the elderly to a “Luck Meal”. This activity provided the elderly with a
rare opportunity to socialize and enjoy a special meal. Many of them may live
alone or have limited social interactions. Gathering for the “Luck Meal” allowed
them to break the monotony of daily life, share stories, and strengthen the
community bonds.

The Group has always firmly adhered to its social responsibilities and
continuously dedicated itself to assisting vulnerable groups. We actively
mobilize employees to contribute their personal time and apply their
professional skills by engaging in various public welfare activities, creating
tangible benefits for the residents of the local community. This provides
employees with valuable opportunities to understand social issues deeply and
encourages them to enhance their social responsibility. Meanwhile, it also
further demonstrates and strengthens the Group’s corporate value in practice,
propelling the common progress of the Group and society.
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APPENDIX - ESG REPORTING CODE CONTENT
INDEX

This Report is prepared in accordance with the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Code” under Appendix C2 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The following table provides an overview of the general disclosures and KPIs of
various aspects under each subject area, which are either cross-referenced to
the relevant chapters of the Report or supplementing the Report with additional

it
Description

information.

28 A

Reference/Statement

FEHBA-IRIF

Subject Area A - ENVIRONMENTAL

BEA1 : B

Aspect A1: EMISSIONS

—BRE

General Disclosure

R SR AE IR 1RAT A
KPI' A1.1

RSB AE WIS 1RAT.2

KPI' A1.2

RSB B WIS 1RA1.3

KPI A1.3

RSB B WIS 1RAT.4

KPI A1.4

RSB AE WIS 1RA1.5
KPI A1.5

RSB AE IS 1RA1.6

KPI A1.6

BRIBERHN MK R ItBBES - BEERBEEERYNELZR () BIEK; &
(o) BFHBITABEAXENHEMERRRANER

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to air emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.

PRI AR 4R R AR R B I B ©

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

B (EE) RERBRE (@E2) REREHKRE UEHE) k (WER) BE
MUEBESEMN -SEREE) °

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).

FMEAEEEEYHREEZ UEA8) R (WBER) BE MUSESEN  SERKE
B o

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

FIEAREEEYESE CUEE) k (WMER) BE MUEESE 1 SERM
FTE) ©

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate,
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

HAt P ] LI HEINE B IR R A iE R 5 & B R ERENAY 25 B

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

B EIEE S R BEEEREYN G L REMFT] LNREE R R RERELER
1R PTEREL Y 27 B o

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a
description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

80 MESEBZERAMRALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

R ERYEE

Emissions, Waste
Management

E219,8Y]

Emissions
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Emissions

RSB HMEEEBRRE
R EELTBEERY -
During the Reporting

Period, we did not generate
hazardous waste during our
operations.

BEBERYHRMEEEATK
£o
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was collected by the property
management.
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2] RHA

Reference/Statement

FEHBA—IRIR

Subject Area A - ENVIRONMENTAL

[BEA2: BERER

Aspect A2: USE OF RESOURCES

—RIRE

General Disclosure

R 52 1A A5 1RA2.1

KPI' A2.1

AR IE1RA2.2
KPI A2.2

R AR IS 1RA2.3
KPI A2.3

RREMIEIRA2.4

KPI A2.4

M AR NS 1RA2.5
KPI A2.5

BERERER (QFER KR EMMEMR) BB -
Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw
materials.

RENSSMBEERHBEER WE- f3d @ UTETRESH)
RBE (WMUSESEN BERKMH) °

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil)
in total (kWh in ’000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

BMEKEREE MUSESEM BERFEH) -
Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).

AL FTET L AETRE A N & B R R A E R B L B IR EREN M BR o
Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

HMSREVGE A AR LI B RIRE > U AT LA K m B Rk A EDELE
B IR PTERERAY & BR o

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for
purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

S mPTABEMENES UMEEE) k (NER) SEES[GE-
Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

[BEAS : IRIERRXAER
Aspect A3: THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

— AR ER

General Disclosure

R SR A& IS 1RA3.1
KPI A3.1

BEBTAHBRERRAERENEAZENER
Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the environment and
natural resources.

B EHHRIERRARAERNEAZERERNEE BB ENTH
Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and
natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

BEREA

Use of Resources

BEREA

Use of Resources

BRERA
Use of Resources

BEREA

Use of Resources

BEREA

Use of Resources

BRERA
Use of Resources

RIBERKXAER
Environment and Natural
Resources

RIFRRAER

Environment and Natural
Resources
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it 28 A
Description Reference/Statement
EEA4 . RIZEE

Aspect A4: CLIMATE CHANGE

— A B B R EHE R KA EEHET AR ENEARBEEMASENBE- RIZEME

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

B A B IRAL A BB RO EEHETAELERENEARREHEASE  REHTH-
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

TEHEB—E

Subject Area B - SOCIAL

E@EB1: EEKRFIER

Aspect B1: EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

— RN EE ERHNREE BEREA TFEHHE R FERE 2ol  REEUR
HMABREN () BR; & () BTHETABEARZENERERLR
BIBIE L o

General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

RRENIEEB1.1 REFEEEE 2B ERR)  FRANRMEZ SN ESEH
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or part-time),
age group, and geographical region.

RISEEMIERB1.2 WM FRERN MR E D NEERKLER.

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region.
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Hi 3t 28 HHA
Description Reference/Statement
EEB2: BREHEZE

Aspect B2: HEALTH AND SAFETY

— MR FRREZE2TFRERGREEEREHBEMGEN | (@) BER; & b) ETH REHAZE

General Disclosure

AR A5 1RB2.1
KPI B2.1

RS E 5 1RB2.2

KPI B2.2

MR IE1RB2.3
KPI B2.3

[BEB3 : 8 & K iE

ETANBEAREBNVERERRROIINER -

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing
a safe working environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards.

BE=ZF (BIEEREE) SERITHNIABKIEER.
Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three
years including the reporting year.

AIEELTEBH-
Lost days due to work injury.

HMPTER AN B 2 R R A 21 U R BRI IT R EE R &
Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they
are implemented and monitored.

Aspect B3: DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

— AR ER

General Disclosure

R S8 & A5 12B3. 1
KPI B3.1

RSB AE XI5 1RB3.2
KPI B3.2

BRIRA RS BT TIFB B R & R R AE I BUR - fa it 5Z 5 7E 3 o
Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties at
work. Description for training activities.

BN REEER WeshEEE -HREERE) B0NZIEET DL
The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g.
senior management, middle management).

BN REEERE D BLRERETHZINN TR
The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee
category.

Health and Safety

EREZE
Health and Safety

EREZE
Health and Safety

EREZE
Health and Safety

R KRE
Development and Training

R KRE
Development and Training

R KRE
Development and Training
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it 28 A
Description Reference/Statement
[E@EB4 : &I %A

Aspect B4: LABOUR STANDARDS

— A B BREMLEETH®RGIE T (a) B ; & (b) BTFHETABEATENHEE 8 T 2RI

General Disclosure

SR AE W5 12B4.1
KPI B4.1

RSB AE 15 1RB4.2
KPI B4.2

BmEB5 : HEEESIE

EERROINER -

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing
child and forced labour.

Mg s BB A R IR AR B T R agHI % T o
Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and
forced labour.

T IR E R B R R E IR A R IB P REXBY & BR o

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.

Aspect B5: SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

— A R
General Disclosure

B AR W5 1RB5.1
KPI B5.1

B SR AR A5 1RB5.2

KPI B5.2

SR 45 315 1RB5.3

KPI B5.3

SR 4B 215 18B5.4

KPI B5.4

EEMEENIRIE R SRR -
Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.

B Ea o HERmEE -
Number of suppliers by geographical region.

M BEMAEAHEENES MENTEREANEREEHE  UREAHIT
REERFG L

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers
where the practices are being implemented, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

Ha A AR MRS EIRSENIRE R G REMNIBA MU EREMITREER
ke

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along
the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.

BT RERER N REEZHERRERRRBZNEG  UKREBATRERS
e

Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products
and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and
monitored.
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28 HA

Reference/Statement

EEB6 : EREE

Aspect B6: PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

— AR ER

General Disclosure

R 2 /& 2 15 1%B6. 1
KPI B6.1

RSB 4E 215 1%B6.2
KPI B6.2

BB /E 215 1%B6.3
KPI B6.3

BB AE W15 1RB6.4

KPI B6.4

BB AE R I51RB6.5
KPI B6.5

ERfMEHESMBRBENREEAZ - ES REEMESEURBRAEN !
(a) B3R ; & (b) BFHETABEATENHEERRRANER
Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided and methods of redress.

EEFEEXEREHITRAZ L HEREAMALRKNE DL
Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and
health reasons.

BEMNERRRBNEFEBE U REE S
Number of products and service-related complaints received and how they are
dealt with.

Hh i B AR S R RPB AN B A B RERVIE ) o
Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual
property rights.

LB SR TBEREMBRRER-
Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

IS B EERMRE R FABRESR » U RERABMITREERF %
Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

EmEE

Product Responsibility

EmEE
Product Responsibility

mEfE

Product Responsibility

EmEE
Product Responsibility

EmEE
Product Responsibility

EREE
Product Responsibility
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Pt &% —

RIE-HEKRE

ARETa

APPENDIX - ESG REPORTING CODE CONTENT

ABZES| @ INDEX (continued)

it 28 A
Description Reference/Statement
B@EB7 . R&ES

Aspect B7: ANTI-CORRUPTION

— A B BRABILHERE MR - MEREREN (@ BE; R b) BETHETABEARY KRES

General Disclosure

A SR 4B WIS 1RB7 .1

KPI B7.1

A R AR B 1RBT .2
KPI B7.2

A R 4R B 1RBT .3
KPI B7.3

[EEB8: tERE

EMEMEERROINER -

Information on (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.
RERARHZETASAESRE Y BEBENESHDEGHNEE Rk

o

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against

the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcome of the

cases.

P EE R BT UK ERNITRERF £
Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

HiimESkETRENRESE
Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.

Aspect B8: COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

— R EE

General Disclosure

RISE 4B W15 1%B8.1
KPI B8.1

RISEAE 15 1RB8.2
KPI B8.2

B2 HREREEMTIHeRENRRAER IS RN
BERe

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into

consideration the communities’ interests.

FEAEMER WEE BRREEE - HFIER-BR - XL -BA)
Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour
needs, health, culture, sport).

ESEIEBFTBAER (N2

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.
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To the Shareholders of
CircuTech International Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CircuTech
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) set out on pages 92 to 175, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the “Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matters
Impairment assessment on trade receivables

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had gross trade receivables of
approximately HK$79,674,000 and no loss allowance is provided. We identified
impairment assessment of trade receivables as a key audit matter due to the
significance of trade receivables to the Group’s consolidated financial position
and the involvement of subjective judgement and management estimates in
evaluating the expected credit losses (“ECLs”) of the Groups’ trade receivables
at the end of the reporting period.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure ECLs
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. The
management performed assessment to measure the ECLs with consideration of
the debtor’s background and historical payment record during the year and the
key economic variables impacting credit risk to estimate the risk of default and
expected loss rates.

Refer to summary of accounting policies of accounting policies in note 2.8.4,
financial risk factors on credit risk in note 3.1(b), accounting estimates and
judgements in note 4(d) and disclosure of trade receivables in note 19 and 19
(a) to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

Our response:

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s impairment assessment on
trade receivables included:

o assessing the appropriateness of the credit loss provisioning
methodologies used by the Group;

o challenging management’s basis and judgement in determining credit
loss allowance on trade receivables as at year end date, including their
identification of credit-impaired trade receivables;

o testing the integrity of information used by management to develop the
provision matrix by checking supporting information for the nature and
industry of the debtors, on a sample basis; and

o assessing the estimates used to determine the expected credit losses
by considering cash collection performance against historical trends and
assessing the reasonableness of forward-looking factors included in the
expected credit loss model.
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the Company’s annual report, but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibility in this regard.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

920 MESEBZERAMRALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited



BB EME S
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Y% BB h 3 5HAR & M B R R AR Y

BEEw

. TEROHBRENERIKRS N EBENA
2 BERE URGEMBRERESTERIR
R ZMNEE-

. SEIRHTERES UNEERBERNES
BUNHMBERERNTE BENSEERE F
HUHEBVBREAEXTRNVNER -KMEE
RERBSAFABITIENS A EERER R
PIREStERAKEENER-

BREMEEIN RPIRELEZEEEB T FEIMNES
BE - KHEZHF BEXEFERS  OERMES
R B! L P9 BB B9 R R B KBRS o

HMERNEZZEERXEH RARMETSAH
BUMHNBEMBEXBEER TEMMBBRERRES
BMEIAETERMBUMENMARAGNEMSE
B UKREBRNERT A HREBRROTEH R
BRI ST -

WMREFEENFET RABREMESTERRRLR
G BBRENBEFERAEE AMBEMERESF
He JMIEZBMBEPRMMBELEFTE RIFEARE
MAAFLARARBELEEFE REBRFERNBR
TNMREGERRERMARSTEBRFEEANE
ERRBBEENARF G HAREFEERS T
BEZEE

ERUGESEHMEBEMBERAR
HEEE AN

B =

HEFEEMHEIR P06170

BB “E_RF=R+°H

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and review of the work performed for the purposes of the group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Pak Tak Lun, Amos

Practising Certificate no. P06170

Hong Kong, 12 March 2025
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BE+-_A=+—HLEE

For the year ended 31 December

M T =HF
2024 2023
ok FET FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
WA Revenue & 351,188 152,137
THE R AR Cost of sales 7 (331,024) (138,346)
EH Gross profit 20,164 13,791
Hig A Other income 6 2,796 7,638
THE R DA A Selling and distribution costs 7 (914) (1,665)
THER Administrative expenses 7 (10,410) (13,265)
e R E RS W Research and development expenditures 7 (406) (846)
bl Operating profit 11,230 5,653
R 1% Finance costs 10 (19) (114)
MESHMTAZAFE Fair value (loss)/gain on derivative financial
(B518) I am instrument (8,883) 470
R EARZEN Share of net profit of an associate accounted for
—HEE A 4T using the equity method 12 531 1,593
FRETZ IR A ) Profit before income tax 2,859 7,602
FTi8ME< Income tax expense 13 (2,587) (987)
EEERA Profit for the year 272 6,615
AEEHMEEUE - Other comprehensive income for the year:

HBEOSEENEFZEm ZEH Item that may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss
Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations (1,705) 1,654
TR EEN S EEEm 2 EH Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
BEE M B 1R FE

MEBIEF ZERER

Change in the fair value of equity investment at

SEZ R REZ A FlEES) fair value through other comprehensive income 399 =
BN ERAEREMNEEE Remeasurement of defined benefit plan

obligations 72 (29)

AEEHEMEEWE Other comprehensive income for the year (1,234) 1,525

TEERENREEE Total comprehensive income for the year (962) 8,140
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BE+-_HA=+—HLEE

For the year ended 31 December

—EZmE = =T
2024 2023
bt FET FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
HTWATEGRFERF : Profit for the year attributable to:
—RRBEE A - Owners of the Company 44 5,891
—JEEREm - Non-controlling interests 25 228 724
272 6,615
BT ATEGEREE Total comprehensive income for the year
S EUWEAREE - attributable to:
—RRBEE A — Owners of the Company (1,185) 7,420
—IEER R - Non-controlling interests 223 720
(962) 8,140
AABEEANEHEREF] Earnings per share attributable to owners of the
(A Company (HK cents per share) 14
—BK - Basic 0.19 25.14
—# - Diluted 0.18 25.14
TGRS EmUR R R ELABEM M —HRE - The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

w+=ZB=+—H
As at 31 December
—E-mE —E-=&
2024 2023
HiaE FET FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BE Assets
EREEE Non-current assets
ME-BEREE Property, plant and equipment 15(a) 166 41
FREEE Right-of-use assets 15(b) 34 786
R—EBE B Z#EE Interest in an associate 12 9,774 9,670
TEESMIA Derivative financial instrument 17 - 9,128
ZRAEMEEWRDRATE Financial asset at fair value through other
TEZERMEE comprehensive income 18 3,496 1,597
13,470 21,222
REBEE Current assets
78 Inventories 20 67 562
FEE U5 B 0 e L th & UK Trade and other receivables 19 119,001 37,105
BERIREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 21 39,678 104,485
______________________ 158,746 142,152
WEE Total assets 172,216 163,374
= Equity
&N Share capital 22 5,208 4,687
HhEE Other reserves 23 200,593 195,227
K5t Accumulated losses 24 (44,180) (44,296)
RABER AN Capital and reserves attributable to owners of
ZERREE the Company 161,621 155,618
JEPERG e Non-controlling interests 25 1,325 1,102
R Total equity 162,946 156,720
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®W+=ZB=+—8H
As at 31 December
—E-MNE R = T
2024 2023
Jiog=3 FET FAET
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
af& Liabilities
mREAE Current liabilities
JFE 1< BR =R R EL At FE T =% Trade and other payables 27 5,194 4,367
HEEsR& Lease liabilities 28 38 733
GHNEE Contract liabilities 5 2,579 242
BN IEE B Current tax liabilities 1,424 750
9,235 6,092
BWEERTHERE Total assets less current liabilities 162,981 157,282
JEREEE Non-current liabilities
HESR& Lease liabilities 28 - 100
EHERBEEME Long service payment liabilities 29 35 462
ERHEREE Total non-current liabilities 35 562
FES =R Total liabilities 9,270 6,654
EEKkEEBEE Total equity and liabilities 172,216 163,374
AR & BA TS AR 0 2 FE EABE B B 5 — BRI EE o The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

FREITSEZEAHBERREEEEN S -_HF  The consolidated financial statements on pages 92 to 175 were approved by

ZB+HBEE THTINEERRESEEE- the Board of Directors on 12 March 2025 and were signed on its behalf
REEELE mREFAR L
Mr. Chang Chuan-Wang Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan
EE EE
Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
HEZMNME+ZA=+—HILEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HAARER AR
Attributable to owners of the Company
B Hithfkfe B st JeERMEE st
Non-
Other Accumulated controlling
Share capital reserves losses Total interest Total

(Hyzt22) (Hyz#23) (Hizto4)
(Note 22) (Note 23) (Note 24)

FEn FEn FEn FEn FEn FEn
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000

RZIEZ=F—B—H At 1 January 2023 4,687 193,669 (50,158) 148,198 11,486 159,684
AEERT Profit for the year = = 5,891 5,891 724 6,615
HEtzmla Other comprehensive income
MBI EB BRER Exchange differences on translation

of foreign operations - 1,658 - 1,558 (4) 1,654
ENIERBREEER Remeasurement of long services

payment liabilities - - (29) (29) - (29)
EENEEE Total comprehensive income - 1,558 5,862 7,420 720 8,140
i =YNE (20 =y NE = Capital return to a non-controlling

shareholder of a subsidiary - - - - (11,104) (11,104)

_$:_¢+ B=+—-8k At 31 December 2023 and

“Z-pmE-fB—H 1 January 2024 4,687 195,227 (44,296) 155,618 1,102 156,720
AEERT Profit for the year = = 44 44 228 272
HEtzma Other comprehensive income
MBI B BRER Exchange differences on translation

of foreign operations - (1,700) - (1,700) (5) (1,705)
EREMZARREATEIEZ Change in fair value of equity

EaRkEZ A TEEY investment at fair value through

other comprehensive income - 399 - 399 - 399
ENIERBREEER Remeasurement of long services

payment liabilities - - 72 72 - 72
_éiﬁ_ll&_i‘gﬁgii_ﬁ ______ Total comprehensive income - (1,301) 116 (1,185) 223 (962)
BAHRO2ER W2220E) Contributions from issue of new shares

(note 22(2)) 521 6,667 . 7,188 - 7,188
RZB-_ME+-A=+—A At 31 December 2024 5,208 200,593 (44,180) 161,621 1,325 162,946
s AR S S B S FE ARSI M S — R o The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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BE+-_HA=+—HLEE

For the year ended 31 December

ZEZE e
2024 2023
ok FET FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
REEBZ2HERE Cash flows from operating activities
REEBMMAZRAE Cash used in operations 32 (67,850) (28,435)
BT B Interest received 1,102 2,955
B PT1SR Income taxes paid (1,927) 971)
f«f_“%ﬁ‘ffﬁ_ﬁﬁ?}_ﬁ_@_%_@ﬁ_ ______ Net cash used in operating activities (68,675) (21,451)
REEBZZRERE Cash flows from investing activities
ME-BERZHEMR Payments for property, plant and equipment (159) (16)
FEREMEEWRGEZATESE Investment of financial assets at fair value through
ZEMEBEERE other comprehensive income 18 (1,500) -
fﬁ_‘%%ﬁ‘%f}iﬁﬁ%{ﬁ_@_%_@ﬁ_ ______ Net cash used in investing activities (1,659) (16)
MEEBZZRERE Cash flows from financing activities
BEREaEZAEHD Repayment of principal portion of
the lease liabilities 33 (680) (1,763)
EEREaGZHNEIY Repayment of interest portion of
the lease liabilities 33 (19) (114)
BITHRMATEZRIE Proceeds from issue of new shares 22(a) 7,815 -
PR ITRZ AR Payment of share issuance expenses 22(a) (627) =
MIFERERIREER Capital return to non-controlling interest - (11,104)
MEXBKELE FTR 2 Net cash generated from/(used in) financing
 ReFwE  actvites 6,489 (12,981)
RERREEBYRL FE Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (63,845) (34,448)
REYZRERIBEEEY Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 104,485 138,122
EXEHHIBE RIREE[EY) 2 Effects on exchange rates changes on cash and
b cash equivalents (962) 811
REXRZRERIBETEEY Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 21 39,678 104,485
PR AR REREEGEM MW — A& The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction

with the accompanying notes.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

CircuTech International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) is principally engaged in the sales
and distribution of IT products, and the provision of repairs and other
service support of IT products.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands. The address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company has its primary listing on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand,
unless otherwise indicated.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the material accounting policies adopted
in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated. These consolidated financial statements are for the
Group consisting of CircuTech International Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries.

2.1 Basis of preparation
(i) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to as
the “HKFRSs”) as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In
addition, these consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

MESEBZERAMRALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

(i)

Statement of compliance (continued)

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial assets
(including derivative instrument and financial asset at fair
value through other comprehensive income) measured at fair
value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires the Group’s management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

(a)

New and amendments to standards and
interpretations as adopted by the Group from 1
January 2024

The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments to
HKFRSs that are first effective for the current accounting
period of the Group:

Amendments to
HKAS 7 & HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as

HKAS 1 Current or Non-Current
Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with
HKAS 1 Covenants

Amendments to
HK Int 5 (Revised)

Hong Kong Interpretation
5 (Revised) Presentation
of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

The adoption of the above amendments did not have any
significant impact on the Group’s results and financial
position for the current or prior periods. The Group has not
early applied any new or amendments to HKFRSs that is not
yet effective for the current accounting period.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(b)

MESEBZERAMRALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

New or amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective

The following new or amendments to HKFRSs, have been
issued, but are not yet effective and have not been early
adopted by the Group. The Group’s current intention is to

apply these changes on the date they become effective.

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKAS 21 and
HKFRS 1

Amendments to
HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to
HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

HKFRS 18

HKFRS 19

Amendments to
HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7,

HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10,

and HKAS 7

2025.

2026.

January 2027.

Sales or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture*

Lack of Exchangeability’

Classification and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent
Electricity?

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements?®

Subsidiaries without Public Accountability:
Disclosures®

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting
Standards - Volume 112

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1

N No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for

adoption.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2

2.3

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(b) New or amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements, which was issued by the HKICPA in July
2024 supersedes HKAS 1 and will result in major
consequential amendments to HKFRS including HKAS 8
Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements (renamed from
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors). Even though HKFRS 18 will not have any
effect on the recognition and measurement of items in the
consolidated financial statements, it is expected to have a
significant effect on the presentation and disclosure of certain
items. These changes include categorisation and sub-totals
in the statement of profit or loss, aggregation/disaggregation
and labelling of information, and disclosure of management-
defined performance measures.

Except for the above, the Directors do not anticipate that the
application of new or amendments to HKFRS in the future
will have a material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interest

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date
that control ceases.

In the Company’s Statement of Financial Position, investments in
subsidiaries are measured at cost less impairment loss, if any. The
result of the subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividends received and receivables.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries
are shown separately in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and
statement of financial position respectively.
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POLICIES (continued)
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2.4 Associate

Associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence but not control or joint control. This is generally the
case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting
rights. Investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost.

Under the equity method of accounting, the investment is initially
recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the
investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share of movements
in other comprehensive income of the investee in other
comprehensive income. Dividends received or receivable from an

associate are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of
the investment.
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MESEBZERAMRALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for
impairment in accordance with the policy described in Note 2.6.

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the consolidated financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK$, which is the
Company'’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are generally
recognised in profit or loss. They are deferred in equity if
they are attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign
operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings
are presented in profit or loss, within “finance costs”. All
other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in
profit or loss on a net basis within “administrative expenses”.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(b) Transactions and balances (continued)

Exchange gains and losses arising on the retranslation
of monetary financial assets are treated as a separate
component of the change in fair value and recognised in
profit or loss. Exchange gains and losses on non-monetary
financial assets such as financial asset at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) form part of the
overall gain or loss in other comprehensive income (“OCI”)

recognised in respect of that financial instrument.

On consolidation, the results of overseas operations are
translated into HK$ at rates approximating to those ruling
when the transactions took place. All assets and liabilities
of overseas operations, including goodwill arising on the
acquisition of those operations, are translated at the rate
ruling at the reporting date. Exchange differences arising on
translating the opening net assets at opening rate and the
results of overseas operations at actual rate are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the

foreign exchange reserve.

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at acquisition cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any. Depreciation
is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost or
revalued amounts, net of their residual values, over their estimated
useful lives or, in the case of leasehold improvements, the shorter

of the lease term as follows:

Leasehold improvements 3 to 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Office equipment 3 to 5 years
Machinery 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and

adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than

its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.7).
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
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Impairment of non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and interest
in an associate are tested for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at
the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from
other assets or groups of assets (“cash-generating units”). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are

reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.
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MESEBZERAMRALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

Investments and other financial assets

2.8.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value
through profit or loss (Note 2.9),

o those to be measured subsequently at fair value
through OCI, and

° those to be measured at amortised cost (Note 2.10),

The classification depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual
terms of the cash flows. Financial assets with embedded
derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.

For assets measured at fair value through OCI, gains and
losses will be recorded in OCI. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on
whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the
time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment
at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

2.8.2 Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.

2.8.3 Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.

Debt instruments

Debt instruments that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are subsequently measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets
is included in finance income using the effective interest
method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other
gains/(losses) together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate line
item in the statement of comprehensive income.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
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MESEBZERAMRALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

2.8.3 Measurement (continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investment at
fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected to
present fair value gains and losses on equity investment in
OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains
and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of
the investment. Dividends from such investments continue
to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when the
Group’s right to receive payments is established.

2.8.4 Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) associated with its debt instruments
carried at amortised cost. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(“HKFRS 9”), which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of the receivables, see
Note 3.1(b) for further details.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and
when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable
and supportable information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative
and qualitative information analysis, based on the Group’s
historical experience and informed credit assessment,
including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past
due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when
the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the
Group in full, without recourse by the Group to action such
as realising security (if any is held); or the financial asset is
more than 90 days past due.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9

Derivatives

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that does not
qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold
or services performed in the ordinary course of business. Trade
receivables are generally due for settlement ranging from 15 to 90
days and therefore are all classified as current.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment of trade receivables.
See Note 2.8 for further information about the Group’s accounting
for trade receivables and for a description of the Group’s
impairment policies.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held
at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less that
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Trade payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services
provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year which are
unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within
30 days of recognition. Trade payables are presented as current
liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months after the
reporting period. They are recognised initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the amortisation process.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.13 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable

on the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable

income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in

deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary

differences and to unused tax losses.

(a)

(b)

MESEBZERAMRALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period in the countries where the
Company’s subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
in the consolidated financial statements. Deferred income
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting
period and are expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign operations where the
Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.14 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(c)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary
benefits and accumulating sick leave that are expected
to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the
period in which the employees render the related service
are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to
the end of the reporting period and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
The liabilities are presented as current employee benefit
obligations in the statement of financial position.

Defined contribution plan

Mandatory provident fund scheme set up and operated
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance,
Cap. 485 (‘the MPF Schemes Ordinance’) is categorised
as a defined contribution plan.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which
the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to
pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in
the current and prior periods.

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributions
to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans
on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Group
has no further payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid. The contributions are recognised as
employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent
that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is
available.

Bonus plan

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses
based on a formula that takes into consideration the profit
attributable to the Company’s shareholders after certain
adjustments. The Group recognises a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that
has created a constructive obligation.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.14 Employee benefits (continued)

(d)

MESEBZERAMRALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

Defined benefit schemes

Long service payment (“LSP”) under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance (the “Ordinance”) is categorised
as a defined benefit plan. Employees qualified under the
Ordinance are entitled to LSP in certain circumstances
specified in the Ordinance. There are no legal funding
requirements on employers and the Group does not have
any arrangement in place to settle its payment obligation
in the future. The Group’s obligation to LSP is measured
at: Gross LSP obligation which is estimated using the
projected unit credit method discounted to its present value
using market yields available on high quality corporate
bonds (or government bonds if there is no deep market
in such high quality corporate bonds) that have maturity
dates approximating to the terms of the liabilities and are
denominated in Hong Kong Dollars which is the currency
of the LSP obligations; less negative service costs. Under
the Ordinance and the MFP Schemes Ordinance, the Group
can offset the accrued benefits derived from the Group’s
MPF contributions against the Group’s LSP obligations.
The Group regards these MPF contributions are deemed
contributions by employees towards the LSP benefits. The
nature is negative service costs. These deemed contributions
are estimated by applying an expected investment return
rate on the MPF contributions and then attributed to periods
of service using the same attribution method for gross LSP
obligation.

Service costs are recognised in profit or loss, and include
current and past service costs (including result from a plan
amendment).

Interest expense is recognised in profit or loss, and is
calculated by applying the discount rate used to measure
the LSP obligation at the beginning of the annual period to
the balance of the LSP obligation, considering the effects of
benefit payments during the period.

Remeasurements of the LSP obligation, including actuarial
gains and losses, are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.15 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation
and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not

recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate
used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the

passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Revenue and other income

(a) Sale and distribution of IT products

Revenue from the sales and distribution of products is
recognised at a point in time when control of the products
has transferred, being at the point the products are delivered
to and have been accepted, and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of
the products. There is only one performance obligation.
Delivery occurs when the products have been shipped
to the specified location or picked up by the customer in
warehouse, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to the customer, and either the customer has
accepted the products in accordance with the sales contract,
the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the Group has
objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been

satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the price
specified in the contract, net of discounts, returns and value

added taxes.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered
and the customers have accepted the products, as this is the
point in time that the consideration is unconditional because
only the passage of time is required before the payment is

due.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.16 Revenue and other income (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

MESEBZERAMRALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

Sale and distribution of IT products (continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services
to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature
of its promise is a performance obligation to provide the
specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal)
or to arrange for those goods or services to be provided by
the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service by
another party. In this case, the Group does not control the
specified good or service provided by another party before
that good or service is transferred to the customer. When the
Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount
of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in
exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to
be provided by the other party.

Rendering of repairs and service support

The Group provides repair, maintenance and support
services for IT products. The Group has determined that
for contracts with customers under services support, there
is only one performance obligation. For the provision of
services, revenue is recognised at the point in time when the
services are fully rendered and accepted by customers.

Rental income under operating leases

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. When the Group
provides incentives to its tenants, the cost of the incentives is
recognised over the lease term, on a straight-line basis, as a
reduction of rental income.

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis on the principal
outstanding at the applicable interest rate.
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Accounting as a lessee

All leases are required to be capitalised in the statement of financial
position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, but accounting
policy choices exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i)
leases which are short-term leases and/or (ii) leases for which
the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has elected not
to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for low-value
assets and leases for which at the commencement date have
a lease term of 12 months or less and do not contain purchase
option. The lease payments associated with those leases have
been expensed on straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be initially recognised at cost and
would comprise: (i) the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability (see below for the accounting policy to account
for lease liability); (i) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received; (iii) any
initial direct costs incurred by the lessee and (iv) an estimate of
costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing
the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories. The Group measures the right-of-use assets applying
a cost model. Under the cost model, the Group measures the
right-to-use at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liability.

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at the date of commencement of the
lease. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Leases (continued)

Lease liability (continued)

The following payments for the right-to-use on the underlying asset
during the lease term that are not paid at the commencement
date of the lease are considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed
payments less any lease incentives receivable; (ii) variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured
using the index or rate as at commencement date; (i) amounts
expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value
guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee
is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and (v) payments of
penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the
lessee exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group measures the
lease liability by: (i) increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liability; (ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the
lease payments made; and (i) remeasuring the carrying amount
to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications, or to reflect
revised in-substance fixed lease payments.

Accounting as a lessor

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the leased assets to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense on the straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Any changes in the scope or the consideration for a lease that
was not part of the original terms and conditions of the lease are
accounted for as lease modifications. The Group accounts for a
modification to an operating lease as a new lease from the effective
date of the modification, recognising the remaining lease payments
as income on a either a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the remaining lease term.

MESEBZERAMRALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

This note explains the Group’s exposure to financial risks and how these
risks could affect the Group’s future financial performance. Current
year profit and loss information has been included where relevant to
add further context. The Group’s risk management is carried out by a
central treasury department (“Group Treasury”) under policies approved
by the board of directors. Group Treasury identifies, evaluates and
mitigates financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s operating
units. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

3.1 Financial risk factors
(a) Market risk
) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities
denominated in a currency that is not a functional
currency of the relevant group entities. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy and has not used any forward contracts,
currency borrowings or other means to hedge its
foreign currency exposure. The Group manages
its foreign currency risk by closely monitoring the
movement of the foreign currency rates.
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3 HERBER @ 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 HBRAKER & 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) FHHEE (& (a) Market risk (continued)

() SMEREEE () () Foreign exchange risk (continued)
AEBRBREPRZINER The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the
fE O AT AT - end of the reporting period, expressed in HK$, was as

follows:
EPav BX 7T =]
uUs$ EUR JPY
FET FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BWZZTEZ@E As at 31 December 2024
+ZHA=+—H
BE Assets
JFE Wi BR =R B ELAh FE W=k Trade and other receivables 116,580 - 11
BERIREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 17,249 125 6,011
afE Liabilities
FEAT BR A B L FE (S 7R Trade and other payables (2,470) (109) (140)
E7T BT H
us$ EUR JPY
FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
MRIEZ=% As at 31 December 2023
+=ZB=+—H
BE Assets
JFE L B 7R R EL At & WL =R Trade and other receivables 66 = 1,497
HERRAEEBY Cash and cash equivalents 5,963 6 6,008
I=RE Liabilities
FEAT BR U R EL At FE (S =% Trade and other payables (76) = (186)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

3.1 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) WHEEE (&

(a) Market risk (continued)

0  SrMERE (B (i) Foreign exchange risk (continued)
BRHAE Sensitivity
AEBFEEERT, B The Group is primarily exposed to changes in EUR/

TREER/ BTEXEER
oM BEOTHEXEE
FREFERBURTRE
TRBEREBTSHEZSR
TH-

HK$ and JPY/HK$ exchange rates. The sensitivity of
post-tax profit or loss to changes in the exchange
rates arises mainly from EUR-HK$ and JPY-HK$
denominated financial instruments.

ZEZNE “EBI=HF
2024 2023
HEER HiNgEn
4hEE EEz BB EEZ
Ex E/ (&) FEx £/ (&)
1) 2 28 7
Positive/ Positive/
(negative) (negative)
Change effect on Change effect on
in foreign post-tax in foreign post-tax
exchange profit exchange profit
rate or loss rate or loss
FET FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
Bt/ BTEE-LAH EUR/HK$ exchange rate -
increase 4% 1 8% 222
B/ BTEER-TH% EUR/HK$ exchange rate -
decrease (4%) (1) (8%) (222)
HE/ #BrE=X-t7 JPY/HK$ exchange rate —
increase 3% 160 690 457
HE BrEX-TH% JPY/HK$ exchange rate -
decrease (3%) (160) (6%) (457)

o R —_E_WE+ZA
=t+—H > AEENIER
P2 #414,0008 7w FEF K&
REBTRERTHN QBB
MRMEZEBETEEBRE (ZF
—=F | o

BRSBTS o b 8 o d b
EERERESMPEMER
AE o

In addition, as at 31 December 2024, the Group
exposed to HK$414,000 foreign exchange risk
primarily with respect to the potential negative impacts
from translation of intercompany balances which are
translated from HK$ to EUR (2023: Nil).

The HK$ is pegged to US$ and thus foreign currency
exposure is considered as minimal and is not hedged.
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3.1 HBRAKER (&)

(a)

(b)

mE AL (&
() SMEREE (&
BRE (&

EEERR ARBRRT
RETHE ZESTEYH
FEBZKAFERAERE
wmA (B5B) REMERS
DEMEARTE AL I &
MARERRTREBITEY]
BRE D -

(i)  HEREFFRELRE

REREMNXEARERSR
TEAMZARHETRER
AHGHNEXEH LR RH 2
B BRRIRIBITERZH
BUWAS RERZ WA K
KERENEEELFED
SR EEEIEE RIS
R BRI A Z IRITEMRIN
FEBUTBERFREEK
Aafle

FEmLE

AEEEEZEE R REBURIRR
REMEERRRREERIBEEEEY
LEREEMER - BRI EM
BRHRRRERREEEY ZRE
EfsAEBEFTHEEEREEERH
ZERANEERARK-

755 B FR AR 3 4 B SR 1T IR 2 7 TRAR
MzEAGEERR RERZER
REAEFERNEERFEEREER
PRz AR AR EHIRTT o

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a)

(b)

MESEBZERAMRALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

Market risk (continued)

()

(ii)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)
Sensitivity (continued)

Management believes that the appreciation/
depreciation of RMB and AUD against HK$ would not
have a material impact on the Group’s profit/(loss) after
income tax and other components of equity for the
year. Therefore, no sensitivity analysis is presented for
RMB and AUD against HK$.

Cash flow interest rate risk

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future
cash flows associated with a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.
The Group’s income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates, except for interest income derived from bank
deposits. Apart from the bank deposits held at financial
institutions, the Group has no significant interest
bearing assets and liabilities.

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its financial
assets of trade and other receivables and cash and cash
equivalents. The carrying amounts of trade and other
receivables and cash and cash equivalents, represent the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to
financial assets.

The Group expects that there is no significant credit risk
associated with cash deposits at banks since they are
substantially deposited at medium or large-sized listed banks
with good reputation and credit rating.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
requires the use of the lifetime expected credit loss provision
for impairment of all trade receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics. The Group has
performed historical analysis and identified the key economic
variables impacting credit risk and expected credit loss. It
considers available reasonable and supportable forwarding-
looking information.

Majority of the Group’s revenue is received from individual
customers in relation to IT products sold and are transacted
in cash or credit. The Group’s trade receivables arise from
sales of IT products to the customers.

As at 31 December 2024, the top three debtors and the
largest debtor accounted for approximately 97.4% and
94.7% (2023: 90.4% and 43.0%), of the Group’s trade
receivables balance. In view of the history of business
dealings with the debtors and the sound collection history
of the receivables due from them, management believes
that there is no material credit risk inherent in the Group’s
outstanding receivable balance due from these debtors.
Management makes periodic assessment on the provision
for impairment of the trade and other receivables based
on background and reputation of the customers, historical
payment records, past experience, the length of overdue
period, the financial strength of the debtors and whether
there are any disputes with the debtors. The directors
consider that the Group’s expected loss rate to be low and
no provision for impairment of trade receivables was made as
of 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others,
the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with
the Group, and a failure to make contractual payments for a
period of greater than 90 days past due.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group has assessed
that the expected loss rate for other receivables was
immaterial. Thus, no loss allowance for other receivables was
recognised.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 HBAKRAR (&) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c) FHEEZEE (c) Liquidity risk
AEEEREFREBEEAKRER The Group aims to finance its operations with its own capital
RERSEEERNERTEESHT and earnings and did not have any significant borrowings
AIEAERHEEMRE -AEER or credit facilities being utilised during the year. The Group
BEARG B EBENPFIUEEE maintains its own treasury function to monitor the current
BIRERRBESRERILEEEB and expected liquidity requirements and aims to maintain
GFEEBELZARREAEESE flexibility by keeping sufficient cash and cash equivalents
BYERBEEE - RNEREHER K generated from operations. At the end of the reporting
EEDNFERERBESEBYU period, the Group held cash and cash equivalents and
KREWRN  BHRIMEERE trade receivables, respectively, that are expected to readily
ERBRAIREERESMA generate cash inflows for managing liquidity risk.
TREERESAPESHEEED The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative financial
B A EEETESMEE liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the
DHEMEBERNET O ZE remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual
FMiEEERELENRMRRER maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
E-HRMRTEETAEAR K12 contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within
BEARIPZEGRRBRB—FET 12 months and balances due more than 1 year and not later
BRrMERANERENERmE than 2 years equal their carrying balances as the impact of
BR o discounting is not significant.

—E_NE —E=

2024 2023

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000
—FR Less than 1 year

P& BR A R HL A FE (T R Trade and other payables 5,075 4,168

HEas Lease liabilities 38 775

BR—FERNERME More than 1 year and not later

than two years

HEaE Lease liabilities - 112

3.2 EBEXER 3.2 Capital management

AEEBEEAZBENS  — The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to:—

J REEFELSESET USHERE . safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern, so that
AR ERIEHEEI IR A HEMIF D ER they can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
HAmE ; & benefits for other stakeholders; and

. HERREBARAERBELURLDEERRK . maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of

2'_(0

ATHRHBEERGE  ~EBARES
AN FTRENRENE - ARREE
A BIMROIEEEELRGE
IHo

MESEBZERAMRALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

3.2 Capital management (continued)

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable
to owners of the Company only, comprising share capital and
reserves.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital
on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net
debt divided by total equity. Net debt is calculated as total debts
(including trade and other payables as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position). The Group has a target gearing
ratio at a low level.

—EWE —ET=F
2024 2023
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
HBEFS Total debts 9,270 6,654
B Total equity 162,946 156,720
5.7% 4.2%
AFEHE 3.8 Fair value estimation
(a) Z=HEE (a) Financial assets

() A FEER

AR EEN GRS HBR
RABATERIKRGEZ
T/ T A2 AT EEPREF
ik Est - RRHEERF
EFfFRBABEBNAEEER
ER FEBREZE S ER
RESHIADRA=ZE &
Bk Z SEBBIM T RAR

) Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the judgements and estimates
made in determining the fair values of the financial
instruments that are recognised and measured at
fair value in the consolidated financial statements. To
provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs
used in determining fair value, the Group has classified
its financial instruments into the three levels prescribed
under the accounting standards. An explanation of
each level follows underneath the table.
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(a) ZHEE (&

()

RTFEER & ()

CREATENE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
(a) Financial assets (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Recurring fair value measurements

F1E H2E HIE st

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Hrat FET FET FET FET
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000

RIE-WE
+-B=+—H

TREE

TEEMIA
BRHEMZEK G
ATEIEZEREE 18 -

At 31 December 2024

Financial assets
Derivative financial instrument 17 - - = -
Financial asset at FVOCI

3,496 3,496

RZEZ=

+=A=+-H

THEE

TESRMIA
BRHMZERGR
ATEIEZEREE

At 31 December 2023

Financial assets
Derivative financial instrument 17 -
Financial asset at FVOCI

9,128 9,128

18 = = 1,697 1,697

REFE

o

FEBBRBNREHRE
BRFEEBRNBAREY

HEh -
B1E :

Level 1:

B2 !

Level 2:

3
W
Il

Level 3:

BIMAT
£ 12808 2 R RS

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 for
recurring fair value measurements during the year.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end
of the reporting period.

EERMS MARBENETERRSZHS) BEENERMIANAFERRSHANTISHRE
TR - AEEFENEREEFMANTEREAESRERB -ZEITAINAEIE-

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded
derivatives, and trading securities) is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid
price. These instruments are included in level 1.

WIEFRER™T S WHMTETR) EENEMTENAFERAGERNERE  ZEGERIE
ENARETREEMB DM RBERNEEGT M B IAEATEMEEMEREAREY
RABRYE AZTAMNAE2E-

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-
the-counter derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques which maximise the use of
observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

M—EHZHEABARBLIFRBEIREHm SB[ MZTANASIE -HEEELD
fE ARG 5 o

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is
included in level 3. This includes the case for unlisted equity securities.

122 HMEEEEERAERAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
(a) Financial assets (continued)
(i) Valuation techniques used to determine fair values

The valuation technique used to determine fair value is
discounted cash flow analysis. Based on the financial
budgets and forecast, the determination of fair value
use post-tax cash flow projections covering a five-year
period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using terminal growth rate.

(i) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable
inputs (level 3)

ERBEE
Financial assets

EBHEMEZE

KR AFE

TTESmMTIA JIEZEMEBEE

Derivative Financial

financial asset

instrument at FVOCI

FET FET

HK$000 HK$'000
S —— Balance at 31 December 2022

+ZB=+—HZz4%&E 8,120 1,597

NEEED Change in fair value 470 -~

PE 72 = %8 Exchange difference 538 -~
ATE_=ZF+"F=+—H  Balance at 31 December 2023

ZZEINF—HB—HZ 4R and 1 January 2024 9,128 1,597

N EES Change in fair value (8,883) 399

100 Addition - 1,500

b A= 5H Exchange difference (245) =
R m4E Balance at 31 December 2024

+ZA=t+—HZ#&H

= 3,496
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 AF{EMGE @) 3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
(a) EHEE (&) (a) Financial assets (continued)
(iv) 1EEBABIER AN TFEZ (iv)  Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value
17
g R+ZB=+-BZATE FOBRGARE BAYE BENR EE  FIRREARBAATEZAA HEE
Fair value at Unobservable Range of inputs Relationship of
Description 31 December inputs (probability-weighted) unobservable inputs to fair value Sensitivity
ZBIME CBIZE “BImE CBCZE
2024 2023 2024 2023
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
AER-BREATEGZEE - 9128 EERAERE - 28% MEERARRRARKERELA FEWAMERELHA/ (BH)0.5%
BIE Annual revenue growth rate FERBEERERME AATEREE ARZS=F4Z H + BHAT
Derivative financial instrument m; HEERASREREARRERE BB SN/ (D) £1,280,00087%/
in relation to the interest in an FERBZERE LA BATEREA  (1,248,000%7) 0
associate o Increase/(decrease) in annual revenue
If annual revenue growth rate or terminal  growth rate by 0.5% will increase/
growth rate increases, or risk-adjusted (decrease) the fair value at 31 December
discount rate decreases, the fair value 2023 by approximately HK$1,280,000/
would increase; if annual revenue growth  (HK$1,248,000).
rate decreases or terminal growth rate or
FREER - 2% risk-adjusted discount rate increases, the BRERE LT/ (B{E) 0.5% BIR-F
Terminal growth rate fair value would decrease. iy H +- EE’J@?@%QWD
/ (B) 2,119,007/ (1,962,000
e
Increase/(decrease) in terminal growth
rate by 0.5% will increase/(decrease)
the fair value at 31 December 2023
by approximately HK$2,119,000/
(HKS1,962,000).
BRBEHEE - 14.40% BRBEHERELA/ (4(E) 0.5% Al
Risk-adjusted discount rate A_ﬁ_ ZE+ZA= + BWATHE

124
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#e (d:) /8m4 (2,588,000%7)
/281000087

Increase/(decrease) in risk-adjusted
discount rate by 0.5% will (decrease)/
increase the fair value at 31 December
2023 by approximately (HK$2,588,000)/
HK$2,810,000.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

3.3 AFEEME & 3.8 Fair value estimation (continued)
(a) ZTHEE (& (a) Financial assets (continued)
(v) 1EEBABIER AN TFEZ (iv)  Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value
Bz (& (continued)
it R+ZB=+-RZATE FABRRHAHE WARE M@ HE FIRRBAREEATHEZEG BEE
Fair value at Unobservable Range of inputs Relationship of
Description 31 December inputs (probability-weighted) unobservable inputs to fair value Sensitivity
ZEImE ZEIZE ZEomE CBIZE
2024 2023 2024 2023
TET FET
HK$'000 HKS'000
FEmREARS-HTAPRER 1,996 1697 FEWAERE 3-16% 610% MEEBMARRRARRLEXLA ERRAEERXLA/ (BHF)0.5% (CF
HERAR Annual revenue growth rate NEARBLEEERRM AATEREE —=ZF:05%)  ATEESEN/ (B
Unlisted equity security - iMT Co., m; BEERALEXRRLEERMBE D) 4147,000%7/ (168,00087) (CF
Ltd GERBLERE L AATEREH =% 134,000,/ (126,00087)) o
o Increase/(decrease) in annual revenue
If annual revenue growth rate or terminal growth rate by 0.5% (2023: 0.5%) will
growth rate increases, or risk-adjusted increase/(decrease) the fair value by
discount rate decreases, the fair value approximately HK$147,000/(HK$168,000)
would increase; if annual revenue growth  (2023: HK$134,000/(HK$126,000)).
rate or terminal growth rate decreases, or
REBEE 2% 4%  risk-adjusted discount rate increases, the BAEEEH/ (B{E) 1% (ZBZ=
Terminal growth rate fair value would decrease. F1%) BIATEREEN/ (BD) 4
47,000%7/ (63,000%7) (ZFZ=
£ 1 92,000%7T,/74,000% 7)) ©
Increase/(decrease) in terminal growth
rate by 1% (2023: 1%) will increase/
(decrease) the fair value by approximately
HK$47,000/(HK$63,000) (2023:
HK$92,000/(HK$74,000)).
ERELHERE 17% 17.0% BRBEMRZLA/ (B1) 0.5% (CF
Risk-adjusted discount rate ZZE05%) BIATESS (BY) /
18104 (64,00070) /44,0008 7 (Z %
Z=%:(60,000%70) /71,000%TT) °
Increase/(decrease) in risk-adjusted
discount rate by 0.5% (2023: 0.5%) will
(decrease)/increase the fair value by
approximately (HK$64,000)/HK$44,000
(2023: (HK$60,000)/HK$71,000).
Bz ERENE (RZEH 15.6% 0% WHZBESUFIIRZEHEIEL RZBEBERBLR/ (RE) 1% (ZB
R o UATERERD ; M Z BN Z=F 1%) BATERE (F)) /1
Discount for lack of BARZEFRARRE AATERS MA (3500087 ) /12,0008 (CB
marketabilty (‘DLOM’) 1. ZZE:(17,000%70) /23,000% ) °
If DLOM or DLOC increases, the fair Increase/(decrease) in DLOM by 1%
value would decrease; if DLOM or DLOC (2023: 1%) will (decrease)/increase the
decreases, the fair value would increase.  fair value by approximately (HK$35,000)/
HK$12,000 (2023: (HK$17,000)/
HK$23,000).
Bz EHERE (R 2% 23% HZEHERRLA/ (BH) 1% (28

)
Discount for lack of control
(‘DLOC)

Annual Report 2024 R

ZEE %) AATERE (D) /8
% (37,000%7) /14,000% 7 (Z%
Z=E:(18,000%70) /24,000% ) ©
Increase/(decrease) in DLOC by 1%
(2023: 1%) will (decrease)/increase the
fair value by approximately (HK$37,000/
HK$14,000 (2023: (HK$18,000)/
HK$24,000).
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

3.3 ATFEME & 3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
(a) ZTHEE & (a) Financial assets (continued)
(iv) 1HEEBABIRR AN TFEZ (iv)  Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value
F% (8) (continued)
it R+ZBZ+-RZATE FoUBZEAGE BAYE BENR EE  FIRREARBAATEZAR HEE
Fair value at Unobservable Range of inputs Relationship of
Description 31 December inputs (probability-weighted) unobservable inputs to fair value Sensitivity
“EomE Z®Z= “ECmE CECCF
2024 2023 2024 2023
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$ 000
3&%21& E5-TERBEER 1,500 - FERAKEE 8-24% - MEERABERERARALEEXLA EEWAERELA/ (RE)0.5% 8
NG Annual revenue growth rate “Eﬂwﬁmﬁﬁ?m BINFEREE ATEEGEM/ (BY) Z’]75 00057,/
Unlisted equity security - TeleEye T HEERABREARRERERE  (75,000%7) o
Intelligence Limited “Eﬂwﬁmﬁﬁ?tﬂ BIAFEBEHE Increase/(decrease) in annual revenue
o growth rate by 0.5% will increase/
If annual revenue growth rate or terminal  (decrease) the fair value by approximately
growth rate increases, or risk-adjusted  HK$75,000/(HK$75,000).
discount rate decreases, the fair value
REBREE 2% - would increase; if annual revenue growth HEEER EF/ (B{E) 1% BIATER
Terminal growth rate rate or terminal growth rate decreases, or €111,/ (A/)) Z’]79 OOO?%TE/ 70,000
risk-adjusted discount rate increases, the  #7T)) ©
fair value would decrease. Increase/(decrease) in terminal growth
rate by 1% will increase/(decrease) the
fair value by approximately HK$79,000/
(HK$70,000).
Rl RE 17% - BRBERRE LA/ (B1E) 0.5% 82
Risk-adjusted discount rate ﬁﬁ#@ (B2) /m i’] (60 000%E7T)
/63,0007 °
Increase/(decrease) in risk-adjusted
discount rate by 0.5% will (decrease)/
increase the fair value by approximately
(HK$60,000)/HK$63,000.
Bz EHNE 15.6% - ERZBEEUTERRZEHEREL ﬁ?z@fm&*}hgtﬁ/ ) 1% BIAF
DLOM HAATERERLD BRZEHT ERE (HL) /NS (1 8000?%75)/
ERRZEHENERE AATERE 70007%75
Bme Increase/(decrease) in DLOM by 1% wil
If DLOM or DLOC increases, the fair (decrease)/increase the fair value by
value would decrease; if DLOM or DLOG  approximately (HK$18,000)/HK$17,000.
decreases, the fair value would increase.
(2t ik 28% - ﬁﬁz}’*% BiTELA/ (B0 1% BIAT
DLOC e (d) /Ema ( 20000?&75)/
90007%75
Increase/(decrease) in DLOC by 1% will
(decrease)/increase the fair value by
approximately (HK$20,000)/HK$19,000.
Kzt : Note:
TR 2R & A Bk 2 B g There were no significant inter-relationship between
NFEEREATZEZEAEE unobservable that materially affect fair value.
B o
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

v)

Valuation processes

The finance department of the Group performs
valuations of non-property items required for financial
reporting purposes, including level 3 fair values. They
report directly to the management. Discussions of
valuation processes and results are held at each
interim and annual reporting date.

The main level 3 inputs used by the Group are derived
and evaluated as follows:

. Discount rates for financial asset is determined
using a capital asset pricing model to calculate
a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risk specific to the asset.

o Risk adjustments specific to the counterparties
(including assumptions about credit default rates)
are derived from credit risk gradings determined
by the Group’s internal credit risk management
group.

° Annual revenue growth rate and terminal growth
rate for unlisted equity securities are estimated
based on market information for similar types of
companies.

o DLOM is a discount applied to reflect the lack
of marketability of an asset, typically for minority
interests in private companies or restricted
securities.

° DLOC is a discount applied to reflect the lack of
control associated with a minority interest in a
business.

Changes in level 3 fair values are analysed at the end
of each reporting period during the half-yearly valuation
discussion between the management and the finance
department. As part of this discussion, the finance
department presents a report that explains the reason
for the fair value movements.
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(b)

(c)
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CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting
estimates which, by definition, will seldom equal the actual results.
Management also needs to exercise judgement in applying the Group’s
accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that may have a financial impact on the Group and that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a)

(b)

(c)

Estimation of fair value of financial assets at FVOCI

The fair value of financial instrument that is not traded in an active
market is determined using valuation techniques. The Group uses
its judgement to select a variety of methods and make assumptions
that are mainly based on market conditions existing at the end of
each reporting period. For details of the key assumptions used and
the impact of changes to these assumptions, see Note 3.3(a).

Income taxes

Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are transactions and calculations during the
ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax treatment
is subject to judgement. If the Group considers it is probable that
these judgements will result in different tax positions, the most
likely amounts or expected value of the outcome will be estimated
and adjustments to the income tax expense and income tax
liabilities will be made accordingly.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain deductible temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when management
considers it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary differences or tax losses can be
utilised. When the expectations are different from the original
estimates, such differences will impact the recognition of deferred
income tax assets and income tax charges in the period in which
such estimates have been changed.

Impairment of interest in an associate

Interest in an associate is reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. The recoverable amounts have been
determined based on value-in-use calculations or fair value less
costs of disposal. These calculations require the use of judgements
and estimates.
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4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(continued)

(c)

(d)

Impairment of interest in an associate (continued)

Management judgement is required in the area of asset impairment
particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event has occurred that
may indicate that the related asset values may not be recoverable;
(i) whether the carrying value of asset can be supported by its
recoverable amount, being the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value-in-use; and (iii) the appropriate key assumptions
to be applied in preparing cash flow projections including whether
these cash flow projections are discounted using an appropriate
rate. Changing the assumptions selected by management in
assessing impairment, including the discount rates or the growth
rate assumptions in the cash flow projections, could materially
affect the net present value used in the impairment test and as a
result affect the Group’s reported financial condition and results of
operations. If there is a significant adverse change in the projected
performance and resulting future cash flow projections, it may
be necessary to take an impairment charge to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables which are not assessed individually. The provision
rates are based on days past due for grouping of various customer
segments that have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is
initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates.
The Group calibrates the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss
experience with forward-looking information. At the reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in
the forward-looking estimates are analysed. The assessment of
the correlation among historical observed default rates, forecast
economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The
amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and
forecast in economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be
representative of a customer’s default in the future. The information
about ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables and related credit risk
is disclosed in notes 19 and 3.1(b), respectively.
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WARZEER

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

AEBZWALERUWT : The Group derives the following types of revenue:
—EmE BT =HF
2024 2023
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
HE R HEITE R Sales and distribution of IT products 323,363 133,004
HERRESE Repairs and service support 27,825 19,133
HUA Total revenue 351,188 152,137

FEBTIENFHERDHITERUASEHIT
EmZEEREMRE -

EFEERAREENEERERBDZATESR
(TRITEE) WTEFCRERSMERR
RIEHREREZENEEEE -

HITEFNHERBENEAERAZRBELEM
FEREGEIMETZROLE -

() HERIHTER: ZEBHEAR R
EREHRGEERRURDHEE=F
TEmR ; &

(i) MERRHTZIE  ZXFHROIRMEFE
m A~ MEE R A AR ST 3R

&

REEAEETLHS BHBRELCES

BE_T_MOEKR_F_=F£+_HA=+—H
EFE ’Itﬁﬁﬁiﬁ%ﬁi‘?é%°%§9l\%ﬁ%7ﬁzuw\
BEREGRE2ERERERZ A8

RERTERZAMNERA-HEERZFER
AERAXERDEED R REDILEEEHT)
HEREAEERRER T Z P REERAESFIE
@JO

The Group is principally engaged in the sales and distribution of IT
products, and the provision of repairs and other service support of IT
products.

The chief operating decision-makers have been identified as the
executive directors of the Company (the “Executive Directors”). The
Executive Directors have determined the operating segments based
on the information reviewed by them that are used to make strategic
decisions.

The Executive Directors examine the Group’s performance from a product
perspective, and have identified two reportable segments of the Group’s
business:

(i) Sales and distribution of IT products: this part of business designs,
manufactures and markets video surveillance systems and
distributes third party IT products; and

(ii) Repairs and service support: repairs, maintenance and other
service support for electronic products are provided under this part
of business.

No operating segments have been aggregated in arriving at the
reportable segments of the Group.

No sales between segments are carried out during the years ended
31 December 2024 and 20283. The revenue from external parties
is measured in the same way as in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Interest income from bank deposits, interest on lease liabilities and
corporate expenses are not allocated to segments, as these types of
activities are driven by the central treasury function, which manages the
cash position of the Group.
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5 WARDEER @ 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

BE_Z_MF+_A=+—HLEFERNZ

The segment information for the year ended and as at 31 December

Bz 2EERNT 2024 is as follows:
HER HIER
DEEITESR PR %5 2 & st
Sales and Repairs
distribution of and service
IT products support Total
FET FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FEINEER ZWA Revenue from external customers 323,363 27,825 351,188
A B SR B Time of revenue recognition
—NE KRR, — At a point in time 323,363 27,825 351,188
DEBEA Segment profit 9,414 5,832 15,246
IRITERFEWA Interest income from bank deposits 1,102
Haug A Other income 1,323
e TEREMEH Salaries, wages and other benefits (3,074)
TEER Depreciation charge (11)
APEERBHEEZ HaE) Unallocated corporate expenses (Note) (3,356)
KE RN Operating profit 11,230
Up N Finance costs (19)
MESMIAZRAFERE Fair value loss on derivative financial
instrument (8,883)
EREEEARZ Share of net profit of an associate
e — R B & A B AL R accounted for using the equity
method 531
FRPETISMATRF] Profit before income tax 2,859
FRiEMBE X Income tax expense (2,587)
REE Profit for the year 272
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(continued)

BE_Z_MNF+_A=+—HLEFERNZ
BzR@ERNT @ (&

The segment information for the year ended and as at 31 December
2024 is as follows: (continued)

HE_S-ME+ZA=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

132

HER HER
DEETE R IR#% % 1% e et
Sales and Repairs
distribution of  and service
IT products support  Unallocated Total
FAET FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
ME- BB RREITE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 4 4 11 19
FREEEITE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 218 423 - 641
MERERZH Research and development
expenditures 406 - - 406
REFRDEE Additions to non-current assets - 159 - 159
HE R HIER
DEITE R BR#5 2 1B Mzt
Sales and Repairs
distribution of and service
IT products support Total
FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
AERSEEE Reportable segment assets 116,110 1,863 117,973
R—REBEA S 2 #m Interest in an associate 9,774
RENREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 39,678
ROELRBIEE Unallocated corporate assets 4,791
HEVBERRRANZEEE Total assets per consolidated
statement of financial position 172,216
AIERDEAR Reportable segment liabilities 2,293 2,883 5,176
BHAIR IR & & Current tax liabilities 1,424
APERBE®E Unallocated corporate liabilities 2,670
REMBRRARRNZEEE Total liabilities per consolidated
statement of financial position 9,270
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BE_Z_-F+_A=+—HLEFERRZ

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

The segment information for the year ended and as at 31 December

HzoEERWT 2023 is as follows:
HE & HIER
DEEITE R AR# 2 % st
Sales and Repairs
distribution of and service
IT products support Total
FET FAET FET
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$'000
KB FE ZWA Revenue from external customers 133,004 19,133 152,137
A B SR B Time of revenue recognition
—NE KRR, — At a point in time 133,004 19,133 152,137
DHEF Segment profit 4,338 3,458 7,796
IRITERFEWA Interest income from bank deposits 2,955
Haug A Other income 4,299
e TEREMEH Salaries, wages and other benefits (3,541)
TEER Depreciation charge (674)
KXPEATHEZ (Hat) Unallocated corporate expenses (Note) (5,182)
KE RN Operating profit 5,653
B 75 A A Finance costs (114)
MEESMITAZ AFERS Fair value gain on derivative financial
instrument 470
EREEEARZ Share of net profit of an associate
e — R B & A B AL R accounted for using the equity
method 1,593
bR SR AT @ A Profit before income tax 7,602
FRiEMBE X Income tax expense (987)
REE Profit for the year 6,615
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#) (continued)
%i_ﬁi_fﬁﬁ—:ﬁ =t+—HIEFERRZ The segment information for the year ended and as at 31 December
DEERANT (@) 2023 is as follows: (continued)
BE_Z-=F£+"HA=t+—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HER HER
DEHITE & R#% =& Epaliw f
Sales and Repairs
distribution of and service
IT products support Unallocated Total
FET FET FET FAET
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ME- -BERREINE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 14 28 7 49
FREEEITE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 655 424 667 1,746
MrEkEFERZE Research and development
expenditures 846 - 846
REERBEE Additions to non-current assets - - 16 16
RIEZ=%+Z"HA=+—H
As at 31 December 2023
THE K B
DEITER AR 2 1% st
Sales and Repairs
distribution of and service
IT products support Total
FAET FET FAET
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000
AE2RDEEE Reportable segment assets 38,055 1,626 39,681
R—EHE AR 2 #m Interest in an associate 9,670
TEEMIT A Derivative financial instrument 9,128
RENREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 104,485
RAPERBEE Unallocated corporate assets 410
REMBRRRAZEEE Total assets per consolidated
statement of financial position 163,374
AE2RSEAHE Reportable segment liabilities 2,870 1,188 4,058
BEARIE AR Current tax liabilities 750
E AN /NI R=N Unallocated corporate liabilities 1,846
KEMBRRRAZEEE Total liabilities per consolidated
statement of financial position 6,654

Kt . RO ABMAZIE—RABRI WHITAE Note: Unallocated corporate expenses represent general corporate expenses
e REMASB—RETHRER - such as executive salaries and other unallocated general and administrative
expenses.
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(continued)

AEBRFERIEEZ - THEREUNEFRHEBERS The Group’s business activities are conducted predominantly with

A TRITAEAEERFRMNES D 2K E customers in North America, Asia and Europe. The amount of its

IEERAZBMACREREAEEEREEME revenue from external customers broken down by location of the Group’s

BEREDzEMTAMINZIERIEE customers and non-current assets other than financial instruments based
on countries where the Group’s entities operate is shown in the table
below.

KEIMBERZBA ERTAMSMZIERBEE

Revenue from Non-current assets other
external customers than financial instruments
ZEINgE o= ZEWNE _—T_=4
2024 2023 2024 2023
FAET FHET FET FHET

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000

&5 Hong Kong 315,561 111,890 165 365
Hz Japan 20,296 26,280 - -
M Australia 8,128 5,606 34 458
EE (=B United States (the “US”) 6,244 6,106 = =
YElE| Netherlands 959 - 9,774 9,670
Hith Others - 2,255 - 4
351,188 152,137 9,973 10,497
DUTAMNER 2 P {8 B4k A S B AR W A 3811 0% A2 TR The following external customers individually contributing over 10% of the
RIEERDHEITERDLE - Group’s total revenue and are attributable to the sales and distribution of

IT products segment:

—EmE B F

2024 2023

FET FAET

HK$’000 HK$'000

ERA Customer A 291,925 *

=FAB Customer B & 76,210
* F54F Y B BN B AR 7 L FE1 0% B9 UL 72 o * Representing revenue contributed less than 10% of the total revenue of the

Group during the year.
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(a)

(b)

BAHNaR

FEBERRTIAERERENZE

Th

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

(a)

Contract liabilities

The Group has recognised the following liabilities related to
contracts with customers:

—E_mE . S
2024 2023
FHET TFET
HK$°000 HK$'000

BHERDBITERZGNERE

of o

BEERRBZEZSGNER

Contract liabilities related to sales and
distribution of IT products - 242

Contract liabilities related to repair and
service support

2,579 =

BMNBEEERHERAETERZMEHEHN
ERERBARERWEBAMRIE
TNE+-RA=+—H ' aNEREE
BEREREHEREREHEZITERMEE
RERBZE (CET=F #ETER) B
BRI = A WER AN RIE - G B AR
RBREENRBEERES —FRERDS
WA e

Contract liabilities represent advanced payments received from
customers for goods or services that have not yet been delivered
or rendered to the customers. As at 31 December 2024 the
contract liabilities mainly included the advanced payments received
from individual customers for repair and service support of IT
products (2023: sales of IT products) to be provided after the end
of respective reporting period. The contract liabilities are expected
to be recognised as revenue within one year from date of inception
of respective contracts.

MENBEEIAZIKA (b) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities
—E_M4E TEI=fF
2024 2023
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
W—HB—H2Z&8 Balance as at 1 January 242 3,479
KEEERFIFAGHNEEZ Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of
WABRSHEERD recognising revenue during the year that
was included in the contract liabilities
at the beginning of the year (242) (3,479)
WENFBNRIBE RSB FEEM Increase in contract liabilities as a result of
advanced payments received 2,579 242
R+ZB=+—BZ#%&e Balance as at 31 December 2,579 242

FEMBEESHNZREBRFR KD
—FHUT AHEEERERBEBYF
BEERF 1R BRRES R LER
BENEENRSARKAFENRIIETE
HEMRBS —FHUTHENTREREN
BEZRSERK

The Group’s sales contracts generally have an original expected
duration of one year or less and accordingly, the Group has applied
the practical expedient in HKFRS 15 not to disclose the transaction
price allocated to the remaining performance obligations for the
contracts existed at the end of the reporting period that has an
original expected duration of one year or less.
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6 HfhugA 6 OTHER INCOME
—E-mE T —
2024 2023
FET FAET
HK$°000 HK$ 000
LW A Rental income 1,200 2,400
IRITERFE WA Interest income from bank deposits 1,102 2,955
BORBE AN ERBE Reversal of impairment loss in an associate - 1,639
Hih Others 494 644
2,796 7,638
X (2HEE9) 7 EXPENSES BY NATURE
T WE . S
2024 2023
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
1% BL M Bl <& Auditors’ remuneration
— B IR - Audit services 750 750
—IEB LR - Non-audit services 100 100
FMEEEMA Cost of inventories sold 326,155 134,310
WEER (Hat15) Depreciation charge (Note 15)
—NE - BERRE - Property, plant and equipment 19 49
—fFREEEESA - Right-of-use-assets included within:

—HE Tt RIEF - Leasehold land and buildings 641 1,746
WS 2~ R R ok Write off of property, plant and equipment 15 =
BEGAHZ (BEESME) Employee benefits expenses,

(Ht&£8) including directors’ emoluments (Note 8) 9,121 11,373
ME& = Gain on lease termination (5) (46)
EREE (Wm) F58 Net foreign exchange loss/(gain) 173 (887)
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EERAMFAX (BEEFEME)

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

—EmE T =HF

2024 2023

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

e TERHEMBER Salaries, wages and other benefits 9,085 10,941
BrRE—-FRERMETE Pension costs — defined contribution plans 124 377
EHR® & (#12229) Long services payment (Note 29) (88) 55
9,121 11,373

(a)

BAE-FERATE

FEBEBREBRINTHEEEHLER

ZEZEES ,\L,H:%/E%m?ﬂ?r%

- EB(EREMN)RENRARE
%o

FEBRERAETBAGFENREFIER
{8 8 7 3R B e 38 13 HA R P Bk A A9 5 51
KRR EL R IRZ T ERS B -

HRRARBEEE  RRRDHOGEEE
%EFJ}DE?ZK%@EEm?(EEE’]%@F%@

Mz RERGMEENERBAREE
ElEszﬁ?m)ﬁﬁ%ffﬁEﬁfEEE’]TﬁTA°
A ERXFEERRSHNAEERN
AFESFBFIRBHNMBERERARERR
ERMNEEFEMET LEEBHNRTE
RN EEFENETELE BT TR
st &IRYF) B 5 S0P 8RS H At S2 1S R e
HESE (Rf¥EE28) ©

(a)

Pensions - defined benefit plan

The Group has the following defined benefit plan for those
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong SAR:

S LSP under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.

The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plan
calculated by estimating the amount of future benefit that
employees have earned in the current and prior periods and
discounting that amount.

For LSP obligations, the estimated amount of future benefit is
determined after deducting the negative service cost arising from
the accrued benefits derived from the Group’s MPF contributions
that have been vested with employees, which are deemed to be
contributions from the relevant employees. Net interest expense
for the period is determined by applying the discount rate used
to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the
reporting period to the then net defined benefit liability, taking into
account any changes in the net defined benefit liability during the
period. Net interest expense and other expenses related to defined
benefit plans are recognised in profit or loss in note 28.

MESEBZERAMRALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited



REMBRRE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

8

EERMAX (BEEEMN=)

(&

(a)

BAE-FEMMRE (&

B ATSHE (RS HE) 5 (5
BREIE AT B ) N EDB LS
HABEZ RERRBAE RERE
ei8 BIREEASEESARES
FERIUA 2 5% 381,500 7% (LUBE & %
%) BEt B

AEBMPRBENEECWBLREEES
Superannuation Fundf{ 8> ZEE5AH
BUZENEEZREERTORAKEE oA
EEBREBEERIRAZ10.5%EHHER
MBBFRIREZET LR

FERRPERHEEMNBRADEES
B TRKREHER S %6 E R BB
BFZ REHPBARTE - AEERRZE
ERBWAZEEBDLEFH AR R
BFARECET LR - FTRAEHIE
ZEBRBEIRIMT

HITRIARE 6%
HITRE 8%
BRMARE 1 4.9%

FERBNEEREBZREREAEANRNK
2k (MR ZHE) (FHER - A EH
REEBWAZ16%MZBKEZHF
HftRR e

FEBERNETRZEZEEQNZR(BEES
ER)EBEZEESFHHER -ZBEES
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) o
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“=HEm)o

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING
D|RECTORS, EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a)

Pensions - defined contribution plans (continued)

The Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
is a defined contribution retirement plan under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make contributions to the
scheme at the lower of 5% of the employees’ relevant income or
HK$1,500 each month.

Employees of the subsidiary of the Group operating in Australia
are members of the Superannuation Fund, which is a defined
contribution retirement plan operated by independent trustees. The
Group is required to make contributions calculated as 10.5% of the
employees’ gross income, subject to certain ceilings imposed.

The employee of the subsidiary of the Group operating in Republic
of China is a member of the labour pension system, which is a
defined contribution retirement plan operated by the government.
The Group is required to make contributions calculated as a
prescribed percentage of the employee’s relevant income, subject
to certain ceilings imposed. The applicable percentages for the
labour pension system are listed below:

Labour pension: 6%
Labour insurance: 8%
Health insurance: 4.9%

The Group contributes Individual Retirement Arrangement (the
“IRA”) for the employee employed in the United States. The Group
made contributions calculated as 16% of the employee’s gross
income to the pension arrangement.

The Group contributes a pension fund governed by the Pensions
Law for the employee employed under the jurisdiction of
Netherlands. The pension fund is a defined contribution retirement
plan operated by independent trustees. The Group made
contributions calculated as approximately 8.1% of the employee’s
gross income to the pension scheme.

No forfeited contributions were utilised during the year (2023: Nil).

No contributions were payable to the pension fund at the year-end
(2023: Nil).
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8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING
D|RECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group,
none of them (2023: None) was director of the Company whose
emoluments are included in the disclosure in Note 9 for the year
ended 31 December 2024. The emoluments of the five individuals
(2023: five) for the year are as follows:

—E-mE —E-=x
2024 2023
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
EAFHE - ERZM HMEMK Basic salaries, housing allowances, other
2@ allowances and benefits in kind 2,879 2,902
BRE WA —FE R E Pension costs — defined contribution plans 54 86
EHRR®E® Long service payment 16 9
2,949 2,997
s EmT - The emoluments fell within the following band:
—EMmE —EI=fF
2024 2023
A& A
No. of No. of
individuals individuals
=& E (B Emolument band (in HK$)
£ %E1,000,000%8 7T Nil to HK$1,000,000 5 ®

FR BEDLUMNERSZ A TSI
B 'F 7 0 A 52 [Bh 350 Bt Bl 4 18 o

During the year, no emoluments have been paid to the five highest
paid individuals as an inducement to join or as compensation for
loss of office.

140 HMEEEEERAERAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited



REMBRRE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9 EEM=

EENEWENT

HE_Z_mNE+_-_BA=+—HLEE

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments are disclosed as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

AR
BRI
ik i RMEBTA REREVMEN  (EHZHZ st
Employer’s
contribution
toa
Allowance retirement
Discretionary  and benefits benefit
Fees Salary bonuses in kind scheme Total
FET FET FET FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BTESR Executive directors
BEauL Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan = = = - - -
BERELE WZZIME Mr. Han Chun-Wei
AR+t HEM (retired on 17 May 2024) = = - - - -
FHITES Non-executive directors
RERLE Mr. Chang Chuan-Wang 420 - = = = 420
BR¥Rk Mr. Hsia Ke-Ping = - - - - -
HERERE Mr. Lin Weiru = = - - - -
BRALE RZBIME Mr. Kao Chao Yang
EB+tHER (retired on 17 May 2024) = = - - - -
BUFgTES Independent non-executive directors
BRIERE Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter 120 - = = = 120
FRELE Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling 120 - = = = 120
BEALE Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben 120 - = = - 120
780 - - - - 780
Annual Report 2024 141



AR

MBI M EE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9

142

EEME @

9 D|RECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

EEMEREBWT - Directors’ emoluments are disclosed as follows:
BHE =F+ZA=+—HULEHE For the year ended 31 December 2023
EFmRHk
BRIE
ik % METL 2HRENER  (FHZER st
Employer's
contribution
toa
Allowance retirement
Discretionary ~ and benefits benefit
Fees Salary bonuses in kind scheme Total
FEr FEr FEr FET FET FET
HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
BTESE Executive directors
HLREE (ER) Mr. Hong Sung-Tai (chairman)

(RZE-=ENE+MAFMT)  (resigned on 14 April 2023) 121 S S = - 121
BEALL Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan = = - - - -
BERRL Mr. Han Chun-Wei S S = - - -
ERRREMZ22=F Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann

MA+MAFT) (resigned on 14 April 2023) S = = - - -
FHTES Non-executive directors
BRERE Mr. Kao Chao Yang = = - - - -
REELE (2R) Mr. Chang Chuan-Wang (chairman)

(RZEZ=4MA+MEZRMA)  (appointed on 14 April 2023) 299 S = - - 299
BUFRTES Independent non-executive directors
BRERE Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter 120 S S = = 120
B Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling 120 S = = - 120
BERLE Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben 120 = = - - 120

780 - - - - 780

ECEME+_BA=+—HLEFE FE
EEiERnEEAAMEFERMARERSM
ATERRZZEBIBEREE (CT_=F:
) oM BET_MER_B_=F+_
A=+—HLFE UBEEREXFAERE
E AT = o

ERFTHTESEZME NI ERRSFRMS
HMEBEARARAEREF ZRBEMEH - £
KFFRFEHTEZZME DI EMBEUETR
BAHEMNBARDEEFSMIEHRZME L - £
RFIRBUFRATEEFZMEDEZBEFU
FRBEZEMIRERFMEL -

No emoluments was paid by the Group to the Directors as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as an compensation for the loss of
office for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). In addition, no
directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group. The non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were mainly for their services as directors of the Company
or its subsidiaries. The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were mainly for their services as directors of the Company.
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10 BAFEAR A 10 FINANCE COSTS
ZEZUE —Eo=fF
2024 2023
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
HEaGEZHE Interest on lease liabilities 19 114
11 B AE 11 SUBSIDIARIES
AEER _ZE-_NOF+-_B=1+—HZEEK The Group’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2024 are set out
BABEIMT below.
= 0 B 3L 3t B K
ERAiE EANBRER FTEEH BRTRAHE FSEEFEZEERER

Place of incorporation and

Particulars of
issued share

Ownership interest

Name of the entity kind of legal entity Principal activities capital held by the Group
ZTCME
2024
B ¥
Directly  Indirectly
% %
GircuTech Investment RBEYHEE BREZR e 100 -
Holdings (BVI) Limited (EBEREE))
BRAH
British Virgin Islands (‘BVI"), Investment holding Us$1
limited liability company
Signal Communications EBREUEE BRAT REER 15,000,000 75 100 -
Holdings Limited
BVI, limited liability company  Investment holding HK$15,000,000
AEERERRRAE BB BRAF REZR TERZHERDHE HER 187 - 100
HitfR#% &
CircuTech Investment Limited Hong Kong, limited liability Investment holdings, sales and HK$1
company distribution together with repairs and
other service support of IT products
AEEEX (BE) BRATH B8 ARAE T & 2 S5 R H ~ B R LAt AR 75 1,000 7 - 100
5274
CircuTech Enterprises (HK) Limited  Hong Kong, limited liability Sales and distribution together with HK$1,000
company repairs and other service support of
IT products
CircuTech Holdings Alliances THEBRAE TERZHEERDH 0.01Bk T - 100
(Netherlands) B.V. Netherlands, Limited liability Sales and distribution of IT products EUR0.01
company
CircuTech Inc. 28 BRRE TERZHEERDH 1,000% 7T - 100
USA, limited liability company  Sales and distribution of IT products US$1,000
CircuTech Australia Pty. Ltd. Bl BRAR TERZEBREREBEZE 18T - 100
Australia, limited liability Repair and service support of IT AUD1
company products
CircuTech Japan K.K BA BRAS TERZHEERDH 100,000H & - 100
Japan, limited liability company  Sales and distribution of IT products JPY100,000
HEBERRERAR BB BRAH TERZEBRREBZE 100,000% 7T - 51
Circutex Technology Limited Hong Kong, limited liability Repair and service support of IT US$100,000
company products
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R—HEBEA AT ZEE 12 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE
ZEZmE —EI=F
2024 2023
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
K—A—H As at 1 January 9,670 6,053
FETE BEE AR ES Share of results of an associate 531 1,593
BEEEE (D] Reversal of impairment loss - 1,639
BE 2 = &8 Exchange difference (427) 385
W+-ZB=+—H As at 31 December 9,774 9,670

TYXHEINAEBR_ZE_NF+ZA=+—H
ZEEBMERT c FTXFAMNERBZKRAEREK
REIBZBFE 2 Z B AR o 5F M Ak 1 2 5 it
BRTAEFESE M AFFE 2B
1 2 LU 5] B 1 SRR LE B AR R ©

Set out below is the principal associate of the Group as at 31 December
2024. The entity listed below has share capital consisting solely of
ordinary shares, which are held indirectly by the Company. The country
of incorporation or registration is also its principal place of business, and
the proportion of ownership interest is the same as the proportion of
voting rights held.

M
BRRLTE 11 AR 32 B R RAEEE StERE BREREELLA
Place of
business/country Nature of Measurement % of
Name of the entity of incorporation relationship method ownership interest
—EmE —Z”=F
2024 2023
4Square Return GmbH =E BE AT @A 21% 21%
Germany Associate Equity method

ZBMERRTE LHEEAMNK BAKRE

TH) RFERAD EHEEREHRT K
%&@H&HE?‘ EEBEHRE LR -BmmaR
%&%% EERKABEFERFHEUR

Du D_\L

WEEERE

RIZZ—N\FARANB  AEETLEBE#H
% B AL A T W HE4Square Return GmbH
(lasquare ) BETRAZ21%#E R RWE
R {E7%1,600,00088 7t (1HE 1 #%14,508,000
BT cfFARNK AEERKEBEEERE
8(i) 4Squarez21%k& 1 > f 2 %6,569,00078
TER(i)— R RBRERELRRE AFENS
7,939,000 L - ZBER BN _E—/\FtA
+7'|_.E|71:ﬁz°

The associate is principally engaged in compliance consulting, the
provision of sales and marketing services, collecting and take back
services, asset remarketing services, recycling, commodities aggregation
and trading, certified waste electrical and electronic equipment
disassembly, and metals separation and concentration, in particular,
in the information technology, telecommunications and electronics
industries.

Summary of acquisition

On 4 June 2018, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement
to acquire 21% of the issued share capital of 4Square Return GmbH
(“4Square”) from independent parties by cash consideration of
EUR1,600,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$14,508,000). In return,
the Group is entitled to (i) 21% of equity interest in 4Square at a cost
of HK$6,569,000 and (ii) a call option and buy-back option at fair value
of approximately HK$7,939,000 at the date of the acquisition. The
transaction was completed on 19 July 2018.
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R—REBEQT 2w @
WM EERE ()

REARERSCAEMRITEHRNRIRERER
EFTEIRAREE 21T BUWIE4SquareZ FT B
BR TR o 1T AT  A4Square R EEEH E —
ZTFF+ A+ HUEFEZRERES
MBEREEMOPEEEER BB ZEXH
20 (MREEAEEME) - MAEEN B E AR
AR E R AT R (TSR BE HA#E > Bl4SquareE
HMIRERRERERREBEER=EAURN
O A E @A F4SquareIFrBERID KBS
1 600,000BR 7T © IRE S B B M S 4R 55958
REARELELREREERERIRATET
{EZ$—%’§D1J$$|WEIE\°

BB A B A S B U B B AR (5 4Square
R EEKRBEN R TFEFEMNED TR
RHEE AR —EBREAR 2 #xm-

EAEEZI_v_EE—?— B=+—BHLFEH#RE
@ AM#9531,00058 7T (Z2 =4 : #1,593,000
F%TE) (BNAEBEGLBMERATER) -

A2 —F+—ANB> #R4SquaredI IR
SR E=F— B —HEFE_T=
FE+Z A=+ —H AEEITILIBARBEE
FIREEEAE AR MR B BRI R 0GR

4SquareM A E-MIBNITEREHEA BT 25
ER_E-NE T _TF KT
BT ERBIE SV BRERMEE4Squarer

4F 4 %Ed'% Rk Eaitoh > BRE 15k 2 Fr A HAth
TR AR R

A _E_NFETtA+ B AEEEEEBEMN
4SquareRERE A FITER B SRR
BRM4Square RR T ESEBAMAEEBET
BTEELRNAE AL WEHAEEERER
KMo AEBMPRRIEEARD KR ILES

BEFITE &
BRTAREEITEESRITIANQAFEBERY
8,883,000/ 7T °

12

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continuea)

Summary of acquisition (continued)

The call option allows the Group to acquire all the remaining shares
of 4Square in the exercise period at an exercise price determined in
accordance with the terms set out in shareholders’ agreement. The
exercise period is from the date that the audited consolidated financial
statements of 4Square for year ended 31 December 2023 are filed in
Germany until the Business Day that falls six months thereafter (“Call
Option Period”). If the Group does not exercise the call option before
the expiry of Call Option Period, the other 4Square existing shareholders
may buy-back all of the shares in the 4Square held by the Group
within three months from the expiry of the Call Option Period for the
consideration of EUR1,600,000. The call option and buy-back option
were treated as a single component derivative financial instrument at fair
value through profit and loss under HKFRS 9.

The excess of the cost of investment over the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of 4Square at the date
of acquisition was recognised as goodwill and included the interest in an
associate.

A profit of approximately HK$531,000 representing the Group’s share of
results of the associate was recorded for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: approximately HK$1,593,000).

On 8 November 2021, the Group entered into a supplemental agreement
to revise the Call Option Period due to the change of 4Square’s reporting
period from 31 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 and the call option
price will be based on 5 times the earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation of the 4 Square minus the aggregate
amount by which the net profit of the 4Square as set out in the 2019,
2020, 2021, 2022 audited consolidated financial statements. Save
for the above, all other terms of the shareholders’s agreement remain
unchanged.

On 12 July 2024, the Group has notified the 4Square shareholder
in writing that it would not exercise the Call Option. The Call Option
was lapsed. The 4Square shareholder has also notified the Group in
writing that they would not exercise the buy-back option. Accordingly,
both options were lapsed during the year. The Group has recognised
a fair value loss on derivative financial instrument of approximately
HK$8,883,000 upon derecognition and derecognised the derivative
financial instrument.
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R—EBEARZERE @ 12 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continueq)
BMEABTZHBERBE Summarised financial information for an associate
TREIHEE A U BERMEB-PIIREZ The tables below provide summarised financial information for the
BRRMAERABE R B 2GR BRRMES associate. The information disclosed reflects the amounts presented in
&8 MIET S SEKERERABEMHN the consolidated financial statements of the relevant associate and not
s -2EsHEORMAEBFRAERZE CircuTech International Holdings Limited’s share of those amounts. They
FEFTEZ2BAE  BENGSTHREEMEZE have reflected adjustments made by the Group when using the equity
570 method, including modifications for differences in accounting policy.
—EFEmE —F=
2024 2023
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
RERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 7,234 8,674
HiRgh&EE Other current assets 38,652 34,788
WREMEE Total current assets 45,886 43,462
EREBEE Non-current assets 20,648 24,219
mEaR Current liabilities (30,060) (29,365)
EREEIR Non-current liabilities (374) (3,842)
BEFE Net assets 36,100 34,474
BAREE 2 HER - Reconciliation to carrying amounts:
RENZ2EEZE Net assets at beginning of the year 34,474 24,757
REE imH Profit for the year 2,529 7,587
PE 70 7= %8 Exchange difference (903) 2,130
FREEZFE Closing net assets 36,100 34,474
KEBDEZEHDLE Group’s share in % 21% 21%
KEBDLZERE Group’s share in amount 7,581 7,240
= Goodwill 2,193 2,430
BREE Carrying amount 9,774 9,670
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R—EBEAR Zz#EE @ 12 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continueq)
BMEATZHMBEMNBE (&) Summarised financial information for an associate (continued)
—E-mE BT =F
2024 2023
FET FAET
HK$°000 HK$'000
A Revenue 118,064 112,501
7 &8 R i 6 Depreciation and amortisation 3,114 3,063
FMERZ Interest expense 120 433
MM Tax expenses 1,783 3,270
REE RN REME @ E Profit and other comprehensive income
for the year 2,529 7,587

AZECME+"A=Z+—H BESEAE
ER—ME sz RREE (T2

FE)  RIEME+ZA=+— EI’

EETERG—BBMEATD ZEARE (=
Z=FE o

4H+>HIH+FFF

There is no contingent liability in relation to the Group’s interest in an
associate on 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). As at 31 December 2024,
the Group has no share of capital commitments of an associate (2023:
Nil).

A
FRiSHR R 2 13 INCOME TAX EXPENSE
ERMNERIIMBEEZNFE+ A =+— Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% on the estimated
HIEEEZ A EREREFIR165% (CTEFEZ= assessable profits for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: 16.5%).
£ :16.5% ) 5t 8o
mAZREBEDRAFEE G ERRGF RAE Taxation on profit has been calculated on the estimated assessable profit
EEEMERR MEaxERMMERFE KN for the year at the rates of taxation prevailing in the countries/jurisdiction
TTNEBNFIERESZRBERREI0R (T in which the Group operates. In 2024, Australia income tax expense
TT=F130%) 5TE  BAEAFERBEZIZER was calculated at applicable rate of 30% (2023: 30%), Japan income
ﬁﬁ'ﬁf’ﬁ% 2% (ZZZ _E 23.2%) stE > B EFR tax expense was calculated at applicable rate of 23.2% (2023: 23.2%),
BREXZ20% (CET=F :120%) 578 = Taiwan income tax expense is calculated at 20% (2023: 20%), and US
EFE SR E21% (T2 Z=F:121%)5TH- income tax expense is calculated at 21% (2023: 21%).
—TImE —ET=F
2024 2023
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
EHRE Current tax
—KREFEERIE - Tax for the year 2,915 1,018
—BEFEBREES — Over provision in respect of prior year (328) (31)
2,587 987
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A
13 FRIERAX @ 13 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continuea)
REBEBBRMERANGEN M 2R IBR KA The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the
ABRFEER B BRAZEARRE16.5% (T theoretical amount that would arise using the primary tax rate of 16.5%
TT=F:16.5%) BHNEHRSEZEZBEN (2023: 16.5%) applicable to profit of the majority of the consolidated
S< entities as follows:

—EmE —E=HF

2024 2023

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

PRPTEMATEF Profit before income tax 2,859 7,602

B EHBRE16.5% (CTEZ=5F :16.5%) Tax at the Hong Kong tax rate of 16.5%

HE>RE (2023: 16.5%) 472 1,054
MUTFEBBZRBEEE ! Tax effects of:
—HBRMRZ A - Income not subject to tax (226) (835)
—BENE2WES (NRRIE) - Associate’s result reported net of tax (88) (262)
—REREx - Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 2,625 849
— BN EEE - Difference in overseas tax rates 132 219
—RKERNEBBZRIBELE - Tax effect of tax losses not recognised - 225
— B RAAFARERRIELIE — Utilisation of previously unrecognised
tax losses - (432)
—BEFEBREEE - Over provision in respect of prior year (328) (31)
FRiEMBX Income tax expenses 2,587 987
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14 SREF

14 EARNINGS PER SHARE

—ETmE S
2024 2023
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$ 000
HEEREARAFAZ Profit for the year attributable to the owners
KRBEB ANEEFEREF of the Company used in calculating basic
earnings per share 44 5,891
HEEREARAERESSZ Weighted average number of ordinary
TR METHE (TR shares used as the denominator in
calculating basic earnings per share ('000) 23,669 23,434
UTEBEZE Effects of:
MR A BTG (FR) Issuance of shares to subscriber ("000) 391 -
HEEREERMEREISZ Weighted average number of ordinary
TR MEEHE (TR shares used as the denominator in
calculating diluted earnings per share ('000) 24,060 24,434
KRB EBEANELEBRELRRT Basic earnings per share attributable to
(BRAWL owners of the Company
(HK cents per share) 0.19 25.14
KABIEE ANEBESREERA Diluted earnings per share attributable to
(BRAWL owners of the Company (HK cents per
share) 0.18 25.14

BREXBADRARBDES ABGEEFFRYU
RAMBREEZRTENSBERZINEFHHHE
=

A EBRE_Z_HNE+_A=+—HLEE
NERBFENME  SRRMNEFHHEM
FARPADEFEEENBETEFHRE-

E—IHEF2ENE22 R -MFE+A
WH AATRBE AT LRBERZE B
FARBERAMRHBAREERETRMN EFER
70 %&%%ﬁ’*ﬁ%éﬂ‘ﬁﬂ%"ﬁ%%? i
TTNE+—BZ+N\B B -HBBEEER
Bl » 2,605,000HyHyfﬁaééfﬁ%amﬂ%)&°

EEI R TR -FUEETEIMEBEREEE
HEREERNENERELET

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable
to owners of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year:

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share for the year
ended 31 December 2024, the weighted average number of ordinary
shares had been adjusted for the dilutive effect arising from the share
subscription during the year.

Further details on note 22, the Company and the subscriber entered into
the subscription agreement on 4 October 2024, pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue the shares. In the
opinion of directors, the dilutive effect shall be considered upon there
was a right to issue shares. On 28 November 2024, the first tranche of
the subscription was completed and 2,605,000 shares was issued to the
subscriber.

Diluted earnings per share is equal to basic earnings per share as there
was no dilutive potential ordinary share outstanding in 2023.
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15 ME -BERRFERERERE

(a) MEF -BERRMHE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

(a) Property, plant and equipment

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND

HEME Rt K BAE
£ KE B 128 st
Leasehold Furniture Office
improvements  and fixtures equipment Machinery Total
FET FET FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
BEZEZ-=HF Year ended 31 December 2023
+ZA=+—HLEE
FNREFE Opening net book value = = 74 = 74
AE Additions - - 16 - 16
WEER (I37) Depreciation charge (Note 7) - - (49) - (49)
FEREEFE Closing net book value = = 41 = 41
RIZZ=F At 31 December 2023
+ZA=+—H
A Cost 113 112 885 11,315 12,425
REIE Accumulated depreciation (113) (112) (844) (11,315) (12,384)
REZE Net book value - - 41 - 41
HE_Z-_MmE Year ended 31 December 2024
+ZA=+—HLEE
FREFE Opening net book value - - 41 - 41
RE Additions - - - 159 159
WEER (Ii7) Depreciation charge (Note 7) - - (16) ) (19)
54 Write off - - (15) - (15)
FRIREFE Closing net book value - - 10 156 166
R-E_mE At 31 December 2024
+ZB=+-H
D Cost - - 213 11,474 11,687
REtiE Accumulated depreciation - - (203) (11,318) (11,521)
REVEE Net book value - - 10 156 166

AEBR _E_WNE+_B=+—HF
BEZHREHETIRNBAR 56
E— DB E NI EES4(c) °

The machinery held by the Group as at 31 December 2024 was
leased to fellow subsidiaries, further details of which are included in
Note 34(c).
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15 ME - -BERREREHREEZE 15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND

&

(b)

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)
ERHEEE (b) Right-of-use assets
TR AETF
Land and
buildings
FET
HK$'000
R-ZE-_=%—HF—H At 1 January 2023 3,264
WeEER (Wat7) Depreciation charges (Note 7) (1,746)
HE&IE Lease termination (763)
BB 2 = %8 Exchange differences 31
MRZEZ=%+"HB=+—HRK At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024
—E£-ME—HF—H 786
WEER Bat7) Depreciation charges (Note 7) (641)
HE&IE Lease termination (109)
PE 52 &= 25 Exchange differences (2)
R_E_NE+"H=+—8H At 31 December 2024 34
ME - BEAREBULREHEEEEZ Depreciation expense of HK$660,000 (2023: HK$1,795,000) for
ERMS660,0008 T (ZE - =4 property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets has been

1,795,000 7t) Bt ATTTE&EA] © charged in “administrative expenses”.
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16 EHRITH (RERIB9)

FEEFAUTEHIA:

16 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The Group holds the following financial instruments:

—EmE —E-=
2024 2023
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BE Assets
TEEMI A Derivative financial instrument - 9,128
EREMEEWRERATEINEZ Financial asset at fair value through
TREE other comprehensive income 3,496 1,597
BB A E TREE Financial assets at amortised cost:
& U BR 0 R L b FE U R Trade and other receivables
(R EEFENRIE) (excluding prepayments) 118,473 36,106
RERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 39,678 104,485
afE Liabilities
RBER A EZEMEE Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
& {5 BR R e EL A FE A TR Trade and other payables (excluding
(FEEEMENLRIE) other tax payables) 5,075 4,168
HEaR Lease liabilities 38 833
AEBE B MEEHM T EBRANZIE The Group’s exposure to various risks associated with the financial
AR -PHREPFAAGHNRAEERARKOS instruments is discussed in Note 3. The maximum exposure to credit risk

R EERMEEREE

17 fTEEMIA

at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of each class of
financial assets mentioned above.

17 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT

ZENE -
2024 2023
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BN —EBE AR Derivative financial instrument in relation to the
TESMITA (Wat12) interest in an associate (Note 12) - 9,128
(i) 2FEHE=E (i) Fair value measurement
BEREEMETRARFTEMBZEER For information about the methods and assumptions used in

Br2ER F2RMES.3°

(i) NEZAEDRZEEE

determining the fair value of derivative, please refer to Note 3.3.

(i) Amounts recognised in profit or loss

RAFER TEEMIAZ ATEES The change in the fair value of derivative financial instruments

& it 5£3.3(a) i)

TEERMIT AT E

during the year is set out in Note 3.3(a)(iii).

The derivative financial instrument is denominated in EUR.

UM SE12FTRE M T E SR T EBR As further detailed in Note 12, the derivative financial instrument

REERBIEBUHFESS

was lapsed and derecognised during the year.
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18 BBHMDEKEZATMES) 18 FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
BZzEMEE OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
EREMEEBERAFEINEZEREE Financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive

income

T WE =%
2024 2023
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000

JEEMREES B RAFETEE Unlisted equity securities, at fair value:
BFITHRERGBRAR iMT Co., Ltd. 1,996 1,597
TERSEBRAE TeleEye intelligence Limited 1,500 =
3,496 1,597

FER UERAEEZEMEENEAEEA
TEES (CTE2Z=F &) (MEE3.3(a)i)) °

REBZERBREQENRRFITIRERRMDE
RABMNO%RETZ RN TEREERRRATHN
23%meHNAEER T EETHEENEEZES
HEFETRAIEEERZIEETMERS AR
RERFHRR WZERBLERERDEA
fRe

HRAEERSZEREARBMEE  EmR

EfNTHEtEE R B RAMEENZRAF
BolfE-.

19 FEURBR R e H fth FE W 7k

During the year, there was no fair value movement (2023: nil) in other
comprehensive income of the Group (Note 3.3(a)(iii)).

The Group’s strategic investments comprise a 9% interest in iMT Co., Ltd
and 23% interest in TeleEye intelligence Limited. These companies are
not accounted for using equity method as the Group does not have the
power to participate in its operating and financial policies, evidenced by
the lack of any direct or indirect involvement at board level and the Group
has no right to appoint a director.

The equity investments were irrevocably designated at FVOCI as the
Group considers these investments to be strategic in nature.

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

T WE —E-=%

2024 2023

FET FAET

HK$’000 HK$ 000

FE U BR 7R Trade receivables 79,674 26,789
B R EAME R Deposits and other receivables 38,799 9,317
BB A EZ EREE Financial assets at amortised cost 118,473 36,106
SEENEQE Prepayments 528 999
FEUR AR A R EL i FE WL FR 48 KB Total trade and other receivables 119,001 37,105

Annual Report 2024 153



REMBEERRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19 FEURBRTR B E M FEUR TR )

REBAREOHELNURSET - F T EAY
EEREENFI6EWOH R B _NFK_
EC=F+"AZ=+—H EBWERFREERA

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continueq)

The majority of the Group’s sales are on cash basis. The remaining
amounts are with credit terms generally ranging from 15 to 90 days.
At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the ageing analysis of the trade

HZEREDTWT - receivables based on invoice date were as follows:
—E_ME B =
2024 2023
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$°000
KENEER Within 1 month 42,306 26,750
12218 B 1 to 2 months 22,544 =
2ZE3EH 2 to 3 months 14,824 39
79,674 26,789
(a) BRERIERR (a) Impaired trade receivables

0 7 4 0% W Bl RO M ) FE ORI B B 4%
180 B [ (B 8 o

o AEERBE BB REERH9
SRR EStERBEERER AR
WERRE R = PRREEEE - BREWK

RRREREBEURFTCEEEH ZEER
% K SMEE R 2 BRI B MY 5E3. 19 8E o

B 518 R H A& W B 55 Al B 88 = =B
RERERmEARERSBIIERESD -
VS bd fi2

PRAEE > BT 48 o T 50 FE R FURLE
BERBERELD CEZ=F:8) -

(b) FEWIRRREMEWRZATEE (b)

MBI ERRBAE A E - HIREER
RIFRERFEMEE

154

Individual receivables which are known to be uncollectible are
written off by reducing the carrying amount directly.

In addition, the Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measure expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected
loss allowance for all trade receivables. Information about the
provision for impairment of trade receivables and the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and foreign exchange risk is disclosed in

Note 3.1.

Impairment losses and subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are recognised as separate line item in the
statement of comprehensive income.

Amounts recognised in profit or loss

During the year, no provision or reversal of provision for impairment
of trade receivables was recognised in the profit or loss (2023: Nil).

Fair value of trade and other receivables

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their
carrying amount is considered to be the same as their fair value.
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20 8

21

20 INVENTORIES
—E-mE T —
2024 2023
FET FAET
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FEEE s Emm Goods held for resale 67 562
HE_Z_NE+_-_HBA=+—HLEE & Cost of inventories sold was approximately HK$326,155,000 (2023:
FE R A4326,155,0008 0 (ZE_ =4 : approximately HK$134,310,000) which included net reversal of inventory
#9134,310,000%8 7t) » BIEFEEHEEFERLEYN provision of approximately HK$319,000 (2023: HK$200,000) during the
319,000 7t (ZT =4 : 200,000 7t) year ended 31 December 2024. As at 31 December 2024, no provision
TEINFE+ZRA=t+—H wEEHTERE for inventories was made (2023: provision for inventories amounted to
(ZEZ=F  FE#E#H4319,000/87T) ° approximately HK$319,000).
by
RERREFEY 21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
—E-OE —ET=F
2024 2023
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHERASE Cash on hand 28 10
RITHE Cash at bank 39,650 104,475
39,678 104,485

AT IME+ A=+ —H BHRTER
BEMENFO%ES.0% (ZE_=ZF : £7
ENTF0%ES1%) st 2 WFHHEA=EA
PO BIIARERIBEEEY -

As at 31 December 2024, the short-term bank deposits bear interest
ranging from 0% to 5.0% per annum (2023: from 0% to 5.1% per annum)
with initial maturity date within three months, and were therefore included
in cash and cash equivalents.
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22 fg7s 22 SHARE CAPITAL
RiZ&E EA L]
Number of shares Amount
—EZE “ET=F —EME T F
2024 2023 2024 2023
FET FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$ 000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BETRER Issued and fully paid

—HA—H At 1 January 23,434 23,434 4,687 4,687
BTN Issue of new shares 2,605 - 521 -
R+ZB=+—H At 31 December 26,039 23,434 5,208 4,687

(a) TiER (a) Ordinary shares

(b)

156

BERZEER20BT -HEFHFAA
BAO2EKRERZFRERHBE Ez?iﬁ
TR A EERBBR ZPASHIA

KRB ZEERAER > %80,000,0007#
7% B1¥5400,000,0008% i 38 A%

RIE_MNE+AMAE > AATHEDE

AT RBEHE B REABKER
ﬁ/\l:ﬁﬁﬁ B S5 +H7,811,261 A=A F K

R RBAEREMNE—HRE B
EPZ&’Aaééfﬁz@o&oooEQH%% REEE
BERIBIT  AA BB A4521,000
BT &R EE46,667,000%8 T (B1E
WG 735 187,294,000 7T 8 AR 15 85 17 58
% #9627,0008 %) ©

55— H3#%3.978 7T 085,206,261 IR A A B
R 00 i FAR A HE S PR 1B 3R 1T o

§¥|EDH%E’§ZI§/-\__\FE$|
_V_IT_qu‘f‘ B—HNE

=Rip

B ARt

BT EEREFBZEHNHEN
Ff5%26 o

(b)

Ordinary shares have a par value of HK$0.20. They entitle the
holder to participate in dividends, and to share in the proceeds
of winding up the Company in proportion to the number of and
amounts paid on the shares held.

The Company has a limited amount of authorised capital of
HK$80,000,000, comprising 400,000,000 ordinary shares.

On 4 October 2024, the Company and a subscriber entered into
a subscription agreement of which the subscriber is conditionally
agreed to subscribe, in aggregate, 7,811,261 shares of the
Company in two tranches. During the year, the subscriber has
completed the subscription of the first tranche of which the
Company issued 2,605,000 shares at the subscription price of
HK$3 for each share. The Company recognised share capital of
approximately HK$521,000 and share premium of approximately
HK$6,667,000 (representing share premium received amounted
to HK$7,294,000 less share issuance expenses of approximately
HK$627,000).

The second tranche of subscription of 5,206,261 shares of the
Company at HK$3.9 is to be issued when the conditions are

fulfilled.

Further details refer to the Company’s circular dated 1 November
2024 as published.

Options

Information relating to the 2016 Option Scheme is set out in Note
26.
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23 Hith{#E 23 OTHER RESERVES
TRITFHBRAKREBEE THMtEE ZBA K The following table shows a breakdown of the statement of financial
ZERERNAEE2EF BHEECMERD position line item “other reserves” and the movements in these reserves
R E N TR during the year. A description of the nature and purpose of each reserve

is provided below the table.

BB
2ENE
BATESIE
ZEMEE
RipEE ERf#E RHRE fifE @it
Financial
asset at
Share  Translation Special FVOCI
premium reserve reserve reserve Total
izt FE1 FE7m FET FEr FEr
Note HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

RIEZZH+-F=+-H At 31 December 2022 183,006 (4,462) 14,990 135 193,669
rEEEMZENRS Other comprehensive income for the year
HEBNEBELZERER Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations - 1,558 - - 1,558
RIBZ=H+ZR=+—-Hk At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024
“EME-B—H 183,006 (2,904) 14,990 135 195,227
rEEHMZEARR Other comprehensive income for the year
HEBNERELZERER Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations - (1,700) - - (1,700)
FREMPARZHATESFEZELRR Change in fair value of equity investment at fair
BZNTEED value through other comprehensive income - - - 399 399
{OHRH 2 ER Contributions from issue of new shares 22(a) 6,667 - - - 6,667
RoE-mE+-A=+-8 At 31 December 2024 189,673 (4,604) 14,990 53 200,593
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HAthf#HE @
Hfn R ER AR
B15 a1

R EBIEA QB RM URE TR UE PR
BMEBHROEEZHE  LHFRETRN
FREEZ R

BEFE

MEBIZEBREAMEATDELENEREZE
REMPEWmESD QN 2. 6P ) it
NBREREBERS R BN LEREFER
BN EE2EWmE-

wRI R

FEBZHENREBEDEREN -_ZE—FMNA
ETEREERERAZRBAT G ZKRE
EERAADECTRA FARBEREZEEM
BZERE

ZBAMEENRGZHATFESEZEZMEER
&

AT EHESERREBREEZREEBY
BREEUFOSIETEBRM2ERERA
TEAIEZ R AT ERFRD

Rt

23

24

OTHER RESERVES (continued)

Nature and purpose of other reserves
Share premium

Share premium is the excess of the proceeds received over the nominal
value of the shares of the Company issued as a premium, less expenses
incurred in connection with the issue of shares.

Translation reserve

Exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign controlled
entity and associate are recognised in other comprehensive income
as described in Note 2.5 and accumulated in translation reserve
within equity. The cumulative amount is reclassified to statement of
comprehensive income when the net investment is disposed of.

Special reserve

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between
the aggregate of the nominal value of share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to a group reorganisation in April 2001 and
the nominal value of the share capital issued by the Company as
consideration for the acquisition.

Financial asset at FVOCI reserve
The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair

value of equity investment designated at FVOCI under HKFRS 9 that is
held at the end of the reporting period.

ACCUMULATED LOSSES

Movements in accumulated losses were as follows:

REBEEZEBHUWT :
—EmE 2T =HF
2024 2023
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEX SR Opening balance (44,296) (50,158)
2 E W R ARZE Total comprehensive income 116 5,862
FEREER Closing balance (44,180) (44,296)

AESERZERERAE
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FEIERR i

UT#HIFEHAEEMS BEANIFERE
ZHNWEABAEERKARABDNEFER
BE-RNBARKENSEAERRNREH
AR 8 -

25 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Set out below is summarised financial information for the subsidiary
CircuTex Technology Limited that has non-controlling interests that are
material to the Group. The amounts disclosed for the subsidiary are
before inter-company eliminations.

MERRAREBE AMEERKEBRAT
Summarised statement of financial position CircuTex Technology Limited
—E-mE —E-=f
+=ZB=+—H +ZA=+—H
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
FHET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BB E Current assets 6,865 3,706
mEAaE Current liabilities (4,161) (1,457)
RENEEFE Current net assets 2,704 2,249
ERBEE Non-current assets = =
ERBEE Non-current liabilities = -
EREBEEZRE Non-current net assets = =
BEEFE Net assets 2,704 2,249
RETFFERER Accumulated NCI 1,325 1,102
2HKEREE MEERKERAR
Summarised statement of comprehensive income CircuTex Technology Limited
—EME ==
+=ZB=+—H +ZE=+—H
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
WA Revenue 3,254 3,351
EEEGHF Profit for the year 467 1,475
Hitt2mla= Other comprehensive income (12) (7)
EHENELEEE Total comprehensive income 455 1,468
PDEEIFERER 2R Profit allocated to NCI 228 724
HERERPE MEERKERAR
Summarised statement of cash flows CircuTex Technology Limited
—E-MNEF ET=F
+-—A=+—8H +=ZBA=+—H
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
REEBEZHERE Cash flows from operating activities 3,124 14,597
REEB SRS Cash flows from investing activities - (22,660)
MEXEBEZ2REMRSE Cash flows from financing activities - =
RERBELEEWEM GE))E%  Net increase/(decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents 3,124 (8,063)
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WU n B E R TR

RIZB-—RE+—-—A+—HRMZHBREE
(TZE—AEREREE)

BER-_TE—RE+—B+—HBEBZRZE
FoRRBRM T RNERRESTE R
BEREHCERSZEAENARAEFHER > I
MARBIREREEHRTIHE - 3 L7 B % & th
3 URBREIMEE St BAMABTF-F
ABEFEANEBEREAES (BEAERZ
HITRIFRTES BHABR-ZERHE
NHEE -RE-RXEB - HEB XA -BED
HRRBHER) BHBRE UERBARABDR

7o

BEZF-ANFEREFSDIERE ZBERE
P R 2 RIDHBE > NFBE AR T IR MR
BEEHITRMN Z10% REXATREEFLM
B RERN—FAREAATRERAIERSY
ZHEREMSRZBETRRTETZRMDHE
B T"RBAAADNEAREEHTRMZ
1% - HAETERIABILIFAITEEFRLZ
BREBBARATDREZOA%HEEBEER
5,000,000 70 BELIEAABDREAE-

FERERUAEIEITRE  WHER RN BT
STtHRNEM - BREITNESFEUEETEZ
HBABERITE HEERABASBEARRY
BHEs+E-RBENHRESFTEE BB
BRTIESE ()ERBRORELBE W
ARNFH) REEHRERFARETE (R
BIRMREERHAPNAERXZBESHR
BRAKZ FHRHE ; SilfN 28 KRN ZH
Be

BERM_T—RERERESE RHRE BEE
S AR 1 o

26 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

Share Option Scheme adopted on 11 November 2016 (the “2016
Option Scheme”)

Pursuant to a resolution passed on 11 November 2016, the 2016 Option
Scheme was adopted to recognise and motivate the contribution of the
eligible participants and to provide incentives and help the Company in
retaining its existing employees and recruiting additional employees for
a term of ten years. The Board of the Company may at its discretion
grant options to any employees, including Executive and Non-executive
Directors, consultants, advisers, substantial shareholders, distributors,
agents, contractors, suppliers, customers, business partners and service
providers of the Group to subscribe for shares in the Company.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the 2016 Option Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any point in time. The number of
shares issued and to be issued in respect of which options granted and
may be granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted to
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. Options granted
to substantial shareholders or independent non-executive directors in
excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital or with a value in excess
of HK$5,000,000 must be approved in advance by the Company’s
shareholders.

Option may be granted at a consideration of HK$1 and should be
accepted within seven days from the date of grant. Options may be
exercised at any time during the period as the Board may determine
which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant. The subscription
price is determined by the Board and shall not be less than the highest
of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Daily
Quotation Sheet on the date of grant, which must be a trading day; (i)
the average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
Daily Quotation Sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of grant; or (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.

No share options were granted since the date of adoption of the 2016
Option Scheme.
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27 FE{TERFR R H{th FE {3 5% 27 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
—EWE = =
2024 2023
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
JE S BR =X Trade payables 2,237 1,332
Bz E Deposit received 600 710
HMEMRE Other tax payables 119 199
FHiRER R EMENR Accruals and other payables 2,238 2,126
5,194 4,367
HREBREPEE  ENEFRAEMENSRZ The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are considered to
REENEAEEAFTERB R THF be the same as their fair values, due to their short-term nature. At 31
RZZEZ=ZF+ZR=+—H EBNHEXREZ December 2024 and 2023, the ageing analysis of the trade payables
EHHZRESTUWT based on invoice date were as follows:
ZEIMNE —EC=F
2024 2023
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
KEVERR Within 1 month 1,837 1,285
1Z22(8 8 1 to 2 months 182 =
2E3@A 2 to 3 months 218 47
2,237 1,332
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28 HHE 28 LEASES
HEISZHE URBAZEM®D) Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as lessee)
AEBEBREKEMAES ZREHMEETHRERHR The Group leases a number of properties with fixed periodic rent over the
ANEMREZNEERENE- lease terms in the jurisdictions from which it operates.
HEEH &l %E {3 7%
Lease Fixed
contracts payments
2H FET
—E-mE+=-RA=+—H 31 December 2024 Number HK$°000
EENRZMERE Property lease with fixed payments 1 468
HEEHN ERENEAN
Lease Fixed
contracts payments
Eg=] FET
—_E_=F+"_B=+—H 31 December 2023 Number HK$'000
EENRZMERE Property leases with fixed payments 2 833
FERAEEE Right-of-use assets
HEMEERE D2 ERAREERBED N The analysis of the carrying amount of right-of-use assets by class of
wr underlying asset is as follows:
ZEZmE B
+ZA=+—H8 +ZBA=+—H
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
FAET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
ERAEYE  RITER LA Properties leased for own use,
carried at depreciated cost 34 786
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28 HE »

28 LEASES (continued)

HERE Lease liabilities

TR IETF

Land and

buildings

FET

—E_ME+-"H=+—H 31 December 2024 HK$’000
hE Additions -
MERZ Interest expenses 19
HEMNR Lease payments (699)
ME&IE Lease termination (114)
PER =% Exchange differences (1)
T R IEF

Land and

buildings

FAET

—E-=%+=-HA=+—H 31 December 2023 HK$’000
wnE Additions -
FMERZ Interest expenses 114
EMR Lease payments (1,877)
FAERILE Lease termination (809)
PERE%E Exchange differences 32
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HE @
HEaE @

RREENREVZEE R ¢

28 LEASES (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

Future lease payments are due as follows:

RIRBE ] R BRE
Future
lease Present
payments Interest value
—EE —EFEmE —F@mE
+-A=+—H +ZA=+—H +ZBA=+-—H
31 December 31 December 31 December
2024 2024 2024
FET FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
—FNR Not later than one year 38 - 38
RRBE M FE RE
Future
lease Present
payments Interest value
BT =F BT =F ECI=F
+-A=+—H +ZA=+—H +IZA=+—H
31 December 31 December 31 December
2023 2023 2023
FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—FRN Not later than one year 775 42 733
—FRBRBBME Later than one year and not later
than two years 112 12 100
887 54 833
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28

29

HE @ 28

HE&E (&

LEASES (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

—E-MNE —ET=4
2024 2023
FET FAET
HK$°000 HK$'000
mEEE Current liabilities 38 733
JEREEE Non-current liabilities - 100
38 833
—EWNE B
2024 2023
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
AR ERX Short term lease expenses 155 124

RERBERE 29

BEEBEVETE(EBEERD)  FEEHNIE
TREFMRIFENESETIHIERAERES
RARFT = :

— CSmMEMULMESHEH
- REREEESH;
- EERRETEMERE

- ERGVAEEHRENARETES

25

- EEAHBHABREFETHLUINERER
wrRE

ERESEANLN2ZRERBE —E@ENE
B#H$ (ERA22,50087T) RIRBEEE
E - BLEEREENRERBSEFN LRA
390,000/ 7 o KA E ERFB RGN LB R EIRE
ZEEFHMN ARG HAMEENRERR A
BEREEHARBEEF

LONG SERVICES PAYMENT LIABILITIES

Under Employment Ordinance, Cap.57, an employee who has been
employed under a continuous contract for not less than 5 years
of service is eligible for long service payments under the following
circumstances:

- The employee resigns at age of 65 or above;
= The employee dies during employment;
- The employee resigns on ground of ill health;

S The fixed term employment contract expires without being
renewed,;

= The employee is dismissed which is not because of redundancy or
serious misconduct

The LSP benefit is determined with reference to the employee’s last full
month’s salary (capped at HK$22,500) and number of years of service.
The LSP benefit is capped at HK$390,000 for each eligible employee.
The accrued benefits derived from the Group’s mandatory contributions
under the mandatory provident fund scheme in respect of that employee
can be used to offset the LSP benefit.
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166

RIRBEEE (&

RIBEBBEOF485F (RFIME A B2 EF
B AEBFERET BREEBFNG% (L
MR#31,5007% 7T) fFH RGN RBEHM - A&
ERBINZEAFHER -REEZHEAE
FEMRRETEIBIE -

RIZZZFRA(CEZFREREMKE
BAR (RE B0 (BR]) 1R 6)) BEM - EFTIR
PIBCEUEERFIMBREEHRZ REERIR
HRARS 22 -HE EBRERNEE
i BUSZERN S HFHA—HEN-

UTE2EFHBTERHHEBENR

- REXISFMREEHMAEENRER
DA AFRENEH AR EREZ
RAREE

- HHAZERHABRTEUREET AR
B—ERAMNFESE  MIULIFLURIEZE
BizEB—ERMNFHEE-

AEBRNEAREEET RESHAKRE
E-RERFSEHENSHTRIEREKRFEBEN
MY £E2.14(0) K 2.14(d)

29 LONG SERVICES PAYMENT LIABILITIES

(continued)

Under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, Cap. 485, the
Group, as an employer, is required to make mandatory MPF contribution
at 5% of the employee’s monthly salary (capped at HK$1,500). The
Group makes the contribution to separate trustees. MPF scheme has
attributes of a defined contribution plan.

In June 2022, Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 was enacted.
The Amendment Ordinance abolishes the use of the accrued benefits
derived from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to offset LSP.
Subsequently, the Government of HKSAR announced that the Abolition
will take effect on 1 May 2025.

The following key changes will take effect since the Transition Date:

- Accrued benefits derived from employers’ mandatory MPF
contributions cannot be used to offset the LSP in respect of the
employment period after the Transition Date.

- The pre-transition LSP is calculated using the last month’s salary
immediately preceding the Transition Date, instead of using the last
month’s salary of employment termination date.

The accounting policies for the Group’s LSP obligation, MPF contribution
and the MPF-LSP offsetting is detailed in notes 2.14(b) and 2.14(d).
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= -
29 REIRFBEEET @ 29 LONG SERVICES PAYMENT LIABILITIES
(continued)
EEFHEZREREEHBEROT - The present value of net obligations and it movements are as follow:
—E-mE T =
2024 2023
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$'000
w—B—H At 1 January 462 378
REMEZENREESD 2 EME ! Remeasurements recognised in other
comprehensive income:
— U RBRREEMEL — Actuarial (gain)/losses arising from changes in
BE (W) B financial assumptions (72) 29
RiEmERZAX ! Expenses recognised in profit or loss:
— BHARRTS A A - Current service cost 16 39
— FE A - Interest cost - 16
— FHEARRTS A A - Past service cost (105) -
(89) 55
BEfEF Benefits paid (266) =
R+ZA=+—H At 31 December 35 462
ATRAMEAEZNMEFLTHERRBI0I1FE(ZZ The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 10.1
Z=F 1 12.58F) 0 years (2023: 12.5 years).
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29 REIRBEET @ 29 LONG SERVICES PAYMENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

EABREBRRABRESTOT ! Significant actuarial assumptions and sensitivity analysis are as follows:

—E-mE —E-=x

2024 2023

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

ARIR Discount rate 2.2% 2.9%-4.7%

KR &G0 Future salary increases 4% 0%

AEHREE RE RN Expected investment return on offsetable

SRS (BT ES MPF accrued benefits 2.5% 2.5%
UTFAMIAEEREEEETEREREERR The below analysis shows how the long services payment liability would
BEN1 %ML, BB have increased/decreased as a result of 1% change in the significant

actuarial assumptions:

ZEZMNE —ET=F
2024 2023

BEABE BABE
it g7 FAET 1B & E) FAET

Change in Change in

significant significant

actuarial actuarial
assumptions HK$’000  assumptions HK$'000
AHIRE — 1B D Discount rate - increase 1% (6) 1% (34)
BLIRE —F /D Discount rate — decrease (1%) 7 (1%) 38
FRRFE 10 Future salary - increase 1% - 1% 14
FRFE—HLD Future salary — decrease (1%) - (1%) (18)
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PA
IEIEFRISIR 30 DEFERRED INCOME TAX
RIERS1E Tax losses
—E-mE —EBT=F
2024 2023
FET FAET
HK$°000 HK$'000
RERIEIERIBEEE Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax
RENARIERE asset has been recognised 45,342 45,315
BAEBEEREEMTIEANZ Potential tax benefit at domestic tax rate for
MEABZBERBMN = which the Group’s entities operate 7,526 7,522
FEAMBEBIEBILHAERAIRRRAIGESE The unused tax losses were incurred by the Group companies that are
ERRMBMAZAEBRAREL - BREMAE not likely to generate taxable income in the foreseeable future. See Note
EH ZEBARHE R F4b0)c RS _NE+— 4(b) for significant judgements made in relation to income tax. As at 31
B=+—8B > X8BAMEBEOT : December 2024, the unused tax losses are as follows:
—EAE —EI=HF
2024 2023
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
ECL)(—FE@?'J,HH : Expiry date in:
—ECtLF 2027 - 661
—EN\E 2028 661 1,270
—EThE 2029 1,269 1,657
T=FF 2030 1,557 788
—EF=—%F 2031 788 2,332
E=_F 2032 2,332 2,054
—E== 2033 2,054 -
EEHH No expiry date 36,681 36,653
45,342 45,315
31 BRE 31 DIVIDENDS
EEEIMEZRNEBEE_Z_NFE+2H The Board does not recommend the payment of an interim and final
=+ —HIEFEZHRBERRBEREE (T2 = dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
T o
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32 HEREEFEH 32 CASH FLOW INFORMATION
REXBFRAZRE Cash used in operations
—MmE s ——
2024 2023
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
bR PRS0 A& R Profit before income tax 2,859 7,602
MIFIEEEHAEE Adjustments for:
ME -BERKEBITE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 19 49
REEEITE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 641 1,746
HEME BERKEZEE Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment 15 -
MAE& I ER= Gain on termination of lease (5) (46)
Eﬂ’%ﬁiﬁ Finance costs 19 114
TESMT A AFERE (K& Fair value loss/(gain) on derivative
financial instrument 8,883 (470)
BOR—RBME AT 2 EFERBERIE Reversal of impairment loss on interest
in an associate - (1,639)
IRITEF B WA Interest income from bank deposits (1,102) (2,955)
FREEEARZ B Share of net profit of an associate accounted
— B E A 4T for using the equity method (531) (1,593)
EEETEBAZRE T Operating profit before working capital change 10,798 2,808
REBEERABRZEE Change in operating assets and liabilities
EERD Decrease in inventories 495 1,001
7B ST R R R L A1 FE WK 0 Increase in trade and other receivables (81,965) (22,640)
FE(IBE 2 R E (S 2t 0, GRisl) Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 832 (1,344)
aHnasdEgms al) Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities 2,345 (3,315)
RHERBESERL . (EM) Decrease/(increase) in long services
payment liabilities (355) 55
REEBPMBZRE Cash used in operations (67,850) (23,435)
RiGEERERERN HEVE BERLKEZ In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from sale of
FriS B aiE - property, plant and equipment comprise:
W& —B=F
2024 2023
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
BREEE (W 15(a) Net book amount (Note 15(a)) 15 =
W BB K& B (WEE7) Write off of property, plant and equipment (Note 7) (15) =
HEVME - BEKRKXEZFAESHRIEAE Proceeds from disposal of property,

plant and equipment - _
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33 RERERMEE

33 NOTES SUPPORTING CASH FLOW

STATEMENT
HEaE
Lease
liabilities
Hizt2s8
Note 28
FAET
HK$'000
W-_E-_=%—H—H At 1 January 2023 BESI3
WREmEEs ! Changes from cash flow:
BEREaEZAEHD Repayment of principal portion of the lease liabilities (1,763)
EEREaGZHNEIY Repayment of interest portion of the lease liabilities (114)
MERESREEHELE Total changes from financing cash flows: (1,877)
PE S Exchange adjustments: 32
Hh#sE) Other changes:
hE Additions =
MEFS Lease interests 114
ME&IE Lease termination (809)
HihES g5 Total other changes (695)
RIS _=F+"B=+—HXK At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024
—E-mE—F—H 833
WREmEgs Changes from cash flow:
BEREaEZAEHD Repayment of principal portion of the lease liabilities (680)
EEREaGZHNEIY Repayment of interest portion of the lease liabilities (19)
MERESREEHELE . Total changes from financing cash flows: (699)
PE R Exchange adjustments: (1)
Hfh e Other changes:
HEFS Lease interests 19
ME&IE Lease termination (114)
HhE 5 R Total other changes (95)
RIE_MFE+-HA=+—H At 31 December 2024 38
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34 FAEALRS 34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) BAHF (a) Parent entities
REBRUTERER The Group is controlled by the following entities:
EEATBEET
BE E#ERZ AT DL
RERAE 513 1P & B (#E49)

Percentage of
the issued share

Number of capital of
shares held/ the Company
Name of Shareholders Capacity interested (approximate)
Foxconn (Far East) Limited Immediate holding company 11,853,524 45.52%
BHEERRE
Hon Hai Precision Industry Co., Ltd. Ultimate holding company 11,853,524 45.52%
EBEETERMNERRE REER AT
K3 . Foxconn (Far East) Limited & B8 1E2 T Note: Foxconn (Far East) Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hon Hai
ERMDAERABZE2EMBAS Precision Industry Co. Ltd.
(b) FTEEEABZHE (b) Key management personnel compensation
EEEEOREESE T ERNTRE Key management includes directors (executive, non-executive and
FIERIT) o MEZFAEERBENIE independent non-executive). The compensation paid or payable
NEESEEZ2®MEITAOT : to key management for directors and employee services is shown
below:
—EFEmE —E-=
2024 2023
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
e kEMEBAESEN Salaries and other short-term
employee benefits 780 780
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Y ——
34 BAEATRSZ @ 34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continuea)
(c) HEEALETZRS (c) Transactions with related parties
SEEATETZRZAT The following transactions occurred with related parties:
—_EmE B =
2024 2023
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
AEEEEFHZEREE Sales of goods to Hon Hai Group 1,275 1,440
BB EESIN ZHEERBER Repair services charges paid to
Hon Hai Group 5,839 4,279
MMAEREEMARZWBASTEL Lease payments to fellow subsidiaries in
GEN-ANEN respect of an office and warehouse 147 143
R AEWABRRRKBAR Lease payments received from fellow
WERFE & (F & subsidiaries in respect of machinery
rental income 1,200 2,400
TR TR ZEFEE 2 B8 ETe The above transactions were conducted at negotiated prices

between transacting parties.
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35 KREZHBRRER G

35 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

KRB ZHBRAR Statement of financial position of the Company
W+=ZB=+—H
As at 31 December
—E-mE —E-=x
2024 2023
FET FEIT
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BE Assets
EREEE Non-current assets
KRB RABZEE Investment in subsidiaries 10 10
A EN=IE Q] Amount due from subsidiaries 110,877 106,510
___________________________ 110,887 106,520
EBEE Current assets
ENRIEREE Prepayments and deposits 203 378
HWERREEBY Cash and cash equivalents 134 133
337 511
HEE Total assets 111,224 107,031
i Equity
ERBEE AELER Equity attributable to owners
of the Company
i Share capital 5,208 4,687
B = E Share premium 189,673 183,006
REEHE Accumulated losses (83,925) (81,109)
B Total equity 110,956 106,584
=R Liabilities
mEAE Current liabilities
FHiRER Accruals 268 341
EREEE Non-current liabilities
RERBEEE Long services payment liabilities - 106
HmaE Total liabilities 268 447
MR REE Total equity and liabilities 111,224 107,031

KRB ZMBRAREEFTEN T 1=
A+-HAZAETHATNIEEARETERE

Mr. Chang Chuan-Wang

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved by the
Board of Directors on 12 March 2025 and was signed on its behalf

RIGIEALE BREFaR Lt

Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan
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35 AT 2B RAR R #EE 35 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

= RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(continued)
ERBZEHEES Reserve movement of the Company
15 w8 05| et
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
FAET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
RE_=F—HF—H At 1 January 2023 183,006 (77,932) 105,074
KREEEEURIEE Total comprehensive income
for the year - (3,177) (3,177)
RNE2E_=F+"H=+—H At 31 December 2023 183,006 (81,109) 101,897
R_E_WFE—HF—H At 1 January 2024 183,006 (81,109) 101,897
AEEEEURIEEE Total comprehensive income
for the year - (2,816) (2,816)
BITHRMZERR Contribution from issue of new shares 6,667 - 6,667
R-E-_mE+=-A=+—A At 31 December 2024 189,673 (83,925) 105,748
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

=
£ RESULTS
HE+-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 December
TECTERE T ZBI-H “BTZHF ZE-_NE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
FAET FAET FET FET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$’000
WA Revenue 372,959 349,870 368,160 152,137 35,188
PRFTSMRAIEF) Profit before income tax 10,965 4,006 8,342 7,602 2,859
FTiEMEX Income tax expense (1,968) (1,774 (3,281) (987) (2,587)
KEEEH Profit for the year 8,997 2,232 5,061 6,615 272
AT ATRERFERR . Profit for the year attributable to:
S VNCIE 2= - Owners of the Company 8,997 2,232 5,061 5,891 44
—JEERER - Non-controlling interests - - - 724 228
8,997 2,232 5,061 6,615 272
BERAR ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
HE+-BA=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 December
“ECEg EZ-—f5 E"H EZ--fF IZENEF
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
FET FET FAET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
mEE Total assets 194,268 223,948 173,385 163,374 172,216
e Total liabilities (49,017) (77,942) (13,701) (6,654) (9,270)
145,251 146,006 159,684 156,720 162,946
AT ATEEZERKREE ©  Capital and reserves attributable to:
—EKREEBA - Owners of the Company 145,251 146,006 148,198 155,618 161,621
—JEERER - Non-controlling interests - - 11,486 1,102 1,325
145,251 146,006 159,684 156,720 162,946
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